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PART I  

   
The statements contained in this annual report on Form 10-K, including under the section titled "Management's Discussion and Analysis of 
Financial Condition and Results of Operations" and other sections of this annual report, include forward-looking statements within the meaning 
of Section 27A of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, and Section 21E of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, including, 
without limitation, statements regarding our or our management's expectations, hopes, beliefs, intentions or strategies regarding the future. The 
words "believe," "may," "will," "estimate," "continue," "anticipate," "intend," "expect," "plan" and similar expressions may identify forward-
looking statements, but the absence of these words does not mean that a statement is not forward-looking. The forward-looking statements 
contained in this annual report are based on our current expectations and beliefs concerning future developments and their potential effects on 
us. There can be no assurance that future developments affecting us will be those that we have anticipated. These forward-looking statements 
involve a number of risks, uncertainties (some of which are beyond our control) or other assumptions that may cause actual results or 
performance to be materially different from those expressed or implied by these forward-looking statements. These risks and uncertainties 
include, but are not limited to, those factors described in the section titled "Risk Factors." Should one or more of these risks or uncertainties 
materialize, or should any of our assumptions prove incorrect, actual results may vary in material respects from those projected in these 
forward-looking statements. We undertake no obligation to update or revise any forward-looking statements, whether as a result of new 
information, future events or otherwise, except as may be required under applicable securities laws.  
   
ITEM 1:    BUSINESS  
   
General  
   
Cyalume Technologies Holdings, Inc. (“we”, “our”, the “Company”) was organized as a blank check company under the laws of the State of 
Delaware on July 19, 2005. At that time we were named Vector Security Intersect Acquisition Corp. On December 19, 2008, we acquired 
Cyalume Technologies, Inc. (“CTI”) and changed our corporate name to our current name. CTI is a Delaware corporation formed on March 27, 
1997 with headquarters located in West Springfield, Massachusetts. At the date of the acquisition, CTI had one subsidiary, Cyalume 
Technologies, SAS (“CTSAS”), located in Aix-en-Provence, France. CTI and CTSAS primarily produce an assortment of chemical light and 
reflective products for the military but also for commercial markets to a much lesser extent.  
   
On August 31, 2011, through a wholly-owned subsidiary named Cyalume Specialty Products, Inc. (“CSP”), we acquired substantially all of the 
assets of JFC Technologies, LLC (“JFC”), a specialty chemical manufacturer. CSP was established as a Delaware corporation on June 15, 2011 
and is located in Bound Brook, New Jersey. CSP provides products to the pharmaceutical, military and other markets and has expertise in our 
chemical light business, for which it is making key chemicals.  
   
On December 22, 2011, CTI acquired all of the outstanding common stock of Combat Training Solutions, Inc. (“CTS”), a Colorado corporation 
established on April 7, 2005, originally located in Colorado Springs, Colorado, but since relocated to West Springfield. CTS manufactures 
battlefield effects simulator devices and provides tactical training to the military utilizing such products.  
   
Our securities are currently quoted on the Over-The-Counter Bulletin Board (symbol: CYLU).  
   
We maintain principal executive offices at 910 SE 17 th Street, Suite 300, Fort Lauderdale, Florida 33316. Our telephone number is (954) 315-
4939 . The various reports we file with the SEC, including annual reports on Form 10-K, proxy statements, quarterly reports on Form 10-Q, and 
current reports on Form 8-K are available on our website ( www.cyalume.com ) free of charge. Our website also contains the charters for the 
Audit, Nominating and Compensation Committees of the Board of Directors as well as our Code of Conduct and Ethics and our Insider Trading 
Policy. The documents are also available free of charge from our Corporate Secretary at our executive offices.  
   
Overall Approach  
   
Our primary focus is providing tactical and training solutions to the military of the United States, and other select countries, through both 
products and services. We manufacture chemical light, reflective and battlefield effects simulator products while our services include planning 
and implementing tactical training exercises simulating real-world experiences. We also sell products into the law enforcement, commercial, and 
other markets. In addition, we provide specialty chemical products to the defense, pharmaceutical, cosmetic and other markets. We employ the 
following strategies to seek to provide for long-term success.  

   

   

   

  

• Utilizing Patent Protection. We have and expect to continue to pursue patent protection of developed technology, and to aggressively 
defend against violations of our patents. 

• Making Environmentally Friendly and Safe to Use Products. Our products are designed to be effective, safe to use and friendly to the 
environment. Chemicals used in our chemical light products are non-toxic and phthalate free. 
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Products and Services  
   
We primarily provide products of four general types: those producing chemical light; those that have reflective qualities; those that simulate 
battlefield devices; and specialty chemicals.  
   

   

   

   

   

   
We do not sell products as novelties.  
   
We manufacture products in West Springfield, MA; Bound Brook, NJ; and Aix-en-Provence, France.  
   
Services we provide include training on the proper utilization of our simulator devices and providing live training exercises. In these exercises 
we hire and provide “battlefield actors”, people trained to act as insurgents or the indigenous population. The “actors” we hire and train may 
have lived in the country or speak the language of the country in which the training is simulated to take place, making the training as realistic as 
possible.  
   

  

• Increasing Product Diversification. We intend to continue to diversify into additional products and applications utilizing current 
technology and technology now under development. Product diversification allows us to present a more complete line of products that 
meet current and projected user needs, as well as reducing dependence on a relatively small number of products for financial and 
competitive success. 

• Continually Improving Products and Performance. We are committed to product improvement and rely on a dedicated in-house team 
of highly experienced engineers and chemists who are complemented on an as needed basis by third-party expertise. 

• Pursuing Strategic Partnering and Acquisitions. We actively seek partners who can help us advance our technologies or introduce 
products to the market, especially where established partners may help us attain faster market penetration. In addition, we are seeking 
additional businesses to acquire that will complement our existing products and further strengthen our ability to achieve profitable 
growth. 

• Products producing chemical light rely on a chemical reaction known as chemiluminescence. The base product is known as a ‘‘light 
stick’’ and is typically 6 inches in length. A light stick is a translucent flexible plastic tube that is partly filled with one chemical 
ingredient and also with a glass container (‘‘ampoule’’) that contains a complementary reactive chemical. When the tube is bent enough 
to break the glass ampoule, the chemicals contained within the plastic tube mix and light is generated. Chemiluminescent products 
come in varying shapes, sizes and functions and provide light in different colors, intensities and durations. These include: 

o Light sticks that come in lengths ranging from 1.5 inches to 15 inches, and having durations for specified light output that 
range from 5 minutes to 24 hours. Colors emitted include red, blue, white, yellow, green, orange and infrared. 

o Components to training and tactical ammunition that provide day/night marking and illumination capabilities. Day/night 
marking rounds increase the effectiveness of weapons training by providing a night-time training ability where, in many cases, 
one did not exist before. Chemical light munitions are preferable to traditional tracer or training rounds for two reasons. 
Traditional tracer or pyrotechnic training munitions contain fire-producing elements that can start range fires. Additionally, 
traditional tracer or pyrotechnic training munitions experience ‘‘duds’’, or unexploded rounds. These unexploded rounds 
present future safety hazards and must be found and defused. Chemical light training ammunition payloads cannot start range 
fires and do not represent future safety hazards from unexploded rounds, making their use not only more economical but safer 
for military personnel. 

• Reflective products include items such as patches that can reflect white light or infrared light and reflective safety belts. Products such 
as safety belts are worn by soldiers conducting physical training or night exercises. These belts both reflect direct light back and retain 
light energy for a short period of time so they continue to ‘ ‘glow’ ’  after the light source is removed. 

• Our battlefield effects simulator devices are designed to safely simulate the life threatening devices soldiers encounter on the battlefield. 
These include: pipe bombs, improvised explosive devices (“ IED”), landmines, hand grenades and suicide bomber vests. 

• Our specialty chemical products support a wide variety of applications in the pharmaceutical, cosmetic, defense and nutritional 
supplements industries. Products also include certain components used in the manufacture of our chemical light products. 
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Markets  

   

   
The chemical light market accounted for approximately 61% of total revenues in 2013 and 67% in 2012. We primarily sell chemiluminescent 
devices, primarily light sticks in varying colors, lengths and durations of light output, as well as flat chemiluminescent disks and reflective 
patches and belts. The primary users of these products and services are the U.S. Military and European militaries participating in the NSPA (the 
“NATO Support Agency”, f/k/a the NATO Maintenance and Supply Agency (“NAMSA”)).  
   
Critical events, risks and uncertainties regarding the military market include the continued use by the U.S. and NATO militaries, the ability to 
remain on the cutting edge of chemical light technology, the ability to generate additional uses of our products by additional militaries around 
the world, and managing costs to remain competitively priced. There are also uncertainties of future price increases customarily found in the 
renewal contracts which would affect revenues and results of operations.  

   

   
The ammunition market accounted for negligible revenues in 2013 and approximately 6% of total revenues in 2012. These revenues represent 
sales of chemiluminescent payloads and components that are incorporated into training ammunition.  
   
Critical events, risks and uncertainties regarding the ammunition market include the expansion and acceptance of the existing products to the 
United States military and other foreign militaries.  

   

The training & simulation markets represented approximately 7% of total revenues in both 2013 and 2012. We sell battlefield effects simulator 
devices and training services.  
   
The critical risks and uncertainties in the training & simulation market include the level of budgetary funds available for such products and 
training; maintaining a stable of products considered relevant to current real world experiences and competitors seeking to expand their markets.  

   

   
Through CSP, we provide specialty chemicals to a variety of customers including chemical, defense, cosmetic, nutritional supplement and 
pharmaceutical companies. For 2013 and 2012, these revenues represented approximately 32% and 21% of total revenues, respectively.  
   
Critical risks include our ability to continue to provide existing and new products at competitive prices while adding value to our customers that 
will help distinguish us from competitors.  
   
For additional risks refer to Item 1A, Risk Factors.  
   
Customers and Concentrations  

   

   

   
We indirectly supply the U.S. Department of Defense (“U.S. DOD”) through a contract with LCI, a manufacturer/distributor and a 
member of the National Industries for the Blind. LCI, in turn, has a direct contract with the U.S. DOD that operates under the 
program guidelines of “Ability One”, a federal program that creates jobs for the visually impaired and severely disabled. Under 
our contract with LCI, we sell components to LCI, which assembles and packages products and then sells/distributes them directly 
to the U.S. military. Each of the items sold by LCI to the U.S. military is classified by a National Stock Number (“NSN”).  
   

  

• Chemical Light 

• Ammunition 

• Training & Simulation 

• Specialty Products 

• Chemical Light: We depend significantly on long-term contracts with two key customers: LC Industries (“LCI”) and NSPA. 

• LC Industries 
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Our contract with LCI was entered into June 1, 2004 and had an initial term of five years, followed by three automatic five-year 
renewal terms unless the agreement is cancelled. This contract was renewed in 2009 for another five year period and we currently 
expect that the contract will renew again in 2014. The contract between LCI and the U.S. military is an IDIQ contract (indefinite 
demand, indefinite quantity) with fixed prices subject to annual renegotiation. Through our agreement with LCI, we share in any 
price increases received by LCI. Revenues through LCI accounted for approximately 23% of total revenues in 2013 and 28% in 
2012.  

   

   
We have a direct contract with NSPA, the administrative services arm serving the non-U.S. NATO countries. NSPA re-awarded 
the contract to us in November 2013. The base contract period is for three years and NSPA has the option to extend for another 
two years. The contract contains provisions for pricing escalations. Revenues through NSPA accounted for just under 10% of total 
revenues in 2013 and approximately 12% in 2011.  

   

   

   

   
Revenues to customers outside the United States represented approximately 32% and 28% of our total revenues for the years ended December 
31, 2013 and 2012, respectively.  
   
Sales and Marketing  
   
For the chemical light market, we sell primarily through distributors such as NSPA and LCI. We have found this to be an efficient and effective 
model. Accordingly, we utilize the abilities of distributors who have established key relations with end-users, rather than attempting to sell 
directly to consumers. The distributors take deliveries from us and then resell our products through their distribution networks to third-party 
customers, thereby expanding the market for our products at minimal cost to us. In the ammunition market, we generally sell directly to the 
prime contractor having the direct contract with the military. For our specialty products, we generally sell directly to the manufacturer who 
produces the final end-product.  
   
Competitive Strengths  
   
We believe we have many advantages as compared to our competition. For example, we:  

• Own more patents in the chemiluminescent light field than any competitor.  
   

   

   

   
Competition  
   
For chemical light products for the military, we believe that we have no direct major competitors and that our products are the only ones that 
currently meet official U.S. and NSPA military specifications. There are several Asian manufacturers, primarily producing novelty products, 
which attempt to sell their products directly as meeting military specifications. We are not aware of any competitor having submitted 
quantifiable data to the U.S. DOD or NSPA which demonstrates that the competitors’ products meet current military specifications. In these 
cases we rely on the appropriate U.S. and NSPA agency offices to inspect and reject such products as being non-compliant. We maintain an 
active program of monitoring such behavior and bringing any such actions to the attention of the appropriate agency personnel. Nonetheless, we 
expect competition in this market to continue to increase. In the recent tender process whereby NSPA awarded us another long-term contract, we 
became aware of an additional competitor seeking the award.  
   

  

• NSPA 

• Ammunition : No individual customer accounted for sales in either 2013 or 2012 that exceeded 10% of total revenues. 

• Training & Simulation : No individual customer accounted for sales in either 2013 or 2012 that exceeded 10% of total revenues. 

• Specialty Products: Sales are made to a variety of customers in the various markets served, none of which individually represented 
more than 10% of total revenues in either 2013 or 2012. 

• Have active research and development focused on improving existing technologies and developing new ones for which patent 
protection will be sought. 

• Have a wide assortment of products that help meet the needs of major customers. 

• Have high quality, high performance products, while many competitors rely on lower priced/lower quality products. 
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For the ammunition market, the development period for a new product before final testing and acceptance by the military can be many years. We 
anticipate that, as acceptance of chemical light applications grow in this market, additional competition will emerge as this market represents 
potentially large revenues. We are defending against this by continuing to invest in technology upgrades in order to attempt to stay ahead of any 
competitors. In addition, where appropriate, we file patents to protect newly developed technology. Also, we review all products submitted by 
any competitors in military contract bidding processes to determine whether they meet specifications.  
   
In the training & simulation market we compete with a number of firms. We focus on specific niches as a subcontractor to a prime contractor 
and focus on being flexible and responsive to the prime contractor’s needs.  
   
In markets where we compete with our specialty products, we focus on value-added applications utilizing our in-house research and 
development (“R&D”) expertise to work directly with the customer and generally seek to avoid applications representing pure commodity type 
sales.  
   
Employees  
   
As of December 31, 2013, we had 148 full-time employees and 42 on-call part-time employees for participating in training simulations as 
needed. We operate in local labor markets that provide an adequate supply of labor to compensate for any turnover. We are not party to any 
collective bargaining agreements, have not experienced any work stoppages and consider our relationship with employees to be sound.  
   
Employee Benefits  
   
For our U.S. employees, we offer wages and benefits that we consider to be competitive in the markets in which we operate. Benefits include 
medical, dental, life, and disability insurance coverage, paid vacations and holidays and an employee 401(k) savings plan. CTSAS offers its 
employees benefits consistent with French law and market conditions.  
   
Supply Chain  
   
We currently purchase key raw materials, primarily chemicals, plastics, glass and packaging materials from a limited number of suppliers. We 
generally have long-term relationships with these suppliers. In the event of a disruption in the supply of any of the key items, we have identified 
alternative sources of supply. A stock of raw materials is kept on hand to continue production in the event of an extended supply disruption, 
providing us time to find alternative suppliers. Raw materials are not considered to be a scarce commodity and we have not experienced supply 
disruptions in the past.  
   
The CTI West Springfield facility currently purchases most of its materials, including chemicals, plastics and glass, domestically, including a 
number of chemicals from CSP. The CTSAS Aix-en-Provence facility purchases most of its chemicals from our West Springfield facility after 
they have been modified for specific applications. CTSAS purchases its glass, plastics and most other materials from within the European 
community. CSP purchases its raw materials from both domestic and foreign sources.  
   
Research and Development  
   
We have active research and development groups with full- time chemists and engineers at both the West Springfield and Bound Brook facilities. 
Additionally, we utilize consultants as needed for specific projects. Our research and development group is focused on maintaining the high level 
of quality of existing products, developing improvements to existing products, and developing new technologies and products with viable 
commercial applications. We maintain an active program of soliciting feedback and ideas from end-users of products. We incurred research and 
development expense of approximately $1.9 million and $2.0 million during the years ended December 31, 2013 and 2012, respectively. 
Additionally, we incurred approximately $0.4 million in capitalized costs for filing patents in both 2013 and 2012.  
   
Intellectual Property  
   
We rely on the ability to develop patentable technology to help ensure the commercial success of products and technology. Once patents are 
issued, we follow an active program of monitoring competitors’ products to attempt to ensure that our intellectual property rights are not 
violated. We currently hold and maintain more than 50 active and pending U.S. patents. Many of these patents are also registered in various 
foreign countries. These patents include phthalate free formulations, formulas for creating a more consistent light for longer periods, a bio-
degradable light stick, flat disks employing a translucent aluminum pouch instead of an ampoule, and various battlefield effects simulators. We 
expect to file for additional patents during 2014 and thereafter. Patents typically have a 20-year life from date of filing. We had no key patents 
expire in 2013 and no key patents are scheduled to expire in 2014. We do not anticipate any near-term decline in sales as a result of any expiring 
or expired patents.   
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Government Regulations  
   
We are subject to the jurisdiction of the State Department of the United States under the International Traffic in Arms Regulations (“ITAR”). 
Specifically, chemical light infrared products, which are exported from the West Springfield facility, are subject to these regulations. We must 
periodically re-register with the State Department for exporting purposes and last did so in June 2013. The renewal that was granted expires June 
30, 2014 and is subject to renewal again at that time. We are in good standing with the State Department and the ITAR.  
   
In addition, we also maintain appropriate licenses with the Food & Drug Administration (“FDA”), the Drug Enforcement Agency (“DEA”) and, 
the Bureau of Alcohol, Tobacco, Firearms and Explosives (“ATF”). All such licenses are current and are expected to be renewed at the 
appropriate time.  
   
Environmental  
   
We believe that we are in material compliance with all local, state and national environmental regulations under which we are subject to 
regulation and that all appropriate permits are in place. The cost of compliance with environmental regulations has been and is expected to 
continue to be negligible.  
   
Backlog  
   
A significant portion of our revenue is generated under indefinite quantity, fixed-price contracts or arrangements whereby we fulfill orders as 
they are placed by customers. Once orders are received they are typically fulfilled within three months. As of December 31, 2013 we had total 
open sales and purchase orders for products that approximated $3.4 million, versus $3.2 million at December 31, 2012.  
   
Segments  
   
We have one segment for financial reporting purposes under accounting principles generally accepted in the United States.  
   
ITEM 1A.    Risk Factors  
   
We rely on the U.S. and a limited number of foreign governments for the majority of our revenues. Budget constraints of the U.S. or foreign 
governments could further reduce revenue or limit revenue growth.  
   
Sales for which federal or foreign governments and militaries thereof are the ultimate customer accounted for more than 50% of our business in 
2013 and 65% in 2012. Effective March 1, 2013, the President of the U.S. enacted the budget process known as Sequestration. Later in the year 
the U.S. government shut down over budget issues. Even though temporary budget resolutions are being passed by Congress, defense budget 
spending level discussions are continuing to take place in the U.S. as well as other countries where we provide products to the military. The 
overall effect on our business and the timing of any effect is highly uncertain. Budget reductions, reallocations of existing budgets, or spending 
constraints affecting military spending could cause significant delays or reductions in the number and value of orders for products, which could 
reduce revenues.  
   
Due to our current level of dependency on the U.S. and NATO country defense agencies for revenues, the loss of business with either would 
significantly adversely impact us at this time.  
   
A large portion of our revenue is derived from a small number of customers.  
   
A large percentage of our revenue is typically derived from a small number of customers, and we expect this trend to continue.  For our fiscal 
year ended December 31, 2013, two customers accounted for approximately 30% of our revenue. We cannot be certain that customers that have 
accounted for significant revenue in past periods will continue to purchase our products at the same levels, or at all. Accordingly, our revenue 
and results of operations may vary substantially from period to period. We are also subject to credit risk associated with the concentration of our 
accounts receivable from our customers. If one or more of our significant customers were to terminate or fail to renew its contract with us, to 
otherwise cease doing business with us, to significantly reduce or delay its purchases from us or to fail to pay us on a timely basis, our business, 
financial condition and results of operations could be materially adversely affected.  
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Failure to obtain and/or maintain required licenses could reduce revenue.  
   
A portion of our business depends upon obtaining and maintaining various licenses required, including with the State Department, the FDA, the 
DEA and the ATF. Failure to obtain or maintain required licenses could result in the termination of certain products being sold.  
   
We operate under fixed price contracts with limited annual price escalation features and failure to control costs may reduce profitability.  
   
Much of our revenues result from fixed price contracts. Unanticipated increases in the cost of raw materials, labor and overhead could result in 
less profitability on such contracts. Some raw materials are affected by the prices of other commodities that are not under our control. These 
include certain chemicals and plastics whose costs are a function of oil prices.  
   
Some of our contracts include provisions for annual price escalations, based on benchmarks such as the consumer price index or the producers’
price index. Annual escalations received may or may not correlate to the price changes in the materials and services that we purchase.  
   
If we are unable to design, manufacture, and market product offerings in a timely and efficient manner, we may not remain competitive, or 
growth in revenues could be less than otherwise.  
   
Some of our markets are characterized by continuing technological advancement, changes in customer requirements, and evolving product 
standards. Accordingly, we devote a substantial amount of resources to product development. To compete successfully, we must develop and 
market new products that provide increasingly higher levels of performance and reliability. Product development is highly uncertain and we 
cannot guarantee that we will successfully develop new products. Our inability to develop and market these products or to achieve customer 
acceptance of these products could limit our ability to compete in the market or to grow revenues at satisfactory rates of growth.  
   
In addition, we offer a wide variety of products. If the design, manufacturing or marketing of a product, or products, is not successful and we 
must allocate more resources to ensure the products’ success, it could lower the profitability of the product, or products, or affect customer 
perceptions as to the quality of the products and services being offered.  
   
We purchase the majority of raw materials from a limited number of vendors. A disruption in supply may cause delays in manufacturing.  
   
The majority of chemicals, plastics, glass and packaging materials are purchased from a limited number of vendors. Although we have not, we 
could experience a disruption in supply from any of these vendors that could affect our ability to manufacture finished goods for sale on a timely 
basis. We attempt to maintain a safety margin of inventory of these raw materials to rely on in the event of a possible disruption and we have 
identified other vendors from which we believe that we could purchase these items in the event of a disruption from existing vendors. However, 
safety stock may not be adequate in the event of an extended disruption, and these items may not be available to us from other vendors on 
favorable terms, or at all.  
   
Changes in foreign currency exchange rates could affect financial results.  
   
CTI and CTSAS manufacture products in and sell products from the U.S. and France, respectively. Products sold by CTI are priced in U.S. 
dollars and most raw material components are purchased in U.S. dollars. Products sold by CTSAS are priced predominantly in euros and most of 
CTSAS’ raw material purchases from third parties are priced in euros. Significant changes in foreign exchange rates will affect reported financial 
results. For products manufactured by CTI for CTSAS, CTI enters into short-term financial hedges (less than six months in duration) against 
currency risk relating to the billing and collection of revenues from CTI’s sales to CTSAS. We had no currency forward contracts in place at 
December 31, 2013.  
   
We are subject to various government regulations that could cause delays in the delivery of new products and may subject us to audits or 
other similar review processes.  
   
As a supplier to agencies of various federal, state, local, and foreign governments, we are obligated to comply with a variety of regulations 
governing operations and the workplace. Unforeseen problems may impact our ability to bring new products to market on a timely basis, secure 
new contracts or require us to make potentially costly changes to operations which could reduce profitability in order to obtain contracts. 
Furthermore, some new products will be developed in conjunction with the U.S. Military or the militaries of other nations, which largely dictate 
the timing of the product development process and over which we have limited control.  
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Inability to effectively integrate future acquisitions could reduce profitability.  
   
During 2011, we acquired two businesses. We plan to make additional acquisitions in future years, which will require that we effectively and 
efficiently integrate operations, systems and personnel from those businesses. This process requires, among other things, that we continually 
evaluate operational and financial systems and controls and enhance those systems and controls as necessary. If we are unable to successfully 
integrate these acquisitions, it could reduce profitability and detract from future growth opportunities.  
   
We are reliant upon key personnel and the loss of these key personnel could result in the deterioration or loss of relationships with certain 
customers or suppliers, which could result in a loss of business.  
   
We depend on the expertise, experience and continued services of senior management and other key employees. Our operations and most 
decisions concerning the business will be made or significantly influenced by these individuals. The loss of members of senior management or 
other key employees could result in the deterioration or loss of relationships with certain customers or suppliers, which could result in a loss of 
business.  
   
Revenue, operating results and profitability will fluctuate, which may lead to volatility in the market price of our common stock.  
   
Revenue, operating results and profitability have fluctuated both on an annual and quarterly basis and, will likely continue to fluctuate. Changes 
in the mix of products sold and the timing of sales to customers contribute to the possible material variability of revenue, operating results and 
profitability. Such volatility may not meet the expectations of management, securities analysts or investors, which in turn may contribute to 
significant fluctuations in the market price of our common stock.  
   
Revenue, operating results and profitability may be reduced by any major redeployment of troops.  
   
Many of our military chemiluminescent and reflective products are used both for training and live theater purposes. The U.S. military has been 
decreasing the number of American military personnel in Afghanistan. Any major troop realignments, if significant enough in number, are likely 
to result in a temporary reduction in overall product consumption until troops are redeployed for training or another live theater application.  
   
We operate in increasingly competitive market segments, which may make it more difficult to successfully bid on future contracts.  
   
We expect competition to increase in the future. We also expect that some existing competitors, or potential competitors, will feel increasing 
pressure to underbid government and commercial projects, in order to deploy their workforces and maintain or step up their activity levels. In 
addition, government or commercial entities may be compelled to purchasing lower-priced, lower-quality competitor goods due to fiscal 
constraints. This may make it more difficult to prevail on competitive bids for contracts to the degree we have historically enjoyed, to increase 
revenue and profitability.  
   
Most new contracts or contract renewals will likely be subject to competitive bidding, which adds difficulty to accurately predicting the timing 
of sales and the allocation of resources.  
   
Most governmental agencies and many commercial customers require that their significant contracts be competitively bid. Typically they utilize 
the ‘‘Request for Proposal’’ (“RFP”) method where several competitors submit their sealed proposals for a particular project, or the ‘‘Request 
for Qualifications’’ (“RFQ”) process where competitors submit their qualifications for consideration by the customer. Some contracts open for 
bidding utilize the standard ‘‘Straight Bid’’ process where the detailed specifications for products are published and lenders submit a ‘‘Bid’’ or 
fixed price, for the contract. Other competitive bidding processes are also utilized. Our success in responding to an RFP, RFQ, Straight Bid, or 
other competitive bidding process is dependent upon the quality of our estimating process, knowledge of the industry, knowledge of our 
customers and other factors requiring significant judgment and expertise. Because of the nature of the bidding process, we cannot know if we 
will be successful on any given bid, which adds difficulty to accurately predicting the timing of sales and the allocation of resources.  
   
Our ability to win new contracts and contract renewals depends on factors outside our control, which could limit revenue and profitability 
growth.  
   
Our revenue and profitability growth is generally dependent upon the ability to win new contracts and renewals of existing contracts. This 
depends on a number of factors we cannot control, including substitution of our products with products based on an alternative technology.  
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Governmental agencies may investigate and audit our contracts or physical facilities in conjunction with our various licenses and, if any 
improprieties are found, we may be required to refund revenues, forego anticipated revenues and/or may be subject to penalties and 
sanctions, including prohibitions on bidding in competitive bidding processes.  
   
Governmental agencies generally have the authority to audit and investigate our contracts or licenses with them. As part of that process, some 
governmental agencies may review our performance on the contract, pricing practices, change orders, and compliance with the terms of the 
contracts and licenses, and applicable laws, regulations and standards. If the agency determines that we have improperly billed the governmental 
entity, we could be required to refund revenues, or forego anticipated revenues. If a government audit uncovers improper or illegal activities, or 
otherwise determines that these activities have occurred, we may be subject to civil and criminal penalties and administrative sanctions, 
including termination of contracts, forfeitures of profits, suspension of payments, fines and suspension or disqualification from doing business 
with the government.  
   
If we fail to satisfy contractual obligations, our ability to compete for future contracts could be limited.  
   
Failure to comply with contract requirements or to meet customer’s performance expectations when fulfilling a contract could injure our 
reputation, which, in turn, could impact our ability to compete for new contracts. Failure to meet contractual obligations could also result in 
substantial lost revenues.  
   
We may be unsuccessful in resolving pending litigation relating to contractual disputes with Omniglow, LLC, which could result in having to 
pay damages to Omniglow, LLC. Omniglow, LLC purchased the novelty business of CTI’s predecessor on January 23, 2006.  
   
CTI is still in the process of resolving pending litigation relating to several contractual disputes arising from the separation of our businesses 
from Omniglow, LLC (Civil Action 06-706). If CTI is not successful in settling the litigation and if CTI does not prevail on the merits of the 
case, then the current judgment against CTI would be upheld, which could require it to pay damages to Omniglow, LLC. Based on court findings 
issued to-date, and assuming a significantly adverse final outcome, we have accrued a liability on the balance sheet as of December 31, 2013 of 
approximately $4.0 million. We have appealed the lower court decision and expect the damages to be significantly reduced by the Appellate 
Court; however, no assurances can be given that this will occur.  
   
Our business has substantial indebtedness.  
   
We currently have, and will likely continue to have, a substantial amount of indebtedness. Our indebtedness could, among other things, require 
us to use a large portion of our cash flow from operations to repay and service our debt or otherwise create liquidity problems, limit our 
flexibility to adjust to market conditions, place us at a competitive disadvantage and expose us to interest rate fluctuations. As of December 31, 
2013, we had total debt outstanding of approximately $20.6 million. We expect to obtain the money to pay our expenses and pay the principal 
and interest on our indebtedness from cash flow from our operations and potentially from other debt or equity offerings. Accordingly, our ability 
to meet our obligations depends on our future performance and capital raising activities, which will be affected by financial, business, economic 
and other factors, many of which are beyond our control. If our cash flow and capital resources prove inadequate to allow us to pay the principal 
and interest on our debt and meet our other obligations, we could face substantial liquidity problems and might be required to dispose of material 
assets or operations, restructure or refinance our debt, which we may be unable to do on acceptable terms, and forgo attractive business 
opportunities. In addition, the terms of our existing or future debt agreements may restrict us from pursuing any of these alternatives.  
   
If we fail to meet financial covenants with our lenders, they would be able to declare an event of default.  
   
If we were unable to meet the financial covenants specified in loan documents, our lenders would be able to declare an event of default. If an 
event of default were declared, all debts to the lender could become due and payable immediately, which could result in ceasing operations 
unless new arrangements were made. While management would negotiate and seek to obtain appropriate waivers or other amendments to cure 
any such default, there is no assurance management would be successful. In addition, our senior indebtedness is secured by a lien on 
substantially all of our assets and of our subsidiaries. If the amounts outstanding under our senior debt were accelerated due to an event of 
default, the lender could proceed against such available collateral by forcing the sale of all or some of these assets.  
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We require a significant amount of liquidity to fund our operations, capital expenditures, potential acquisitions and other corporate 
expenditures.  
   
Our ability to fund operations, capital expenditures, acquisitions and other corporate expenditures, including repayment of our indebtedness, 
depends on our ability to generate cash through future operating performance, which is subject to economic, financial, competitive, legislative, 
regulatory and other factors. Many of these factors are beyond our control. We cannot ensure that our businesses will generate sufficient cash 
flow from operations or that future borrowings or other financing will be available to us in an amount sufficient to pay our indebtedness or to 
fund our other needs.  
   
If we are unable to generate sufficient cash flow to fund our needs, we may need to pursue one or more alternatives, such as to:  
   

   
Any such actions may materially and adversely affect our future revenue prospects. In addition, we cannot ensure that we will be able to raise 
additional equity capital, restructure or refinance any of our indebtedness or obtain additional financing on commercially reasonable terms or at 
all.  
   
Because we do not intend to pay dividends on common stock, stockholders will benefit from an investment in our common stock only if it 
appreciates in value.  
   
We have never declared or paid any cash dividends on common stock. We currently intend to retain all future earnings, if any, for use in the 
operations and expansion of the business. As a result, we do not anticipate paying cash dividends in the foreseeable future. Any future 
determination as to the declaration and payment of cash dividends will be at the discretion of our Board of Directors and will depend on factors 
our Board of Directors deems relevant, including among others, results of operations, financial condition and cash requirements, business 
prospects, and the terms of credit facilities and other financing arrangements. The debt financing arrangements put into place in connection with 
the acquisition of CTI prohibit CTI from providing us with funds to pay a dividend. Accordingly, realization of a gain on stockholders’
investments will depend on the appreciation of the price of our common stock. There is no guarantee that our common stock will appreciate in 
value.  
   
Our securities are quoted on the Over-the-Counter Bulletin Board, which may limit the liquidity and price of our securities more than if the 
securities were quoted or listed on the NASDAQ or the AMEX markets.  
   
Our securities are quoted on the Over-the-Counter Bulletin Board, a NASD-sponsored and operated inter-dealer automated quotation system. 
Quotation of our securities on the Over-the-Counter Bulletin Board will limit the liquidity and price of securities more than if the securities were 
quoted or listed on NASDAQ or AMEX  
   
We currently have a small number of beneficial holders, which we believe contributes significantly to limited trading and to limiting the liquidity 
and price of securities. Furthermore, we believe this contributes to unexpected price volatility.  
   
The issuance of shares upon the conversion of our outstanding Series A preferred stock or the exercise of our outstanding options or 
warrants may cause immediate and substantial dilution to our existing stockholders.  

   
In our November 2013 financing, we issued 123,077 shares of Series A preferred stock outstanding that may be converted into approximately 
6.1 million shares of common stock, warrants that may be exercised for approximately 6.1 million shares of common stock, and warrants that 
may be exercised for 123,077 shares of Series A preferred stock (which in turn would be convertible into approximately 6.1 million shares of 
common stock). We also have additional options, warrants and convertible debt outstanding (including certain indebtedness that is convertible in 
part into additional shares of Series A preferred stock and warrants). The issuance of shares upon conversion of the Series A preferred stock or 
outstanding indebtedness and exercise of warrants and options may result in substantial dilution to the interests of other stockholders. 
Furthermore, the Series A preferred stock and common stock warrants issued in our November 2013 financing contain anti-dilution provisions, 
including, for a period of three years following the closing of the financing, “full-ratchet” provisions require the lowering of the conversion price 
or exercise price, as applicable, to the purchase price of future offerings. If in the future we issue securities for less than the conversion or 
exercise price of our Series A preferred stock or those warrants, respectively, we will be required to further reduce the relevant conversion or 
exercise prices, and the number of shares underlying the Series A preferred stock and/or warrants will be increased.  We may find it more 
difficult to raise additional equity capital while our Series A preferred stock and our warrants are outstanding.  
   

  

• reduce or delay planned capital expenditures or investments in our business; 
• seek additional financing or restructure or refinance all or a portion of our indebtedness at or before maturity; 
• sell assets or businesses; 
• sell additional equity; or 
• curtail our operations. 
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The holders of our Series A preferred stock are entitled to receive dividends.  
   
The holders of the Series A preferred stock are entitled to receive cumulative quarterly dividends at a rate of 12% per annum on the liquidation 
value of our Series A preferred stock, payable in cash or, subject to the satisfaction of certain conditions, in paid-in-kind shares. To the extent not 
paid in cash or by issuance of additional shares of Series A preferred stock on the last day of each calendar quarter, all accrued dividends on any 
outstanding shares of Series A preferred stock shall accumulate and compound. As a result of the payment of dividends, we may be obligated to 
pay significant sums of money or issue significantly more shares of common stock than our Series A preferred stock would otherwise be 
convertible into, which could negatively affect our operations or result in the dilution of the holders of our common stock, respectively.  
   
Our Series A preferred stock has a liquidation preference and redemption requirements that may affect common stock holders.  
   
In the event of our dissolution, liquidation, sale or change of control, the holders of our Series A preferred stock would be entitled to receive a 
liquidation preference in priority over the holders of common stock.  Therefore, it is possible that holders of common stock will not obtain any 
proceeds if any such event occurs. In addition, beginning on the fifth anniversary of the closing of the Series A preferred stock financing, the 
requisite holders of the Series A preferred stock will have the right to elect to cause us to redeem, out of funds legally available therefore, all but 
not less than all of the then outstanding shares of Series A preferred stock, for a price per share equal to the liquidation value for such shares.    
   
The interests of our significant stockholders may not coincide with yours and such stockholders may make decisions with which you may 
disagree.  

   
As of December 31, 2013, Cova Small Cap Holdings, LLC (“Cova”) and US VC Partners, L.P., the initial purchaser of the Series A preferred 
stock (the “Investor”), beneficially owned approximately 21% and 37%, respectively, of our outstanding common stock. The Investor has a 
number of officers in common with Cova. As a result, these stockholders have substantial influence over all matters requiring stockholder 
approval, including the election of directors and approval of significant corporate transactions. In addition, this concentration of ownership may 
delay or prevent a change in control of our company and make some future transactions more difficult or impossible without the support of these 
stockholders. The interests of these stockholders may not coincide with our interests or the interests of other stockholders.  
   
We have experienced recurring operating losses and our liquidity has been reduced.  
   
For the year ended December 31, 2013, we had a net loss of approximately $15.7 million and we used approximately $2.6 million of cash in 
operations. As of December 31, 2013, we had an accumulated deficit of approximately $95.9 million and total stockholders’ equity of $6.5 
million. Our unrestricted cash balance was approximately $0.9 million at December 31, 2013.  
   
Due to uncertainty about the Company’s ability to meet its current operating expenses and current obligations, in their report on our annual 
financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2013, the Company’s independent registered public accounting firm included an 
explanatory paragraph regarding the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern.  
   
We may not be able to raise additional financial support, and/or the terms of any financings may not be advantageous to us.  
   
In light of our results of operations, management has been evaluating various possibilities including but not limited to refinancing or 
restructuring the Company’s debt, reducing or eliminating operating expenses, and raising additional capital through the issuance of common or 
preferred stock or securities convertible into common stock. These possibilities, to the extent available, may be on terms that result in significant 
dilution to our existing stockholders, may reduce the value of the stockholders’ investment in the Company or may impact our stock price.  
   
There can be no assurances that we will be successful in raising adequate additional financial support. If not, we will be required to reduce 
operations. Our consolidated financial statements do not include any adjustments relating to the recoverability of assets and classification of 
assets and liabilities that might be necessary should the Company be unable to continue as a going concern.   
   
ITEM 1B.    UNRESOLVED STAFF COMMENTS  
   
None.  
   
ITEM 2.    PROPERTIES  
   
We own the West Springfield, Massachusetts facility which houses corporate functions, research and development and manufacturing for CTI 
and CTS products. The facility is located on ten acres of land in an industrial area and has 200,000 square feet of office, manufacturing and 
warehousing space. There is adequate space available in the facility to accommodate an increase in operations and staffing. There are no known 
matters of ground contamination or air quality discharges that exceed acceptable limits. The facility is older and contains asbestos, which is 
consistent with buildings of its era, but there is no known damaged asbestos requiring remediation. The facility is subject to inspections by 
various environmental agencies from time to time and no significant violations of any environmental standards have been noted during the 
period of ownership by the current owners. Environmental violations are not believed to represent a material risk. The facility is subject to a 
mortgage.  
   
The facility in Aix-en-Provence, France is also owned by us and houses all foreign operations. The facility has 10,000 square feet of office and 
manufacturing space sitting on two acres and is in good condition. There are no known environmental violations pertaining to the facility and 

  



environmental violations are not believed to represent a material risk.  
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We lease several buildings in Bound Brook, New Jersey, where administrative, manufacturing and research and development activities are 
housed for CSP. The lease is a market-based lease, for approximately 50,000 square feet of production and office space that was entered into 
with the acquisition of the assets of JFC Technologies, effective August 31, 2011. The lease ends on August 31, 2016, with extension options 
available, and requires current lease payments of approximately $30,000 per month from September 1, 2013 through August 31, 2014; thereafter 
the monthly lease payments will be adjusted to reflect the changes of average cost per square foot as reported by Newmark Knight and Frank in 
their 2nd Quarter New Jersey Industrial Market Report, Average Asking Rate for Somerset County.  
   
Effective March 5, 2013, we entered into a five-year lease for approximately 8,500 square feet of office space in Fort Lauderdale, Florida to 
house certain executive, sales and administrative personnel. Monthly lease payments are approximately $17,000 and subject to annual escalation. 
   
ITEM 3.    LEGAL PROCEEDINGS  
   
Civil Action No. 06-706 in Superior Court of the Commonwealth of Massachusetts  
   
On January 23, 2006, before we owned CTI, the former owners of CTI (from whom we purchased CTI) (the “Former Owners”) acquired all of 
the outstanding capital stock of Omniglow Corporation (the “Transaction”) and changed the name of the company to Cyalume Technologies, 
Inc. Prior to, or substantially simultaneously with, the Transaction, CTI sold certain assets and liabilities related to Omniglow Corporation’s 
novelty and retail business to certain former Omniglow Corporation stockholders and management (the “Omniglow Buyers”). This was done 
because CTI sought to retain only the Omniglow Corporation assets and current liabilities associated with its government, military and safety 
business. During 2006, CTI and the Omniglow Buyers commenced litigation and arbitration proceedings against one another. Claims include 
breaches of a lease and breaches of various other agreements between CTI and the Omniglow Buyers. These proceedings are known as Civil 
Action No. 06-706 in Superior Court of the Commonwealth of Massachusetts (the “Court”).  
   
On July 18, 2011, CTI received an Order for Entry of Final Judgment in Civil Action No. 06-706 in which the Court awarded approximately 
$2.6 million in damages to Omniglow, LLC. Prejudgment interest at the rate of 12% per annum since the filing of the complaint in 2006 is 
accruing on approximately $1.3 million of the damages. The Court also awarded Omniglow, LLC reimbursement of attorney fees and costs of 
approximately $235,000, on which interest at the rate of 12% per annum is accruing beginning with the date of the final ruling.  
   
On July 12, 2012, the Court issued an Amended Final Judgment and, on September 20, 2012, a Final Judgment. There were no changes to the 
previously described damage awards. In response, on October 17, 2012, we filed our Notice of Appeal, which was docketed in the Court. On 
February 15, 2013, the Appellate Court clerk docketed the appeal. Our appeal contained a number of bases for overturning the awards. During 
January 2014, oral arguments were presented by the parties before the Appellate Court. The Company cannot determine when a decision will be 
rendered.  
   
Although we have appealed the final judgment and believe that the damages will be reduced, there is no assurance that they will be reduced. 
Accordingly, we have recorded a contingent legal obligation in the full amount of the final ruling (approximately $4.0 million) on our 
consolidated balance sheet as of December 31, 2013. We hold 625,139 shares of common stock in escrow, provided by a shareholder and 
affiliate, to be applied against any damages up to the value of the shares upon conversion to cash.  
   
Demand for Arbitration by Former Employee  
   
On December 22, 2011, CTI entered into a Stock Purchase Agreement (“SPA”) with Combat Training Solutions, Inc. (“CTS”) and Antonio 
Colon, the sole stockholder of CTS. Pursuant to the SPA, CTI purchased all of the issued and outstanding capital stock of CTS in return for 
consideration that included contingent consideration ranging from $0 to $5.75 million, which is based on CTS’ financial performance during the 
period of January 1, 2012 through December 31, 2013.  

   
On June 15, 2012, we received a copy of a demand for arbitration filed by Mr. Colon with the American Arbitration Association. The demand 
alleges, among other things, that CTI had constructively terminated Mr. Colon’s employment without cause and that Cyalume and CTI had 
breached certain provisions of the SPA. Mr. Colon seeks, among other things, payment of the maximum potential contingent consideration 
amount of $5.75 million, payment of salary, wages, bonuses and benefits pursuant to Mr. Colon’s employment agreement with CTI, and 
reimbursement of his attorneys’ fees and costs related to this matter.  
   
The parties commenced arbitration hearings during 2013. Prior to a decision being rendered, the parties agreed to settle the matter. On November 
19, 2013, a settlement agreement was entered into whereby the Company agreed to: return the land to Mr. Colon that had been acquired in the 
acquisition of CTS; pay $275,000 to Mr. Colon on the settlement date; and, pay Mr. Colon $215,000 per year for five years documented by a 
note bearing interest of two percent.  
   
ITEM 4: MINE SAFETY DISCLOSURES  
   
Not applicable.  
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PART II  

   
ITEM 5:    MARKET FOR REGISTRANT'S COMMON EQUITY, R ELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS AND ISSUER 
PURCHASES OF EQUITY SECURITIES  
   
Market Information  
   
Our common stock and units are quoted on the Over-the-Counter Bulletin Board under the symbols ‘‘CYLU’’ and ‘‘CYLUU,’’ respectively. 
Our common stock purchase warrants were quoted on the Over-the-Counter Bulletin Board until April 2012. The following table sets forth the 
high and low sales information for our common stock, common stock purchase warrants and units for each of the calendar quarters indicated. 
The Over-the-Counter Bulletin Board quotations reflect inter-dealer prices, are without retail markup, markdowns or commissions, and may not 
represent actual transactions.  
   

   

   
Holders of Common Stock  
   
As of March 17, 2014, there were of record 168 holders of common stock and one holder of units. Our public warrants expired on April 25, 
2012.  
   
Dividends  
   
We have never declared or paid cash dividends on common stock and do not anticipate declaring or paying cash dividends on common stock in 
the foreseeable future. Payments of future dividends on common stock, if any, will be at the discretion of our Board of Directors after taking into 
account various factors, including financial condition, operating results, current and anticipated cash needs, plans for expansion and other factors 
that our Board of Directors may deem relevant. The senior debt financing agreement put into place in connection with the acquisition of CTI, as 
well the subordinated debt agreement with Granite Creek Partners Agent, LLC prohibit CTI from providing us with funds to pay a dividend.  
   
Performance Graph  
   
As a smaller reporting company, we are not required to provide information typically disclosed under this item.  
   
Recent Sales of Unregistered Securities  
   
Other than as previously disclosed in a Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q or Current Report on Form 8-K, none.  
   
Purchases of Equity Securities by the Company and Affiliated Purchasers  
   
We did not purchase any equity securities during the fourth quarter of 2013, and we have no publicly announced plans or programs to do so.  
   
ITEM 6:    SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA  
   
As a smaller reporting company, we are not required to provide information typically disclosed under this item.  
   

  

    Common Stock     Warrants     Units   
    High     Low     High     Low     High     Low   

                                      
First quarter 2012   $ 3.85     $ 3.20     $ 0.05     $ 0.015     $ 15.00     $ 3.50   
Second quarter 2012   $ 3.50     $ 0.8     $ 0.015     $ 0.015     $ 3.50     $ 3.50   
Third quarter 2012   $ 2.50     $ 1.17     $   (a)   $ (a)   $ 3.50     $ 3.50   
Fourth quarter 2012   $ 3.05     $ 0.50     $ (a)   $ (a)   $ 3.50     $ 3.50   
First quarter 2013   $ 2.70     $ 1.43     $ (a)   $ (a)   $ 3.50     $ 3.50   
Second quarter 2013   $ 2.20     $ 1.57     $ (a)   $ (a)   $ 3.50     $ 3.50   
Third quarter 2013   $ 1.85     $ 0.80     $ (a)   $ (a)   $ 3.50     $ 3.50   
Fourth quarter 2013   $ 0.90     $ 0.40     $ (a)   $ (a)   $ 3.50     $ 3.50   

(a) These warrants expired in April 2012 and therefore ceased trading during the second quarter of 2012. 
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ITEM 7:    MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS  
   
Overview  
   
In the following discussion, references to “Cyalume”, “we”, “our”, or the “Company” mean Cyalume Technologies Holdings, Inc. and its 
subsidiaries on a consolidated basis. CTI means Cyalume Technologies, Inc. including its wholly-owned subsidiary Cyalume Technologies, 
S.A.S. (“CTSAS”), CSP means Cyalume Specialty Products, Inc. and CTS means Combat Training Solutions, Inc. Amounts discussed are 
generally approximations. During 2011, we acquired two businesses (CTS and JFC Technologies through CSP) that are complementary with our 
business and growth plans. We are actively searching for additional acquisitions that would complement our existing business.  
   
We are a global, technology-based manufacturer primarily providing tactical and training solutions to the military of the U.S. and other select 
countries, through both products and services. We manufacture chemical light, reflective and battlefield effects simulator products while our 
services include planning and implementing tactical training exercises simulating real world experiences. We also sell products into the law 
enforcement, commercial/public safety, and other markets. In addition, through CSP, we provide specialty chemical products to the 
pharmaceutical, defense and other industries.  
   
The majority of revenues are derived from sales for the ultimate use by the U.S. Military and various other militaries around the globe. For 2013, 
there was one direct customer with revenues greater than 10% of our total revenues: LC Industries, which accounted for approximately 23% of 
total revenues. In the military markets, we have longer-term, fixed-price, indefinite-quantity contracts lasting three to five years. They generally 
provide higher margins because the products are more technologically advanced, versus some of the commercial markets, where advanced 
technology/performance is generally not as important and therefore competition is greater, resulting in lower margins. See Item 1: Business for 
greater detail.  
   
Our business is managed and financial results are reported as one segment. Our CEO, who is our chief operating decision maker, focuses on 
consolidated results to make strategic and tactical decisions. There are several reasons for this. The majority of our products are similar in each 
market and based on the same technologies. Thus management pays attention to individual products as well as individual customers and 
contracts in terms of pricing and costing. For our largest selling product line, the 6-inch light stick (in its various permutations of color and 
duration), the manufacturing processes are similar and both our U.S. and European plants make these products. Therefore, the 6-inch light sticks 
can be and are made at both plants and can be produced and shipped from one plant to the other to help meet peak periods of demand. In 
addition, important functions such as marketing and R&D manage their activities and allocate their resources from a strategic viewpoint and 
generally not on the basis of where a product is made or to whom it might be sold. Overall financial performance is evaluated based on the 
following consolidated items: revenues; gross profit and gross margin; selling/research and development/administrative expenses; and cash flow. 
Consolidated EBITDA (earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation and amortization) is used as a performance measure of operational cash 
flows. Consolidated EBITDA is also the key financial performance component for our lenders’ covenant compliance. Product performance is 
evaluated based on unit cost of production and number of units produced and sold across all markets. All of these measures are evaluated against 
results for prior periods and against budgets.  
   
Critical Accounting Policies  

   
Use of Estimates  
   
The preparation of financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America requires us 
to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities, the disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at 
the date of the consolidated financial statements and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting periods. Estimates are 
used when accounting for certain items such as reserves for inventory, accounts receivable and deferred tax assets; assessing the carrying value 
of intangible assets including goodwill; determining the useful lives of property, plant and equipment and intangible assets; determining asset 
retirement obligations; and determining the fair value of contingent consideration. Estimates are based on historical experience, where 
applicable, and assumptions that we believe are reasonable under the circumstances. Due to the inherent uncertainty involved with estimates, 
actual results may differ.  
   
Revenue Recognition  
   
Revenue from the sale of products or the providing of services is recognized when the earnings process is complete, the amount of recognizable 
revenue can be determined, the risks and rewards of ownership have transferred to the customer and collectability is reasonably assured. 
Depending on the terms of the individual sales arrangement with our customer, product sales are recognized at either the shipping point or upon 
receipt by the customer. Costs and related expenses to manufacture the products are recorded as costs of goods sold when the related revenue is 
recognized.  
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We have two significant contracts, as discussed in Item 1: Business, providing for the sale of indefinite quantities of products at fixed per unit 
prices, subject to adjustment for certain economic factors. Revenue under these contracts is recognized when products ordered under the 
contracts are received by the customer. Whenever costs change, we review the pricing under these contracts to determine whether they require 
the sale of products at a loss. To date, we have no loss contracts which would require the accrual of future losses in the current financial 
statements.  
   
We also provide research and development services for customers for which we earn payments that are contingent upon achieving a specific 
result (“milestones”). We recognize payments upon achieving such milestones as revenue provided the payment is (i) related to past 
performance, (ii) reasonable relative to all of the deliverables and payment terms within the arrangement with our customer, and (iii) 
nonrefundable. In 2013 and 2012, all of such payments received met these criteria.  
   
Warrants Liability  
   
The Company uses fair values as determined by significant unobservable inputs. These estimated values are significant inputs into the Monte 
Carlo simulation method and the Black Scholes pricing model used to calculate the estimated fair value of common warrants and preferred 
warrants potentially settleable in cash, which are recorded as warrants liability. The estimated fair value of the common warrants and the 
preferred warrants are determined at each balance sheet date and the change in the estimated fair value of the warrants is reflected within the 
Company’s statements of comprehensive loss.   
   
Income Taxes  
   
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are determined based on differences between financial reporting and tax bases of assets and liabilities and are 
measured using enacted tax rates and laws that will be in effect when the differences are expected to reverse. Deferred tax assets are recognized 
when, based upon available evidence, realization of the assets is more likely than not.  
   
In assessing the realization of long-term deferred income tax assets, we consider whether it is more likely than not that the deferred income tax 
assets will be realized. The realization of deferred income tax assets depends upon future taxable income in years before net operating loss 
carryforwards expire. We evaluate the recoverability of deferred income tax assets on a quarterly basis. If we determine that it is more likely than 
not that deferred income tax assets will not be recovered, we establish a valuation allowance against some or all deferred income tax assets.  
   
When tax returns are filed, it is highly certain that some positions taken would be sustained upon examination by the taxing authorities, while 
others are subject to uncertainty about the merits of the position taken or the amount of the position that would be ultimately sustained. The 
benefit of a tax position is recognized in the financial statements in the period during which, based on all available evidence, it is more likely 
than not that the position will be sustained upon examination, including the resolution of appeals or litigation processes, if any. Tax positions 
taken are not offset or aggregated with other positions. Tax positions that meet the more-likely-than-not recognition threshold are measured as 
the largest amount of tax benefit that is more than 50 percent likely of being realized upon settlement with the applicable taxing authority. The 
portion of the benefit associated with tax positions taken that exceeds the amount measured as described above, if such a position existed, would 
be reflected as a liability for unrecognized tax benefits in the accompanying balance sheets along with any associated interest and penalties that 
would be payable to the taxing authorities upon examination. There were no such positions as of December 31, 2013 or 2012.  

   
We classify interest on tax deficiencies as interest expense and income tax penalties as other expense.    
   
In February 2012, we completed an audit by the IRS of our tax returns for the years 2008 and 2009. There were no adjustments to those tax 
returns. Tax returns filed for the years 2010, 2011 and 2012 are still open for audit. The tax return for 2013 is expected to be filed under a filing 
extension prior to September 15, 2014.  
   
Goodwill  
   
Goodwill is deemed to have an indefinite life and accordingly is not subject to annual amortization. Goodwill is subject to annual impairment 
reviews, and, if conditions warrant (a “triggering event”), interim reviews based upon its estimated fair value. Impairment charges, if any, are 
recorded in the period in which the impairment is determined.  
   
We perform the traditional two-step process for assessing goodwill for impairment.. The first step of the two-step process requires a comparison 
of our estimated fair value for each reporting unit versus our carrying (book) value. If our carrying value exceeded our fair value, further analysis 
(step 2 of the two-step process) is required to determine the amount, if any, that our goodwill was impaired. To determine the amount of fair 
value, we used a discounted cash flow analysis.  
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Intangible Assets  
   
Intangible assets include developed technologies and patents, customer relationships, customer backlog, non-compete agreements and certain 
trade names, which are amortized over their estimated useful lives, and other trademarks and trade names, which are considered to have 
indefinite useful lives and therefore are not amortized. The carrying amounts of intangible assets are reviewed for impairment whenever events 
or changes in circumstances indicate that those carrying amounts may not be recoverable. Costs incurred to register new patents or defend 
existing patents are capitalized while costs to renew or extend the term of intangible assets are expensed when incurred.  
   
Contingent Consideration  
   
On August 31, 2011, through CSP, we acquired substantially all of the assets of JFC. On December 22, 2011, CTI acquired all of the outstanding 
common stock of CTS. We purchased both businesses using a combination of cash, common stock and contingent consideration. The initial 
amount of contingent consideration represented the present value of payments expected to be made in 2014 to the sellers of the businesses 
following the achievement of certain financial performance targets in 2012 and 2013. The contingent consideration is adjusted to fair value at 
each reporting period.  
   
Considerable judgment is applied by management when estimating the fair value of the contingent consideration. The contingent consideration 
liabilities’ fair value is determined by calculating the present value of the estimated liability that is expected to be paid in the future. This 
requires the use of (i) estimated future discount rates and (ii) hypothetical scenarios in which the consideration could be earned and weighting 
those scenarios based on our expectations that those scenarios will actually occur. Such assumptions may not reflect actual future results.  
   
Inventories  
   
Inventories are stated at the lower of cost (on a first-in first-out (“FIFO”) method) or net realizable value. We periodically review the 
realizability of inventory. Provisions are recorded for potential obsolescence which requires management’s judgment. Conditions impacting the 
realizability of inventory could cause actual write-offs to be materially different than provisions for obsolescence.  
   
Foreign Operations and Currency  
   
Accounts of our foreign subsidiary are recorded using their local currency (the euro) as the functional currency. For consolidation, revenues and 
expenses are converted to U.S. dollars using the average exchange rate for the month in which they were recorded. Assets and liabilities are 
converted to U.S. dollars using the exchange rate in effect as of the balance sheet date. Equity transactions are converted to U.S. dollars using the 
exchange rate in effect as of the date of the transaction. Translation gains and losses are reported as a component of accumulated other 
comprehensive income or loss. Gains and losses resulting from transactions which are denominated in other than the functional currencies are 
reported as other income, net in the statement of income in the period the gain or loss occurred.   
   
Recent Accounting Pronouncements  
   
The following are recent accounting pronouncements that have affected our consolidated financial statements or may affect them in the future.  
   
In October 2012, the FASB issued Accounting Standards Update No. 2012-04, Technical Corrections and Improvements (“ASU 2012-04”), 
which updates a wide range of topics in the FASB Codification. ASU 2012-04 includes technical corrections and improvements to FASB 
Codification and conforming amendments related to fair value measurements. ASU 2012-04 was effective for fiscal periods beginning after 
December 15, 2012. The adoption of ASU 2012-04 did not have a material impact on our financial position or results of operations.  
   
   

  

18 



    
In July 2013, the FASB issued Accounting Standards Update No. 2013-11, Presentation of an Unrecognized Tax Benefit When a Net Operating 
Loss Carry-forward, a Similar Tax Loss, or a Tax Credit Carry-forward Exists (“ASU 2013-11”) to clarify that an unrecognized tax benefit, or a 
portion of an unrecognized tax benefit, should be presented in the financial statements as a reduction to a deferred tax asset for a net operating 
loss (“NOL”) carry-forward, a similar tax loss, or a tax credit carry-forward, with some allowed exceptions. ASU 2013-11 does not impose any 
new recurring disclosure requirements because it does not affect the recognition or measurement of uncertain tax positions. ASU 2013-11 is 
effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2013. The Company believes the adoption of ASU 2013-11 will not have a material 
impact on our financial position or results of operations.   
   
Results of Operations  
   
Overall Perspective : Financial results for 2013 deteriorated further from those of 2012.We believe that the uncertainty resulting from the budget 
setting issues and delays by the U.S. government as well as in Europe, combined with the drawdown and reassignment of military troops in 
Afghanistan, has had a continued significant adverse impact on our business. We expect this to continue to affect sales of existing chemical light 
products in 2014. In addition, several new chemical light products that we expected to launch during 2013 were delayed to 2014. The delay to 
2014 of a new ammunition program that had been expected to commence in 2013 impacted our ammunition sales. Alternatively, we expect to 
see continued growth in our specialty products business, which has demonstrated growth since its acquisition.  
   
Revenues :    Total revenues for 2013 of $31.8 million decreased by approximately $6.8 million from 2012. Price increases received during 2013 
under long-term military contracts had a negligible impact on the 2013 revenues. The following table depicts annual revenues by sales category. 
In managing the business, we do not prepare profitability statements or track assets / costs by these categories; the business is operated as a 
single segment.  
   

   
The following tables show revenues by quarter by category to help analyze major trends / impacts on the business.  
   

   

   

  

Category ($ in millions)   2013     2012     Change   
Chemical Light   $ 19.3     $ 25.9     $ (6.6 ) 
Ammunition     0.1       2.1       (2.0 ) 
Training & Simulation     2.1       2.4       (0.3 ) 
Specialty Products     10.3       8.2       2.1   
Total   $ 31.8     $ 38.6     $ (6.8 ) 

2013          Category ($ in millions)   Q4     Q3     Q2     Q1     2013   
Chemical Light   $ 3.4     $ 3.7     $ 6.8     $ 5.4     $ 19.3   
Ammunition     0.0       0.0       0.1       0.0       0.1   
Training & Simulation     0.2       1.3       0.1       0.5       2.1   
Specialty Products     3.2       2.5       2.4       2.2       10.3   
Total   $ 6.8     $ 7.5     $ 9.4     $ 8.1     $ 31.8   

2012          Category ($ in millions)   Q4     Q3     Q2     Q1     2012   
Chemical Light   $ 8.9     $ 6.8     $ 5.2     $ 5.0     $ 25.7   
Ammunition     0.0       0.5       0.8       0.8       2.2   
Training & Simulation     0.4       0.7       0.8       0.5       2.6   
Specialty Products     2.3       2.1       2.1       1.7       8.1   
Total   $ 11.7     $ 10.1     $ 8.9     $ 8.0     $ 38.6   
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Chemical Light: Revenues of $19.3 million for 2013 were $6.6 million, or 25% below revenues of approximately $25.9 million for 2012. The 
drawdown of troops from Afghanistan, the budget sequestration and government shutdown in the U.S., and budgetary issues in both the U.S. and 
other countries contributed to the decline in revenues. As much of the revenue in this category comes from indefinite demand / indefinite 
quantity contracts, we do not have direct insight into patterns of demand / consumption. In addition, several new product launches that had been 
anticipated in 2013 have been delayed until 2014. For 2014, we anticipate a modest amount of growth in revenues due to our belief that demand 
for our products by the military has stabilized and from the expected launch of several new products.  
   
Ammunition: Revenues decreased by approximately $2 million primarily due to (1) the completion in the third quarter of 2012 of a long-term 
contract for 40mm high-velocity training ammunition, and (2) the delay of a new program utilizing our chemiluminescence technology. A new 
contract for 40mm low-velocity training ammunition, which initially had been expected to start in 2012, is now expected to result in production 
starting no earlier than the second half of 2014, at which time we expect revenues to resume. Funds have been set aside by the U.S. Military for 
the program.  
   
Training & Simulation revenues for 2013 of approximately $2.1 million declined by $0.3 million, or 12%, from the prior year as increased 
revenue from training activities was more than offset by a reduction in simulation products sold.  
   
Specialty Products: Revenues increased year over year by approximately $2.1 million, or 25%, due to both increased sales to existing customers 
and to additional customers. We expect continued growth in 2014 resulting from the production of new products and obtaining additional 
customers.  
   
Gross profit: Gross profit was approximately $13.8 million for 2013 versus $17.1 million for 2012, representing a decrease of approximately 
$3.3 million, or 19%. The decrease was due mostly to the drop in revenues. The gross margin for 2013 was 43.5% versus 44.3% for 2012. The 
slight drop is due mostly to product mix.  
   
Expenses: Sales and marketing expenses in 2013 of approximately $4.9 million decreased by $0.6 million, or 11%, from the prior year, primarily 
due to lower payroll severance expense, lower sales freight-out expense and the recovery of a previously reserved receivable lowering 
uncollectible expense. General and administrative expenses in 2013 of approximately $11.4 million increased over 2012 by $3.5 million, or 
45%. Of this increase, approximately $2.6 million was for legal and third-party consulting expenses incurred in connection with the legal 
settlement with a former employee. In addition, approximately $0.5 million of non-recurring financing related costs were incurred. Also 
contributing to the increase over the prior year were costs associated with the establishment of the corporate office in Florida such as rent and 
additional payroll and payroll-related costs from additional personnel assisting with the relocation effort and overlap of existing management 
positions until the end of 2013. Research and development expenses of approximately $1.9 million in 2013 decreased slightly, by less than $0.1 
million from 2012.  
   
Interest expense, net : Interest expense of approximately $2.6 million increased by $0.4 million over the prior year. The majority of the increase 
was attributable to the issuance of a note for $2.1 million in the last week in December 2012 (relating to the settlement of the contingent 
consideration liability with JFC). The note carried an effective rate of 12% for the entire year, of which approximately $21,000 was included 
within “Loss on extinguishment of debt – related party” and approximately $0.2 million was included within “Interest expense, net” during 
2013.  
   
Amortization of intangible assets : Amortization expense for 2013 of approximately $1.8 million was slightly lower than the prior year due to a 
reduction in expense associated with certain intangible assets having become fully amortized.  
   
Change in fair value of contingent consideration: This amount reflects the change in the estimated fair value of the contingent consideration 
liabilities incurred as part of the acquisitions of CSP and CTS, both of which occurred in 2011. During 2012, both contingent liabilities were 
reduced to $0, causing the $3.4 million net expense to be recorded in 2012. The CTS-related contingent consideration liability was reduced to 
$0, resulting in a gain of $2.2 million in 2012 because the forecasted financial performance of CTS was not sufficient to trigger payment of any 
contingent consideration pursuant to the formula agreed to by the sellers of CTS and us. The CSP-related contingent consideration liability was 
reduced to $0, resulting in a loss of $5.6 million in 2012, because that liability was paid in full in December 2012 via the issuance of 2,450,000 
shares of our common stock and the issuance of a $2,100,000 note payable to the sellers of CSP having a combined estimated fair value of $7.2 
million. Based on the agreement to settle the CSP-related contingent liability, because the shares of our common stock were at a price less than 
$1.75 as of December 31, 2013, an additional 350,000 shares became payable. Accordingly, expense for the change in fair value of contingent 
consideration of $241,500 was recorded in 2013 and represents the amount of the associated liability as such shares were not paid until 2014.  
   
Other income, net : Other income in 2013 was negligible compared to approximately $0.1 million for 2012.  
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Impairment Charges: During the year ended December 31, 2013, we recorded goodwill and intangible asset impairment charges for the 
following reasons:  

   
In connection with our assessment of goodwill impairment, we first assessed whether any non-goodwill assets were impaired. This assessment 
determined that the CTS patent asset was impaired by approximately $174,000, CTS trademarks and trade names were impaired by 
approximately $17,000, CTS customer relationships intangibles were impaired by approximately $650,000 and CTS non-compete agreements 
were impaired by approximately $34,000. Therefore, we recorded $875,000 of an impairment loss on these CTS intangible assets. In addition to 
the impairment loss relating to the CTS intangible assets, we also recorded a goodwill impairment loss of $168,000.  
   
The “step 1” goodwill impairment assessment was performed by comparing the fair value of each reporting unit containing goodwill to those 
reporting units’ carrying values. Our Chemical Light, Training, and Specialty Products reporting units have goodwill assets. Since there are no 
quoted market prices for our reporting units, the fair value of our reporting units were determined using a discounted present value technique 
utilizing each reporting unit’s forecasted after-tax cash flows. The “step 1” test determined that the carrying value of the CTS Training reporting 
unit exceeded its fair value and therefore, its goodwill needed to be tested further under what is commonly known as “step 2” of the goodwill 
impairment assessment. CTS did not pass the “step 1” test due to the inability to gain traction with new products and services or attract new 
customers as initially planned when the reporting unit was acquired in December 2011.  
   
Under “step 2” of the goodwill impairment assessment, we compared the implied fair value of the CTS Training goodwill with the carrying 
amount of that goodwill. If the carrying amount of the goodwill exceeds the implied fair value of that goodwill, that excess must be recognized 
as an impairment loss. The implied fair value of goodwill was determined in the same manner as the amount of goodwill recognized in a 
business combination. The excess of the fair value of the reporting unit over the amounts assigned to its assets and liabilities is the implied 
amount of the reporting unit’s goodwill. We identified several intangible assets that were valued during this process, including customer 
relationships, patents, trade names, non-compete agreements, and our workforce. The allocation process was performed only for purposes of 
goodwill impairment. We determined the fair value of these assets using various discounted cash flow-based methods that utilize assumptions 
such as the ability of these assets to generate future cash flows, present-value factors, income tax rates and customer attrition rates. The “step 1”
calculated fair value of the CTS reporting unit was allocated to the CTS tangible and identifiable intangible assets of the CTS reporting unit 
based upon the results of the “step 2” analysis, which resulted in a full impairment to the CTS goodwill.  

   
Provision for (benefit from) income taxes: The decrease in pre-tax loss from 2012 to 2013 is due primarily to the impairment loss on goodwill in 
2012. The effective tax rate for 2013 of (16.3%) is higher than the 2012 rate of (6%) primarily due to the impairment loss on goodwill.   
   
Balance Sheet  
   
Accounts receivable at December 31, 2013 were approximately $3.8 million, or approximately $0.1 million lower than at the end of 2012.The 
reserve for uncollectible accounts decreased from approximately $0.2 million at December 31, 2012 to less than $0.1 million at December 31, 
2013 due to the collection of a receivable for approximately $0.1 million that had been reserved. Revenues in December of 2013 were 
approximately the same as in December of 2012. Timing differences for billings and collections account for the remainder of the change.  
   
Inventories, net were approximately $10.8 million at December 31, 2013 versus $9.6 million at the end of 2012. The increase was due to a 
buildup of stocking levels during the third quarter of 2013 in anticipation of a level of sales in the fourth quarter that did not materialize. Our 
inventory balances fluctuate from a combination of recent sales activity and the timing of purchases of raw materials. Certain raw materials are 
purchased only several times a year due to long lead times and the desire to purchase in bulk to minimize costs, while other materials are 
purchased more frequently.  
   
Property, plant and equipment of approximately $8.0 million at December 31, 2013, decreased from the end of 2012 by approximately $1.2 
million due to the transfer of $625,000 of land in connection with the legal settlement involving a former employee, and the remainder of the 
decrease is due to depreciation in excess of capital additions.  
   
Net intangible assets of approximately $17.9 million at December 31, 2013, decreased from the end of 2012 by approximately $2.3 million due 
to the amortization of such assets plus the impairment of approximately $0.9 million of intangible assets associated with CTS that were charged 
to earnings, and partially offset by additions for capitalized patent and trademark costs  
   
The current portion of notes payable decreased to approximately $1.9 million at December 31, 2013, from $9.7 million at the prior year-end 
primarily due to the refinancing of our senior credit facility that was scheduled to mature in December 2013.  
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Accounts payable and accrued expenses, combined, were approximately $8.2 million at the end of 2013, representing an increase over the prior 
year-end of $2.7 million. The change was primarily due to unpaid legal and consulting expenses associated with the arbitration with the former 
employee that was settled on November 19, 2013.  
   
Contingent consideration was $0.2 million at December 31, 2013 versus $0 at December 31, 2012. See the discussion of this change in the 
Results of Operations section.  
   
Net current deferred income tax assets increased at the end of 2013 over the prior year, primarily as a result of the following:  
   

   
Net non-current deferred income tax liabilities decreased minimally at the end of 2013 over the prior year, primarily as a result of the following:  
   

   
A valuation allowance of approximately $5.9 million still remains on deferred federal tax assets for the carryforward of foreign tax credits, 
which we do not anticipate using in the near-term. The utilization of this asset is dependent upon generation of significant revenues from sources 
outside the U.S. During 2013, we increased the valuation allowance from $3.9 million by $2.0 million due to the inability to utilize foreign tax 
credits and net operating loss carryforwards in the near term.  
   
We had federal net operating loss carryforwards amounting to $13.3 million and $2.0 million at December 31, 2013 and 2012, respectively. The 
net operating loss carryforward at December 31, 2013 expires in fiscal years 2025 through 2033. Internal Revenue Code Section 382 limits 
utilization of these losses to $3.2 million per year. It is possible that future changes in ownership could result in changes to the amounts allowed 
by IRC Section 382. State net operating loss carryforwards amounted to $2.0 million and $1.0 million as of December 31, 2013 and 2012, 
respectively.  
   
Derivatives liability decreased in 2013 over the prior year due primarily to the value of interest rate swaps trending towards a $0 fair value at 
maturity in December 2013.  
   
We have recorded as of December 31, 2013, a contingent legal obligation of approximately $4.0 million versus $3.8 million at December 31, 
2012. The increase over the prior year is due to interest being accrued. This payable is based on a July 2011 ruling against CTI under Civil 
Action No. 06-706. We hold 625,139 shares of common stock in escrow, provided by a shareholder and affiliate, to be applied against any 
damages up to the value of the shares upon conversion to cash. As of December 31, 2013, the value of such shares was approximately $0.4 
million, which is reflected in other noncurrent assets.  
   
Liquidity and Capital Resources  
   
On November 19, 2013, we closed on the following financial transactions:  
   

(a) we entered into a Securities Purchase Agreement (the “Purchase Agreement”) with US VC Partners, L.P. (the “Investor”) for the 
purchase by the Investor of 123,077 units of securities of the Company for an aggregate purchase price of $4,000,003 (or $32.50 per unit), with 
each security comprising (1) one share of Series A Convertible Preferred Stock of the Company, par value $0.001 per share (the “Series A 
Preferred Stock”), (2) one common stock warrant (the “Common Stock Warrant”) and (3) one preferred stock warrant (the “Preferred Stock 
Warrant”). Holders of the Series A Preferred Stock are entitled to cumulative quarterly dividends at a rate of 12% per annum, payable in cash or 
in kind; provided that to the extent not paid in cash or by issuance of additional Series A Shares on the last day of each calendar quarter (a 
“Dividend Payment Date”), all accrued dividends on any outstanding shares of Series A Preferred Stock shall accumulate and compound. From 
and after the fifth anniversary of the closing of the Purchase Agreement (the “Closing”), the Requisite Holders will have the right to elect to 
cause the Company to redeem all but not less than all of the then outstanding shares of Series A Preferred Stock. From and after the eighth 
anniversary of the Closing, the Company will have the right to redeem, out of funds legally available therefore, all, but not less than all, of the 
then outstanding shares of Series A Preferred Stock. The Investor has a number of officers in common with Cova Small Cap Holdings, LLC 
(“Cova”), a significant stockholder of the Company. Three members of the Board are affiliated with, and designees of, Cova.  
   

  

• Net increases in the tax reporting carrying value of CTI’s intangible assets as a result of amortization non-deductible for tax; 
• Net increases in accrual for legal fees and legal settlements; and 
• Increases in net operating losses to current off-set by state net operating losses expected to expire unused. 

• Increases in the non-current asset by foreign tax credits expired unused; 
• Increases in the non-current asset by the non-deductible stock-based compensation for tax purposes; 
• Net decreases to the financial reporting carrying value of various identified intangible assets as a result of: 

o CTS impairment loss, and 
o decreased by annual amortization expense of previously acquired identified intangible assets; 

• Net increases to the carrying value of fixed assets as a result of annual depreciation expense differences; 
• Net increases in the tax reporting carrying value of CSP’s intangible assets as a result of the earn-out payment; and 
• Increases in net operating losses to current off-set by state net operating losses expected to expire unused. 
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(b) we entered into a Fourth Amendment (the “Senior Amendment”) to the Amended and Restated Revolving Credit and Term Loan 

Agreement, dated July 29, 2010 (as subsequently amended, the “Senior Credit Agreement”), by and among the Company and TD Bank, N.A. 
(“TD Bank”), as administrative agent and lender (the “Lender”). The Senior Amendment extended the maturity date of the indebtedness under 
the Senior Credit Agreement to December 19, 2015, and changed the interest rate on borrowings to the “Base Rate” (equal to the greater of the 
prime rate or 3%) plus 3%. There were no changes to the principal balance or monthly principal payments.  
   

(c) we entered into a Fourth Amendment (the “Subordinated Amendment”) to the Subordinated Loan Agreement, dated July 29, 2010 (the 
“Subordinated Loan Agreement”), by and among the Company, Granite Creek Flexcap I, L.P. (“GCF”), Patriot Capital II, L.P. (“Patriot” and, 
together with GCF, the “Subordinated Lenders”) and Granite Creek Partners Agent, L.L.C., as administrative agent (the “Administrative 
Agent”).  The Subordinated Amendment extended the maturity date of the indebtedness under the Senior Loan Agreement to June 30, 2016. 
Under the Subordinated Amendment the interest rate remains at 11% and is payable monthly through addition to the principal balance 
outstanding. No cash interest is permitted.  
   

(d) we entered into an amended and restated promissory note (the “Restated Note”) with JFC Technologies, LLC (“JFC”), which amended 
and restated in its entirety the promissory note in the original principal amount of $2,100,000 originally issued by the Company to JFC on 
December 31, 2012 (the “Original Note”). Pursuant to the terms of the Restated Note, interest accrues on the principal amount at the rate of 12% 
per annum, retroactive to the date of the Original Note. The entire principal amount and all accrued interest under the Restated Note is due on the 
maturity date of December 31, 2016, or earlier upon the refinancing of the Company’s existing indebtedness (subject to the availability of at 
least $5,000,000 in available credit after such repayment) or a sale of the Company.  
   
As of December 31, 2013, cash was $0.9 million versus $2.7 million as of December 31, 2012. As of December 31, 2013, accumulated deficit 
was $95.9 million.  
   
Due to uncertainty about our ability to meet our current operating expenses and current obligations, in their report on our annual financial 
statements for the year ended December 31, 2013, our independent registered public accounting firm included an explanatory paragraph 
regarding our ability to continue as a going concern. Our current liabilities include approximately $4.0 million relating to a contingent legal 
obligation.  
   
In light of our results of operations, management has been evaluating various possibilities including but not limited to refinancing or 
restructuring our debt, reducing or eliminating operating expenses, and raising additional capital through the issuance of common or preferred 
stock or securities convertible into common stock. These possibilities, to the extent available, may be on terms that result in significant dilution 
to our existing stockholders, may reduce the value of the stockholders’ investment in the Company or may impact our stock price.  
   
There can be no assurances that we will be successful in raising adequate additional financial support. If not, we will be required to reduce 
operations. Our consolidated financial statements do not include any adjustments relating to the recoverability of assets and classification of 
assets and liabilities that might be necessary should the Company be unable to continue as a going concern.   
   
Capital expenditures, which totaled approximately $1.2 million in 2013, are expected to decrease for 2014. We expect to fund these capital 
expenditures in 2014 from existing cash and operating cash flows.  
   
During 2011, we purchased two businesses: through CSP the assets of JFC and CTS. No liability for contingent consideration exists relating to 
CTS. With regard to JFC, the liability for contingent consideration as of December 31, 2013 is $241,500, payable with 350,000 shares of 
common stock in 2014.  
   
CTI has a line of credit with a maximum borrowing capacity of $5.0 million with TD. Bank The amount we may borrow from this line of credit 
is dependent mainly on accounts receivable and inventory balances. Interest is payable monthly and is based on Prime plus three percent. The 
line of credit’s interest rate at December 31, 2013 was 6.25%. At December 31, 2013 there was an outstanding balance on our revolving line of 
credit of $1.6 million versus $0 at December 31, 2012. Borrowing availability under the line of credit was approximately $840,000 at December 
31, 2013.  
   
CTSAS has lines of credit, for borrowing against receivables, with a combined maximum borrowing capacity of €800,000 ($1.1 million at 
December 31, 2013). There were no outstanding borrowings at December 31, 2013 or 2012. The lines’ interest rates are variable, based on the 
Euro Overnight Index Average and the 3-month Euro Interbank Offered Rate. The lines have indefinite termination dates but can be renegotiated 
periodically.   
   
CTI has two loans payable to TD Bank, a Term Loan and a Real Estate Loan. The Term Loan is payable in monthly principal installments of 
$148,000 along with monthly interest payments as described below, plus a one-time principal payment of $2.5 million due at maturity in 
December 2015. The interest rate is Prime plus three percent. The Real Estate Loan is payable in monthly principal installments of $10,000, 
along with monthly interest payments as described below, plus a one-time principal payment of $1.4 million due at maturity in December 2015. 
The interest rate is Prime plus three percent.  
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The Subordinated Term Loan with the Subordinated Lenders ranks junior to all debt held by TD Bank but senior to all other remaining long-
term debt including existing and future subordinated debt. The total amount outstanding for Granite Creek as of December 31, 2013 was 
approximately $8.7 million. The Subordinated Term Loan is convertible at any time by Granite Creek into 2,666,667 shares of common stock at 
a conversion price of approximately $3.19 per share. No portion of the Subordinated Term Loan has been converted to our common stock. We 
have the right to prepay the loan in whole or in part at any time without penalty, but subject to first paying off in full any debt outstanding with 
TD Bank.  
   
Total Notes Payable relating to the Term Loan, the Real Estate Loan and the Subordinated Term Loan was approximately $15.8 million at 
December 31, 2013.  
   
We were in compliance with our financial covenants as of December 31, 2013. We expect to meet our financial covenants for 2014 and that cash 
provided by the business will be adequate to meet our needs. Nonetheless, we are exploring raising additional funds to further improve liquidity.  
   
The Company did not pay a dividend in 2013 and has no plans to do so.  
   
Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements  
   
We did not have any off-balance sheet arrangements during 2013 or 2012.  
   
Contractual Obligations  
   
As a smaller reporting company, we are not required to provide information typically disclosed under this item.  
   
ITEM 7A.    QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURE S ABOUT MARKET RISK  
   
As a smaller reporting company, we are not required to provide information typically disclosed under this item.  
   
ITEM 8.    FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SUPPLEMENTARY D ATA  
   
Selected Quarterly Financial Data  
   
As a smaller reporting company, we are not required to provide information typically disclosed under this item.  
   
Financial Statements  
   
The information required by this item is shown under Part IV, Item 15 and may be found beginning on page F-1 of this Form 10-K.  
   
ITEM 9.    CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUN TANTS ON ACCOUNTING AND FINANCIAL DISCLOSURE  
   
None.  
   
ITEM 9A.    CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES  
   
Disclosure Controls and Procedures  
   
Disclosure controls and procedures are designed to ensure that information required to be disclosed by us in reports filed or submitted under the 
Securities Exchange Act of 1934 (“Exchange Act”) is recorded, processed, summarized and reported within the time periods specified in the 
SEC’s rules and forms. Disclosure controls include, without limitation, controls and procedures designed to ensure that information required to 
be disclosed under the Exchange Act is accumulated and communicated to management, including principal executive and financial officers, as 
appropriate, to allow timely decisions regarding required disclosure. There are inherent limitations to the effectiveness of any system of 
disclosure controls and procedures, including the possibility of human error and the circumvention or overriding of the controls and procedures. 
Accordingly, even effective disclosure controls and procedures can only provide reasonable assurance of achieving their control objectives.  
   
Management carried out an evaluation, under the supervision of the Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, of the effectiveness of 
disclosure controls and procedures as of December 31, 2013. Based upon that evaluation, management, including the Chief Executive Officer 
and Chief Financial Officer, concluded that the design and operation of disclosure controls and procedures were effective as of December 31, 
2013.  
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Management's Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting  
   
Management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial reporting, as defined in the Securities 
Exchange Act of 1934, as amended. Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect 
misstatements. Also, projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate 
because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate. Management assessed the 
effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2013. In making this assessment, management used the criteria set 
forth by Internal Control—Integrated Framework - 1992 issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission. 
Based on its assessment using those criteria, management concluded that internal control over financial reporting was effective as of December 
31, 2013.  
   
As a smaller reporting company, we are not required to obtain an attestation report from our independent registered public accounting firm 
regarding internal controls over financial reporting.  
   
Changes in Internal Control over Financial Reporting  
   
We have had no changes in internal control over financial reporting during our last fiscal quarter of 2013 that have materially affected, or are 
reasonably likely to materially affect, internal control over financial reporting.  
   
ITEM 9B.    OTHER INFORMATION  
   
None.  
   

PART III  
   
ITEM 10.    DIRECTORS, EXECUTIVE OFFICERS AND CORPO RATE GOVERNANCE  
   
The information required by this Item is incorporated herein by reference to the definitive Proxy Statement to be filed pursuant to Regulation 
14A of the Exchange Act for our 2014 Annual Meeting of Shareholders.  
   
ITEM 11.    EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION  
   
The information required by this Item is incorporated herein by reference to the definitive Proxy Statement to be filed pursuant to Regulation 
14A of the Exchange Act for our 2014 Annual Meeting of Shareholders.  
   
ITEM 12.    SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIA L OWNERS AND MANAGEMENT AND RELATED 
STOCKHOLDER MATTERS  
   
Securities Authorized for Issuance under Equity Compensation Plans  
   
The information required by this Item is incorporated herein by reference to the definitive Proxy Statement to be filed pursuant to Regulation 
14A of the Exchange Act for our 2014 Annual Meeting of Shareholders.  
   
Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners  
   
The information required by this Item is incorporated herein by reference to the definitive Proxy Statement to be filed pursuant to Regulation 
14A of the Exchange Act for our 2014 Annual Meeting of Shareholders.  
   
ITEM 13.    CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANS ACTIONS, AND DIRECTOR INDEPENDENCE  
   
The information required by this Item is incorporated herein by reference to the definitive Proxy Statement to be filed pursuant to Regulation 
14A of the Exchange Act for our 2014 Annual Meeting of Shareholders.  
   
ITEM 14.    PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING FEES AND SERVICES  
   
The information required by this Item is incorporated herein by reference to the definitive Proxy Statement to be filed pursuant to Regulation 
14A of the Exchange Act for our 2014 Annual Meeting of Shareholders.  
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PART IV  

   
ITEM 15.    EXHIBITS, FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES   
   

(a)   (1)     Financial statements filed as part of this report  
   

Consolidated Balance Sheets  
Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Loss  
Consolidated Statements of Changes in Stockholders’ Equity  
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows  
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements  

   
(2)     Financial statement schedule filed as part of this report  

Schedule II – Valuation and Qualifying Accounts  
   
(b)          Exhibits  
   

  

Exhibit     
Number   Description 
2.1 (1) Stock Purchase Agreement dated February 14, 2008 by and among Vector Intersect Acquisition Corporation, as the Parent, 

Cyalume Acquisition Corp., a Delaware corporation, as the Purchaser, Cyalume Technologies, Inc. and GMS Acquisition 
Partners Holdings, LLC 

2.2 (2) Amendment No. 1 to Stock Purchase Agreement, dated October 22, 2008 
2.3 (3) Amendment No. 2 to Stock Purchase Agreement, dated December 17, 2008 
2.4 (3) Amendment No. 3 to Stock Purchase Agreement, dated December 18, 2008 
3.1 (3) Fifth Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation 
3.2 (4) By-laws 
3.3 (19) Certificate of Designation filed by the Company with the Secretary of State of the State of Delaware on November 18, 

2013. (3.1) 
3.4 (19) Warrant to Purchase Common Stock, dated November 19, 2013, issued to the Investor. (3.2) 
3.5 (19) Warrant to Purchase Series A Preferred Stock, dated November 19, 2013, issued to the Investor. (3.3) 
3.6 (19) Second Amended and Restated Warrant to Purchase Common Stock, dated November 19, 2013, issued to Granite Creek 

FlexCap I, L.P. (3.4) 
3.7 (19) Second Amended and Restated Warrant to Purchase Common Stock, dated November 19, 2013, issued to Patriot Capital 

II, LP. (3.5) 
3.8 (19) Warrant to Purchase Common Stock, dated November 19, 2013, issued to JFC. (3.6) 
4.1 (4) Specimen Common Stock Certificate 
4.2 (4) Specimen Unit Certificate 
4.3 (4) Specimen Warrant Certificate 
4.4 (4) Form of Unit Purchase Option to be granted to the representative 
4.5 (8) Registration Rights Agreement dated March 18, 2011 
4.6 (14) Stock Option Agreement between Cyalume Technologies Holdings, Inc. and East Shore Ventures, LLC (4.1) 
4.7 (14) Stock Option Agreement between Cyalume Technologies Holdings, Inc. and Dale S. Baker (4.2) 
10.1 (4) Form of Stock Escrow Agreement among the Registrant, American Stock Transfer & Trust Company and the Initial 

Stockholders 
10.2 (4) Form of Registration Rights Agreement among the Registrant, the Initial Stockholders and the Private Placement 

Purchasers 
10.3 (5) Cyalume Technologies Holdings, Inc. 2009 Omnibus Securities and Incentive Plan 
10.4 (6) Share Purchase Agreement dated March 18, 2011 
10.5 (7) Amendment No. 1 to the Employee Agreement of Derek Dunaway dated May 9, 2011 
10.6 (7) Amendment No. 1 to the Employee Agreement of Edgar E. Cranor dated May 9, 2011 
10.7 (8) Securities Exchange Agreement between Cyalume Technologies Holdings, Inc. and Rodman Principal Investments, LLC 

dated June 30, 2011  (10.1) 
10.8 (8) Securities Exchange Agreement between Cyalume Technologies Holdings, Inc. and Winston Churchill dated July 7, 

2011  (10.2) 
10.9 (8) Securities Exchange Agreement between Cyalume Technologies Holdings, Inc. and Thomas Rebar dated July 7, 

2011  (10.3) 
10.10 (8) Securities Exchange Agreement between Cyalume Technologies Holdings, Inc. and Wayne Weisman dated July 7, 2011 

(10.4) 
10.11 (9) Amendment No. 2 to the Employee Agreement of Derek Dunaway  (10.5) 
10.12 (9) Amendment No. 1 to the Employee Agreement of Michael Bielonko  (10.6) 
10.13 (9) Amendment No. 2 to the Employee Agreement of Edgar E. Cranor  (10.7) 
10.14 (9) Asset Purchase Agreement dated August 31, 2011 among Cyalume Technologies Holdings, Inc., Cyalume Specialty 

Products, Inc., JFC Technologies, LLC and Selling Members of Seller  (10.8) 
10.15 (9) Registration Rights Agreement between Cyalume Technologies Holdings, Inc., James G. Schleck, James R. Schleck, Jame 



    

Fine Chemical, Inc., and JFC Technologies, LLC dated as of August 31, 2011  (10.9) 
10.16 (9) Lease Agreement between Brook Industrial Park, LLC and Cyalume Specialty Products, Inc. (10.10) 
10.17 (10) Stock Purchase Agreement dated December 22, 2011 among Cyalume Technologies Inc., Cyalume Technologies 

Holdings, Inc., Combat Training Solutions, Inc., and Antonio Colon  (10.27) 
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10.18 (10) Registration Rights Agreement, dated as of December 22, 2011, between Cyalume Technologies Holdings, Inc., and 
Antonio Colon (10.28) 

10.19 (10) Second Amendment to Amended and Restated Revolving Credit and Term Loan Agreement between Cyalume 
Technologies, Inc., Cyalume Technologies Holdings, Inc., Combat Training Solutions, Inc., Cyalume Realty, Inc., 
Cyalume Specialty Products, Inc. and TD Bank, N.A. dated March 30, 2012 (10.30) 

10.20 (10) Second Amendment to Subordinated Loan Agreement between Cyalume Technologies, Inc., Cyalume Technologies 
Holdings, Inc., Combat Training Solutions, Inc., Cyalume Realty, Inc., Cyalume Specialty Products, Inc., Granite Creek 
Partners Agent, LLC, Granite Creek Flexcap I, L.P. and Patriot Capital II, L.P. dated March 30, 2012 (10.31) 

10.21 (11) Services Agreement by and among the Company, Cyalume Technologies, Inc. and East Shore Ventures, LLC dated as of 
April 2, 2012  (10.1) 

10.22 (11) Inducement Agreement by and between East Shore Ventures, LLC and Zivi Nedivi  (10.2) 
10.23 (11) Separation Agreement and General Release by and between Cyalume Technologies, Inc. and Derek Dunaway effective as 

of April 2, 2012 (10.3) 
10.24 (12) Amended and Restated Employment Agreement of Michael Bielonko, Chief Financial Officer, Cyalume Technologies, 

Inc. (10.1) 
10.25 (12) Separation and Release Agreement between Monte L. Pickens and Cyalume Technologies, Inc. (10.2) 
10.26 (13) Employment Agreement between Daniel S. Baker and Cyalume Technologies, Inc. effective September 10, 2012 (10.1) 
10.27 (14) Amendment No. 1 to Services Agreement dated September 10, 2012 between Cyalume Technologies Holdings, Inc., 

Cyalume Technologies, Inc., and East Shore Ventures, LLC (10.1) 
10.28 (15) Third Amendment to Amended and Restated Revolving Credit and Term Loan Agreement effective December 28, 2012 

with TD Bank, N.A. (10.1) 
10.29 (15) Third Amendment to Subordinated Loan Agreement effective December 28, 2012 with Granite Creek Flexcap I, L.P. and 

Patriot Capital II, L.P., and Granite Creek Partners Agent, L.L.C (10.2) 
10.30 (16) Amendment Agreement dated December 27, 2012 by and among the  Cyalume Technologies Holdings, Inc.,  Cyalume 

Specialty Products, Inc.,  JFC Technologies, LLC  and  James G. Schleck (10.1) 
10.31 (16) Unsecured Promissory Note dated December 31, 2012 with JFC Technologies, LLC (10.2) 
10.32 (17) Employment Agreement, effective as of November 1, 2011, between Cyalume Specialty Products, Inc. and James G. 

Schleck (10.3) 
10.33 (17) First Amendment to Employment Agreement, dated December 27, 2012, between  Cyalume Specialty Products, Inc. and 

James G. Schleck (10.4) 
10.36 (19) Securities Purchase Agreement, dated November 19, 2013, between the Company and the Investor. (10.1) 
10.37 (19) Registration Rights Agreement, dated November 19, 2013, between the Company and the Investor. (10.2) 
10.38 (19) Release and Escrow Agreement, dated November 19, 2013, among the Company, CTI, Cova and the Investor. (10.3) 
10.39 (19) Fourth Amendment to Amended and Restated Revolving Credit and Term Loan Agreement, dated November 19, 2013. 

(10.4) 
10.40 (19) Fourth Amendment to Subordinated Loan Agreement, dated November 19, 2013. (10.5) 
10.41 (19) Amended and Restated Promissory Note, dated November 19, 2013. (10.6) 
10.42 * Separation and Release Agreement, dated December 31, 2013, between Cyalume Specialty Products, Inc. and James G. 

Schleck 
10.43 * Consulting Agreement, dated December 31, 2013, between Cyalume Specialty Products, Inc. and James G. Schleck 
14.1 (10) Code of Conduct and Ethics (14.1) 
16.1 (18) Letter from CCR LLP 
21.1 * Subsidiaries of the Registrant 
23.1 * Consent of BDO USA, LLP 
31.1 * Certification of Principal Executive Officer pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 
31.2 * Certification of Principal Financial Officer pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 
32.1 * Certification of Principal Executive Officer and Principal Financial Officer pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley 

Act of 2002 
101.INS * XBRL Instance Document 
101.SCH * XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema 
101.CAL * XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Database 
101.DEF * XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbase 
101.LAB * XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label Linkbase 
101.PRE * XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linkbase 

(1) Incorporated by reference to the Current Report on Form 8-K dated February 14, 2008 and filed with the Commission February 21, 2008. 
(2) Incorporated by reference to the Current Report on Form 8-K dated October 22, 2008 and filed with the Commission November 4, 2008. 
(3) Incorporated by reference to the Current Report on Form 8-K dated December 17, 2008 and filed with the Commission December 23, 

2008. 
(4) Incorporated by reference to the Registration Statement on Form S-1 (File No. 333-127644) filed August 18, 2005. 
(5) Incorporated by reference to Exhibit A of the definitive Proxy Statement filed with the Commission April 30, 2009 pursuant to Regulation 

14A of the Exchange Act for our 2009 Annual Meeting of Stockholders. 
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(6) Incorporated by reference to the Current Report on Form 8-K dated March 18, 2011 and filed with the Commission March 21, 2011. 
(7) Incorporated by reference to our Form 10-Q dated June 30, 2011 and filed with the Commission August 10, 2011. The number given in 

parenthesis indicates the corresponding exhibit number in such Form 10-Q. 
(8) Incorporated by reference to the Current Report on Form 8-K dated June 30, 2011 and filed with the Commission July 7, 2011. The 

number given in parenthesis indicates the corresponding exhibit number in such Form 8-K. 
(9) Incorporated by reference to our Form 10-Q dated September 30, 2011 and filed with the Commission November 14, 2011. The number 

given in parenthesis indicates the corresponding exhibit number in such Form 10-Q. 
(10) Incorporated by reference to our Form 10-K dated December 31, 2012 and filed with the Commission April 16, 2012. The number given in 

parenthesis indicates the corresponding exhibit number in such Form 10-K. 
(11) Incorporated by reference to the Current Report on Form 8-K dated March 30, 2012 and filed with the Commission April 5, 2012. The 

number given in parenthesis indicates the corresponding exhibit number in such Form 8-K. 
(12) Incorporated by reference to the Current Report on Form 8-K dated April 19, 2012 and filed with the Commission April 25, 2012. The 

number given in parenthesis indicates the corresponding exhibit number in such Form 8-K. 
(13) Incorporated by reference to the Current Report on Form 8-K dated July 19, 2012 and filed with the Commission July 25, 2012. The 

number given in parenthesis indicates the corresponding exhibit number in such Form 8-K. 
(14) Incorporated by reference to the Current Report on Form 8-K dated September 10, 2012 and filed with the Commission September 12, 

2012. The number given in parenthesis indicates the corresponding exhibit number in such Form 8-K. 
(15) Incorporated by reference to the Current Report on Form 8-K dated December 20, 2012 and filed with the Commission December 31, 

2012. The number given in parenthesis indicates the corresponding exhibit number in such Form 8-K. 
(16) Incorporated by reference to the Current Report on Form 8-K dated December 27, 2012 and filed with the Commission January 2, 2013. 

The number given in parenthesis indicates the corresponding exhibit number in such Form 8-K. 
(17) Incorporated by reference to the Current Report on Form 8-K dated December 31, 2012 and filed with the Commission January 7, 2013. 

The number given in parenthesis indicates the corresponding exhibit number in such Form 8-K. 
(18) Incorporated by reference to the Current Report on Form 8-K dated November 28, 2011 and filed with the Commission December 2, 2011. 
(19) Incorporated by reference to the Current Report on Form 8-K dated November 22, 2013 and filed with the Commission on that date. The 

number given in parenthesis indicates the corresponding exhibit number in such Form 8-K. 

* Filed herewith. 
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM  

   
Board of Directors and Stockholders  
Cyalume Technologies Holdings, Inc.  
Fort Lauderdale, Florida  

   
We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Cyalume Technologies Holdings, Inc. (the “Company”) as of December 31, 
2013 and 2012 and the related consolidated statements of comprehensive loss, changes in stockholders’ equity, and cash flows for the years then 
ended. In connection with our audits of the financial statements, we have also audited the financial statement schedule listed in the 
accompanying index. These financial statements and schedule are the responsibility of the Company’s management. Our responsibility is to 
express an opinion on these financial statements and schedule based on our audits.  

   
We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States). Those standards 
require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material 
misstatement. The Company is not required to have, nor were we engaged to perform, an audit of its internal control over financial reporting. 
Our audits included consideration of internal control over financial reporting as a basis for designing audit procedures that are appropriate in the 
circumstances but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control over financial reporting. 
Accordingly, we express no such opinion. An audit also includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in 
the financial statements, assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the 
overall financial statement and schedule presentation. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.  

   
In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of Cyalume 
Technologies Holdings, Inc. at December 31, 2013 and 2012, and the results of its operations and its cash flows for the years ended December 
31, 2013 and 2012, in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America. Also in our opinion, the 
financial statement schedule, when considered in relation to the basic consolidated financial statements taken as a whole, presents fairly, in all 
material respects, the information set forth therein.  
   
The accompanying consolidated financial statements have been prepared assuming that the Company will continue as a going concern. As 
described in Note 1 to the consolidated financial statements, the Company has suffered recurring losses from operations and has a net capital 
deficiency that raise substantial doubt about its ability to continue as a going concern. Management’s plans in regard to these matters are also 
described in Note 1. The consolidated financial statements do not include any adjustments that might result from the outcome of this uncertainty. 
Our opinion is not modified with respect to this matter.  
   
/s/ BDO USA LLP  

   
Boston, Massachusetts  
April 15, 2014  
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Cyalume Technologies Holdings, Inc.  

Consolidated Balance Sheets  
(in thousands, except shares and per share information)  

   

   
  The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.  

   

  

    December 31,     December 31,   
    2013     2012   
Assets                 
Current assets:                 

Cash   $ 865     $ 2,695   
Accounts receivable, net of allowance for doubtful accounts of $44 and $155, respectively     3,788       3,875   
Inventories, net     10,782       9,597   
Income taxes refundable     163       173   
Deferred income taxes     3,847       652   
Prepaid expenses and other current assets     463       558   

Total current assets     19,908       17,550   
                  

Property, plant and equipment, net     8,001       9,177   
Goodwill     7,992       8,160   
Other intangible assets, net     17,948       20,190   
Due from related party, net     0       3,972   
Other noncurrent assets     465       28   

Total assets   $ 54,314     $ 59,077   

Liabilities and Stockholders’ Equity                 
Current liabilities:                 

Line of credit   $ 1,600     $ 0   
Current portion of notes payable     1,925       9,734   
Accounts payable     6,182       2,934   
Accrued expenses     2,059       2,583   
Deferred revenue     80       0   
Income taxes payable     97       0   
Current portion of capital lease obligation     15       14   
Derivatives liability     0       169   
Warrants liability     6,373       0   
Contingent legal obligation     3,986       0   
Other current liabilities     242       0   

Total current liabilities     22,559       15,434   
                  

Notes payable, net of current portion     14,969       8,394   
Note payable due to related parties     2,100       2,100   
Deferred income taxes     3,847       3,862   
Asset retirement obligation     194       184   
Capital lease obligation, net of current portion     7       22   
Contingent legal obligation, noncurrent     0       3,806   
Other noncurrent liabilities, net of current portion     79       0   

Total liabilities     43,755       33,802   
Commitments and contingencies (Note 18)                 
                  
Series A convertible preferred stock, $0.001 par value; 1,000,000 shares authorized; 123,077 shares issued 
and outstanding     4,055       0   
                  
Stockholders' equity:                 

Common stock, $0.001 par value; 100,000,000 shares authorized; 20,738,260 issued and outstanding     21       21   
Additional paid-in capital     102,575       105,990   
Accumulated deficit     (95,874 )     (80,221 ) 
Accumulated other comprehensive loss     (218 )     (515 ) 

Total stockholders’ equity     6,504       25,275   
Total liabilities and stockholders' equity   $ 54,314     $ 59,077   
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Cyalume Technologies Holdings, Inc.  

Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Loss  
(in thousands, except shares and per share information)  

   

   
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.  

   

  

    For the Year     For the Year   
    Ended     Ended   
    December 31,     December 31,   
    2013     2012   
Revenues   $ 31,760     $ 38,642   
Cost of revenues     17,957       21,530   
Gross profit     13,803       17,112   
                  
Other expenses (income):                 

Sales and marketing     4,903       5,515   
General and administrative     11,404       7,815   
Research and development     1,864       1,963   
Interest expense, net     2,310       2,219   
Interest expense – related party     297       19   
Amortization of intangible assets     1,796       1,858   
Uncollectible receivable – related party     3,862       0   
Impairment loss on intangible assets     875       281   
Impairment loss on goodwill     168       47,088   
Impairment loss on equipment     0       273   
Legal settlement     2,048       0   
Change in fair value of contingent consideration     242       3,380   
Change in fair value of warrants liability     525       0   
Loss on extinguishment of debt – related party     2,142       0   
Other expenses (income), net     58       (112 ) 

Total other expenses     32,494       70,299   
                  
Loss before income taxes     (18,691 )     (53,187 ) 
Benefit from income taxes     (3,038 )     (2,969 ) 
Net loss   $ (15,653 )   $ (50,218 ) 
                  
Other comprehensive income (loss), net of tax:                 

Foreign currency translation adjustments   $ 200     $ 108   
Unrealized gain on cash flow hedges, net of taxes of $(59) and $(45), respectively     97       73   

Other comprehensive income     297       181   
Comprehensive loss   $ (15,356 )   $ (50,037 ) 

                  
Net loss per common share:                 

Basic and diluted   $ (1.03 )   $ (2.76 ) 
                  

Weighted average shares used to compute net loss per common share:                 
Basic and diluted     20,714,531       18,205,586   
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Cyalume Technologies Holdings, Inc.  

Consolidated Statements of Changes in Stockholders' Equity  
(in thousands, except shares)  

   

   
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.  

   

  

    
Series A Convertible  

Preferred Stock     Common Stock     Additional           
Accumulated  

Other     Total   

    
Number  
of Shares     Amount     

Number  
of Shares     Amount     

Paid-In  
Capital     

Accumulated 
Deficit     

Comprehensive 
Loss     

Stockholders’
Equity   

Balance at December 31, 2011                     18,311,228     $ 18     $ 100,334     $ (30,003 )   $ (696 )   $ 69,653   
Share-based compensation                     0       0       503       0       0       503   
Repurchase and retirement of common stock                     (39,895 )     0       (139 )     0       0       (139 ) 
Shares issued - cashless option exercise                     260       0       0       0       0       0   
Effect of modification of warrant terms                     0       0       94       0       0       94   
Common stock issuance - payment of contingent 
consideration liability                     2,450,000       3       5,142       0       0       5,145   
Common stock issuance - litigation settlement                     22,500               56       0       0       56   
Reversal of forfeited restricted awards                     (5,833 )                     0       0       0   
Net loss                                             (50,218 )     0       (50,218 ) 
Other comprehensive income                     0       0       0       0       181       181   
Balance at December 31, 2012     0       0       20,738,260     $ 21     $ 105,990     $ (80,221 )   $ (515 )   $ 25,275   
Proceeds received from issuance of Series A 
convertible preferred stock     123,077       4,000       0       0       0       0       0       0   
Series A convertible preferred stock issuance 
costs     0       0       0       0       (647 )     -      0       (647 ) 
Dividends accrued on Series A convertible 
preferred stock     0       55       0       0       (55 )     0       0       (55 ) 
Deemed dividend on Series A convertible 
preferred stock     0       4,000       0       0       (4,000 )     0       0       (4,000 ) 
Excess of common warrant and preferred warrant 
fair value     0       (4,000 )     0       0       (1,553 )     0       0       (1,553 ) 
Warrants amended in connection with debt 
refinancing     0       0       0       0       0       0       0       0   
Fair value of amended related party note over note 
face value     0       0       0       0       2,067       0       0       2,067   
Share-based compensation     0       0       0       0       773       -      0       773   
Net loss     0       0       0       0       0       (15,653 )     0       (15,653 ) 
Other comprehensive income     0       0       0       0       0       0       297       297   
Balance at December 31, 2013     123,077     $ 4,055       20,738,260     $ 21     $ 102,575     $ (95,874 )   $ (218 )   $ 6,504   
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Cyalume Technologies Holdings, Inc.  

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows  
(in thousands)  

   

   
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.  

   

  

    For the Year     For the Year   
    Ended     Ended   
    December 31,     December 31,   
    2013     2012   
Cash flows from operating activities:                 

Net loss   $ (15,653 )   $ (50,218 ) 
Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash (used in) provided by operating activities:                 

Depreciation and amortization of property, plant and equipment     1,387       1,374   
Amortization     2,429       2,345   
Benefit from deferred income taxes     (3,328 )     (3,357 ) 
Share-based compensation expense     773       503   
Impairment loss on equipment     0       273   
Impairment loss on intangible assets     875       281   
Impairment loss on goodwill     168       47,088   
Change in fair value of contingent consideration     242       3,380   
Change in fair value of derivatives     (14 )     18   
Change in fair value of warrants liability     525       0   
Non-cash interest expense     159       0   
Legal settlement     2,038       0   
Uncollectible receivable – related party     3,862       0   
Loss on extinguishment of debt – related party     2,142       0   
Fair value of common stock issued     0       56   
Other non-cash expenses     127       15   
Changes in operating assets and liabilities:                 

Accounts receivable     212       (517 ) 
Inventories     (1,124 )     1,225   
Restricted cash     0       (159 ) 
Prepaid expenses and other current assets     12       61   
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities     2,115       1,263   
Accrued interest on note payable to related party     252       0   
Deferred revenue     80       0   
Income taxes payable     114       (131 ) 

Net cash (used in) provided by operating activities     (2,607 )     3,500   
                  
Cash flows from investing activities:                 

Purchases of long-lived assets     (1,183 )     (672 ) 
Proceeds from disposal of long-lived assets     18       0   

Net cash used in investing activities     (1,165 )     (672 ) 
                  

Cash flows from financing activities:                 
Net proceeds from line of credit     1,600       0   
Principal payments on notes payable     (2,621 )     (2,413 ) 
Principal payments on related party note payable     0       (250 ) 
Payments to reacquire and retire common stock     0       (139 ) 
Payments of debt issuance and deferred financing costs     (163 )     (309 ) 
Proceeds received from issuance of convertible preferred stock     4,000       0   
Payment of preferred stock issuance costs     (647 )     0   
Payment in connection with legal settlement agreement     (275 )     0   
Principal payments on capital lease obligations     (14 )     (37 ) 

Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities     1,880       (3,148 ) 
                  

Effect of exchange rate changes on cash     62       64   
Net decrease in cash     (1,830 )     (256 ) 
Cash, beginning of period     2,695       2,951   
Cash, end of period   $ 865     $ 2,695   

F- 6 



   
Cyalume Technologies Holdings, Inc.  

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements  
   

   
These consolidated financial statements and footnotes include the financial position and operations of Cyalume Technologies Holdings, Inc. 
(“Cyalume” or the “Company”), a holding company that is the sole shareholder of Cyalume Technologies, Inc. (“CTI”) and of Cyalume 
Specialty Products, Inc. (“CSP”). CTI is the sole shareholder of Cyalume Technologies, SAS (“CTSAS”), Cyalume Realty, Inc. (“CRI”) and 
Combat Training Solutions, Inc. (“CTS”). All significant intercompany accounts and transactions have been eliminated in consolidation.  
   
The Company’s primary focus is providing tactical and training solutions to the military of the U.S. and other countries through both 
products and services.  
   
CTI and CTSAS manufacture and sell chemiluminescent products and reflective and photoluminescent materials to military, ammunition, 
commercial and public safety markets. CTSAS is located in France and represents us in certain international markets, primarily Europe and 
the Middle East. CTI sells to customers in all other geographic markets. CTI’s and CTSAS’ business operations constitute the majority, 
based on revenues and assets, of our consolidated business operations.  
   
CSP manufactures and sells specialty chemical products to the defense, pharmaceutical, cosmetic and other markets. CSP’s operations are 
located in Bound Brook, New Jersey.  
   
CRI previously owned land located in Colorado Springs, Colorado. The land was transferred in connection with a 2013 legal settlement (see 
Note 18).  
   
CTS provides its customers with battlefield effects simulation products while its services include planning and implementing tactical 
training exercises simulating real-world experiences. These products allow military and law enforcement professionals to maintain 
operational readiness through safe, live training and hands-on situational exercises.  
   
Our business is managed and financial results are reported as one segment. The CEO, who is the chief operating decision maker, focuses on 
consolidated results to make strategic and tactical decisions. Our one operating segment consists of four reporting units: Chemical Light (the 
operations of CTI and CTSAS), Training (the operations of CTS), Specialty Products (the operations of CSP) and Other (the operations of 
CRI and the parent company Cyalume Technologies Holdings, Inc.).  
   
The Company’s consolidated financial statements have been prepared assuming the Company will continue as a going concern. For the 
years ended December 31, 2013 and 2012, the Company had net losses of approximately $15.7 million and $50.2 million, respectively, and 
used approximately $2.6 million of cash in its operations for the year ended December 31, 2013. The Company generated approximately 
$3.5 million in cash flow from operating activities for the year ended December 31, 2012. As of December 31, 2013 and 2012, the Company 
had an accumulated deficit of approximately $95.9 million and $80.2 million, respectively, and total stockholders’ equity of $6.5 million 
and $25.3 million, respectively. The Company’s unrestricted cash balance was approximately $0.9 million at December 31, 2013.  

   
Due to uncertainty about the Company’s ability to meet its current operating expenses and current obligations, in their report on our annual 
financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2013, the Company’s independent registered public accounting firm included an 
explanatory paragraph regarding the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern. The Company’s current liabilities include 
approximately $4.0 million relating to a contingent legal obligation (see Note 18).  

   
In light of the Company’s results of operations, management has been evaluating various possibilities including but not limited to 
refinancing or restructuring the Company’s debt, reducing or eliminating operating expenses, and raising additional capital through the 
issuance of common or preferred stock or securities convertible into common stock. These possibilities, to the extent available, may be on 
terms that result in significant dilution to the Company’s existing stockholders, may reduce the value of the stockholders’ investment in the 
Company or may impact the Company’s stock price.  

   
There can be no assurances that the Company will be successful in raising adequate additional financial support. If not, the Company will be 
required to reduce operations. The Company’s consolidated financial statements do not include any adjustments relating to the 
recoverability of assets and classification of assets and liabilities that might be necessary should the Company be unable to continue as a 
going concern.  
   

   
Reclassifications  

   
Certain prior year amounts have been reclassified to conform to the current year presentation.  

   
Foreign Operations  

   
The accounting records of our France-based subsidiary CTSAS are maintained in Euros, their local and functional currency. For 

  

1. BACKGROUND AND DESCRIPTION OF BUSINESS 

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 



consolidation, revenue and expense transactions are translated to U.S. dollars using the average exchange rate of the month in which the 
transaction took place. Assets and liabilities are translated to U.S. dollars using the exchange rate in effect as of the balance sheet date. 
Equity transactions are translated to U.S. dollars using the exchange rate in effect as of the date of the equity transaction. Translation gains 
and losses are reported as a component of accumulated other comprehensive income within stockholders’ equity. Gains and losses resulting 
from transactions which are denominated in other than the functional currency are reported as other income or loss in the statement of 
comprehensive income (loss) in the period the gain or loss occurred.  
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Comprehensive Loss  

   
Comprehensive loss accounts for changes in stockholders’ equity resulting from non-stockholder sources. All transactions that would cause 
comprehensive loss to differ from net loss have been recorded and disclosed and relate to (i) the translation of the accounting records of our 
France-based subsidiary CTSAS and (ii) the effective portion of activities designated as hedges for hedge accounting purposes.  

   
Use of Estimates  

   
The preparation of financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America requires 
us to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities, the disclosure of contingent assets and 
liabilities at the date of the consolidated financial statements and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting 
periods. Estimates are used when accounting for certain items such as reserves for inventory, accounts receivable and deferred tax assets; 
assessing the carrying value of intangible assets including goodwill; determining the useful lives of property, plant and equipment and 
intangible assets; determining asset retirement obligations; and determining the fair value of contingent consideration. Estimates are based 
on historical experience, where applicable, and assumptions that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances. Due to the inherent 
uncertainty involved with estimates, actual results may differ.  

   
Accounts Receivable  

   
Accounts receivable are recorded at the aggregate unpaid amount less any allowance for doubtful accounts. The allowance is based on 
historical bad debt experience and the specific identification of accounts deemed uncollectible. An account receivable’s delinquency status 
is determined based on its contractual terms. Interest is not charged on outstanding balances. Accounts are written off only when all methods 
of recovery have been exhausted. Credit risk is controlled through initial credit evaluations and approvals, credit limits, and monitoring 
procedures. Ongoing credit evaluations of customers are performed but do not require collateral to secure accounts receivable.  

   
Inventories  

   
Inventories are stated at the lower of cost (on a first-in first-out (“FIFO”) method) or net realizable value. The cost of inventory consists of 
raw material content, labor costs to produce the inventory and overhead costs incurred during production of the inventory. The Company 
periodically reviews the realizability of inventory. Provisions are recorded for potential obsolescence which requires management’s 
judgment. Conditions impacting the realizability of inventory could cause actual write-offs to be materially different than provisions for 
obsolescence.  

   
Property, Plant and Equipment  

   
Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost. Depreciation is computed under the straight-line method over the estimated useful lives of 
four to eight years for equipment and 30 years for buildings and improvements.  
   
Property, plant and equipment assets are reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying 
amount of the asset may not be recoverable. Such reviews are based on a comparison of the asset’s undiscounted cash flows to the recorded 
carrying value for the asset. If the asset’s recorded carrying value exceeds the sum of the undiscounted cash flows expected to result from 
the use and eventual disposition of the asset, the asset’s carrying value is written-down to its estimated fair value. To estimate that fair value, 
the Company uses the most appropriate valuation technique for the circumstances and for which sufficient data is available. Impairment 
charges, if any, are recorded in the period in which the impairment is determined. In the event of an impairment charge, the identifiable 
assets’ post-impairment carrying value will continue to be amortized or depreciated over their useful lives and be reviewed periodically for 
impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of the asset may not be recoverable.  
   
Goodwill  

   
Goodwill is deemed to have an indefinite life and accordingly, is not subject to amortization. Goodwill is subject to annual impairment 
reviews as of August 31, and, if conditions warrant, interim reviews based upon its estimated fair value. Impairment charges, if any, are 
recorded in the period in which the impairment is determined.  
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Intangible Assets  

   
Intangible assets include developed technologies and patents, customer relationships, non-compete agreements, trademarks and trade names, 
all of which are amortized over their estimated useful lives. The carrying amounts of amortizing intangible assets are reviewed for 
impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that those carrying amounts may not be recoverable and are also reviewed 
for impairment annually as of August 31.  

   
Costs incurred to register new patents or defend existing patents are capitalized, while costs to renew or extend the term of intangible assets 
are expensed when incurred. Costs incurred with third parties that are related to internally developing or successfully defending an 
intangible asset are capitalized as part of the intangible asset developed or defended and amortized over that asset’s remaining useful life. 
Such costs with third parties related to patent or trademark applications that are ultimately rejected by the relevant government authority are 
expensed upon rejection. The useful lives used for amortization of intangible assets are as follows:  

   

   

   

   
Debt Issuance and Deferred Financing Costs  

   
Costs paid to lenders to obtain financing are presented as discounts on the related debt and are amortized to interest expense over the term of 
the related financing, using the effective interest method (unless the financing is a line of credit, in which case the straight-line method is 
used). Such costs paid to third parties are presented as assets and are amortized to interest expense in the same manner as costs paid to 
lenders.  
   
Derivatives  

   
Derivatives are recorded at their fair value as of the balance sheet date. If a derivative qualifies for “hedge accounting” under U.S. GAAP 
and has been designated as a hedge by us, then the “effectively hedged” portion is recorded, as defined by U.S. GAAP, of changes in such 
derivatives’ fair value in accumulated other comprehensive loss, which is a component of our stockholders’ equity. The Company records 
(i) ineffectively hedged portions of such changes in fair value or (ii) changes in the fair value of derivatives not designated as a hedge in our 
consolidated statement of comprehensive income (loss) in the period the change occurred. On the consolidated statement of cash flows, cash 
flows from derivative instruments accounted for as cash flow hedges are classified in the same category as the cash flows from the items 
being hedged.  
   
Warrants Liability  

   
The Company uses fair values as determined by significant unobservable inputs. These estimated values are significant inputs into the 
Monte Carlo simulation method and the Black Scholes pricing model used to calculate the estimated fair value of common warrants and 
preferred warrants potentially settleable in cash, which are recorded as warrants liability. The estimated fair value of the common warrants 
and the preferred warrants are determined at each balance sheet date and the change in the estimated fair value of the warrants is reflected 
within the Company’s statements of comprehensive loss.   
   
Revenue Recognition  

   
Revenue from the sale of products or the providing of services is recognized when the earnings process is complete, the amount of 
recognizable revenue can be determined, the risks and rewards of ownership have transferred to the customer and collectability is reasonably 
assured. Depending on the terms of the individual sales arrangement with our customer, product sales are recognized at either the shipping 
point or upon receipt by the customer. Costs and related expenses to manufacture the products are recorded as costs of goods sold when the 
related revenue is recognized. Additionally, if the right of return is granted to the buyer in a product sale, revenue is deferred until enough 
historical customer data is available to reasonably estimate returns and related costs.   
   

  

    Useful lives   
Patents and developed technologies     (1)   
Purchased customer relationships     9 – 13 years   
Trademarks and trade names     (2)   
Non-compete agreements     5 years   

(1) Each patent has its own legal expiration date and, therefore, its own useful life. Generally, our patents’ legal lives begin when the 
related patent application is filed with the relevant government authority and ends 20 years thereafter. Amortization on patent costs 
begins when the relevant government authority approves the related patent. Patents that have been recorded as of December 31, 2013 
are expected to expire by 2033. 

(2) Trademarks and trade names of CTI are deemed to have a useful life of 15 years. CTI’s trademarks and trade names are subject to 
annual impairment reviews as of August 31, and, if conditions warrant, interim reviews based upon their estimated fair value. 
Impairment charges, if any, are recorded in the period in which the impairment is determined. 
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Two significant contracts provide for the sale of indefinite quantities of products at fixed per unit prices, subject to adjustment for certain 
economic factors. Revenue under these contracts is recognized when products ordered under the contracts are received by the customer. 
Whenever costs change, the pricing under these contracts is reviewed to determine whether they require the sale of products at a loss. To 
date, there are no loss contracts which would require the accrual of future losses in the current financial statements.  
   
Research and development services are provided for customers for which the Company earns payments that are contingent upon achieving a 
specific result (“milestones”). Upon achieving such milestones, revenue is recognized provided that the payment is (i) related to past 
performance, (ii) reasonable relative to all of the deliverables and payment terms within the arrangement with our customer, and (iii) 
nonrefundable. In 2013 and 2012, all of such payments received met these criteria.  

   
Taxes Collected from Customers  

   
Sales taxes collected from customers are not considered revenue and are included in accounts payable and accrued expenses until remitted to 
the taxing authorities.  

   
Shipping and Handling Costs  

   
Outbound shipping and handling costs are included in sales and marketing expenses in the accompanying consolidated statements of 
comprehensive income (loss). These costs were approximately $423,000 and $500,000 for the years ended December 31, 2013 and 2012, 
respectively.  

   
Advertising Costs  

   
Advertising costs are expensed as incurred and are included in sales and marketing expenses in the accompanying consolidated statements 
of comprehensive income (loss). Advertising expense was $215,000 and $135,000 for the years ended December 31, 2013 and 2012, 
respectively.  
   
Stock-Based Compensation  

   
Stock-based compensation is incurred related to awards of common stock, restricted common stock and options to employees and non-
employees. Those awards are measured at their fair value on the date the award is granted and are recognized in our consolidated financial 
statements over the period the grantee is required to provide services in exchange for the award. When recognized as an expense, the fair 
value of the award, less estimated forfeitures, is recognized on a straight-line basis over the award service period; if there is no such service 
period, then the entire fair value of the award is recognized as expense on the grant date.  

   
Income Taxes  

   
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are determined based on differences between financial reporting and tax bases of assets and liabilities and 
are measured using enacted tax rates and laws that will be in effect when the differences are expected to reverse. Deferred tax assets are 
recognized when, based upon available evidence, realization of the assets is more likely than not.  
   
In assessing the realization of long-term deferred income tax assets, it is considered whether it is more likely than not that the deferred 
income tax assets will be realized. The realization of deferred income tax assets depends upon future taxable income in years before net 
operating loss carryforwards expire. The recoverability of deferred income tax assets is evaluated on a quarterly basis. If the Company 
determines that it is more likely than not that deferred income tax assets will not be recovered, a valuation allowance is established against 
some or all deferred income tax assets.  

   
When tax returns are filed, it is highly certain that some positions taken would be sustained upon examination by the taxing authorities, 
while others are subject to uncertainty about the merits of the position taken or the amount of the position that would be ultimately 
sustained. The benefit of a tax position is recognized in the financial statements in the period during which, based on all available evidence, 
it is more likely than not that the position will be sustained upon examination, including the resolution of appeals or litigation processes, if 
any. Tax positions taken are not offset or aggregated with other positions. Tax positions that meet the more-likely-than-not recognition 
threshold are measured as the largest amount of tax benefit that is more than 50 percent likely of being realized upon settlement with the 
applicable taxing authority. The portion of the benefit associated with tax positions taken that exceeds the amount measured as described 
above, if such a position existed, is reflected as a liability for unrecognized tax benefits in the accompanying balance sheet along with any 
associated interest and penalties that would be payable to the taxing authorities upon examination. There were no such positions as of 
December 31, 2013 or 2012.  

   
Interest on tax deficiencies is classified as interest expense and income tax penalties are classified as other expense.    
   
In February 2012, an IRS audit was completed of the Company’s tax returns for the years 2008 and 2009. There were no adjustments to 
those tax returns. Tax returns filed for the fiscal years 2010, 2011, and 2012 are still open for audit.  
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Net Loss per Common Share  

   
Basic loss per common share is computed by dividing net loss by the weighted average number of common shares outstanding. Diluted loss 
per common share is computed by dividing net loss by the weighted average number of common shares and dilutive potential common share 
equivalents then outstanding. Potential common share equivalents consist of (i) shares issuable upon the exercise of warrants and options 
(using the “treasury stock” method), (ii) unvested restricted stock awards (using the “treasury stock” method) and (iii) shares issuable upon 
conversion of convertible notes using the “if-converted” method.  
   

    
The following potentially dilutive common share equivalents were excluded from the calculation of diluted net loss per common share 
because their effect was antidilutive for each of the periods presented:  

   

   
Fair Value  

   
Under U.S. GAAP, the Company is required to record certain financial assets and liabilities at fair value and may choose to record other 
financial assets and financial liabilities at fair value as well. Also under U.S. GAAP, the Company is required to record nonfinancial assets 
and liabilities at fair value due to events that may or may not recur in the future, such as an impairment event. When required to record such 
assets and liabilities at fair value, that fair value is estimated using an exit price, representing the amount that would be received to sell an 
asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market participants. That fair value is determined based on significant 
inputs contained in a fair value hierarchy as follows:  
   

   

   

   
The determination of where assets and liabilities fall within this hierarchy is based upon the lowest level of input that is significant to the fair 
value measurement.  
   

  

    Year Ended December 31,   
    2013     2012   
Basic and diluted:                 

Net loss (in thousands)   $ (15,653 )   $ (50,218 ) 
Accrued dividend and deemed dividend   $ (5,608 )   $ 0   
Weighted average shares     20,714,531       18,205,586   
Loss available to common stockholders for basic and diluted loss per common share (in 
thousands)     (21,261 )     (50,218 ) 
Basic and diluted loss per common share   $ (1.03 )   $ (2.76 ) 

    Year Ended December 31,   
    2013     2012   
Options and warrants     3,012,186       1,585,833   
Restricted stock awards     34,266       75,292   
Convertible notes payable     2,666,667       2,666,667   

Level 1 Quoted prices for identical assets or liabilities in active markets to which we have access at the measurement date. 

Level 2 Inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability, either directly or 
indirectly. 

Level 3 Unobservable inputs for the asset or liability. 
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There are three general valuation techniques that may be used to measure fair value, as described below:  

   

   
Recent Accounting Pronouncements  
   
The following are recent accounting pronouncements that have affected our consolidated financial statements or may affect them in the 
future.  
   
In October 2012, the FASB issued Accounting Standards Update No. 2012-04, Technical Corrections and Improvements (“ASU 2012-04”), 
which updates a wide range of topics in the FASB Codification. ASU 2012-04 includes technical corrections and improvements to FASB 
Codification and conforming amendments related to fair value measurements. ASU 2012-04 was effective for fiscal periods beginning after 
December 15, 2012. The adoption of ASU 2012-04 did not have a material impact on our financial position or results of operations.  

   
In July 2013, the FASB issued Accounting Standards Update No. 2013-11, Presentation of an Unrecognized Tax Benefit When a Net 
Operating Loss Carry-forward, a Similar Tax Loss, or a Tax Credit Carry-forward Exists (“ASU 2013-11”) to clarify that an unrecognized 
tax benefit, or a portion of an unrecognized tax benefit, should be presented in the financial statements as a reduction to a deferred tax asset 
for a net operating loss (“NOL”) carry-forward, a similar tax loss, or a tax credit carry-forward, with some allowed exceptions. ASU 2013-
11 does not impose any new recurring disclosure requirements because it does not affect the recognition or measurement of uncertain tax 
positions. ASU 2013-11 is effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2013. The Company believes the adoption of ASU 2013-
11 will not have a material impact on our financial position or results of operations.   
   

   
During 2013, CTS recorded a goodwill impairment loss of $168,000 and a loss on impairment of certain amortizable intangible assets of 
$875,000. During 2012, CTI recorded a $47.1 million loss on goodwill impairment, a $281,000 loss on impairment of certain amortizing 
intangible assets and a $273,000 loss on impairment of certain manufacturing equipment. See Note 7 for a summary of activity affecting 
goodwill during the years ending December 31, 2013 and 2012, respectively. The Chemical Light’s trade name intangible asset was not 
considered to be impaired as of August 31, 2013 or as of August 31, 2012. See Note 8 for a summary of activity affecting intangible assets 
during the years ending December 31, 2013 and 2012. See Note 23 for fair value information on these assets.  
   
During 2013, management conducted a review of tangible and intangible assets for impairment. Before assessing whether any of our 
reporting units’ goodwill was impaired, the Company first assessed whether any non-goodwill assets were impaired. This assessment 
determined that the CTS patent asset was impaired by approximately $174,000, CTS trademarks and trade names were impaired by 
approximately $17,000, CTS customer relationships intangibles were impaired by approximately $650,000 and CTS non-compete 
agreements were impaired by approximately $34,000. Therefore, the Company recorded $875,000 of an impairment loss on these CTS 
intangible assets during the second quarter of 2013.  
   
The “step 1” goodwill impairment assessment was performed by comparing the fair value of each reporting unit containing goodwill to 
those reporting units’ carrying values. The Chemical Light, Training, and Specialty Products reporting units have goodwill assets. Since 
there are no quoted market prices for our reporting units, the fair value of our reporting units were determined using a discounted present 
value  
technique utilizing each reporting unit’s forecasted after-tax cash flows. The “step 1” test determined that the carrying value of the CTS 
Training reporting unit exceeded its fair value, and, therefore, its goodwill needed to be tested further under what is commonly known as 
“step 2” of the goodwill impairment assessment. CTS did not pass the “step 1” test due to the inability to both gain traction with new 
products and services and attract new customers as initially planned when the reporting unit was acquired in December 2011.  
   
Under “step 2” of the goodwill impairment assessment, the implied fair value of CTS Training’s goodwill was compared with the carrying 
amount of that goodwill. If the carrying amount of the goodwill exceeds the implied fair value of that goodwill, that excess must be 
recognized as an impairment loss. The implied fair value of goodwill was determined in the same manner as the amount of goodwill 
recognized in a business combination. The excess of the fair value of the reporting unit over the amounts assigned to its assets and liabilities 
is the implied amount of the reporting unit’s goodwill. The Company identified several intangible assets that were valued during this 
process, including customer relationships, patents, trade names, non-compete agreements, and our workforce. The allocation process was 
performed only for purposes of goodwill impairment. The Company determined the fair value of these assets using various discounted cash 
flow-based methods that utilize assumptions such as the ability of these assets to generate future cash flows, present-value factors, income 

  

Market Approach Uses prices and other relevant information generated by market transactions involving identical or 
comparable assets or liabilities. Prices may be indicated by pricing guides, sale transactions, market 
trades, or other sources. 

    
Cost Approach Based on the amount that currently would be required to replace the service capacity of an asset 

(replacement cost). 
    

Income Approach Uses valuation techniques to convert future amounts to a single present amount based on current market 
expectations about the future amounts (includes present value techniques and option-pricing models). Net 
present value is an income approach where a stream of expected cash flows is discounted at an 
appropriate market interest rate. 

3. IMPAIRMENT CHARGES 



tax rates and customer attrition rates. The “step 1” calculated fair value of the CTS reporting unit was allocated to the CTS tangible and 
identifiable intangible assets of the CTS reporting unit at June 30, 2013 based upon the results of the “step 2” analysis, which included a full 
impairment to the CTS goodwill.  
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During 2012, before conducting its annual goodwill impairment assessment, the Company first assessed whether any non-goodwill assets 
were impaired because it was considered that such assets might be impaired due to declines in the Company’s stock price at that time and 
industry conditions discussed later in this Note 4. This assessment determined that the CTS Training’s patent asset was impaired $172,000, 
the CTS Training’s trade name asset was impaired $29,000 and the CTS non-compete agreement asset was impaired $80,000. Therefore, the 
Company recorded a $281,000 impairment loss on these intangible assets during 2012. This assessment also determined that one piece of 
Chemical Light’s manufacturing equipment with a carrying value of $273,000 had no value. Since the Company did not foresee using this 
equipment in the future, a $273,000 impairment loss was recognized during 2012 as well.  

   
The Company then assessed qualitative factors to determine whether it is more likely than not that the fair values of our reporting units that 
contain goodwill are less than their carrying value. In addition to these intangible asset impairments, the Company identified two factors, 
adverse changes in our stock price and adverse changes in industry/market considerations, that led the Company to conclude that it was 
more likely than not that the fair value was less than the carrying value. Beginning in April 2012, the Company’s share price began steadily 
dropping and was at a closing price of $2.34 on August 31, 2012.  

   
Regarding industry conditions, during the past several years, based on the success of the Chemical Light’s 40mm training round purchased 
by the U.S. Marine Corps that uses the Company’s chemical light technology, the Company believed that the volume of this product would 
grow when adopted by the U.S. Army. The Company completed production requirements under the Marine Corps contract, which expired in 
2012. It was learned in 2012 that the Marines Corps contract would not be extended. During the third quarter of 2012, the Company 
concluded that the U.S. Army would not be purchasing the product. Instead, it was understood that the U.S. military was planning for a new 
40mm training round that should be produced around 2015, and that this new round would likely not be based on chemical light technology. 
While that could change, it was believed at that time that it was more likely than not that the new round would not employ the Company’s 
chemical light technology. Consequently, these factors led the Company to significantly reduce its long-term revenue growth projected for 
its ammunition sector. Since the ammunition sector had previously been expected to be the largest contributor to the Company’s total 
revenues, the forecasted reduction resulted in a significant decrease in projected cash flows.  

   
The Company then performed what is commonly known as “step 1” of the goodwill impairment assessment by comparing the fair value of 
each reporting unit containing goodwill to those reporting units’ carrying values. Only the Chemical Light, CTS Training, and CSP 
Specialty Products reporting units have goodwill assets. Since there are no quoted market prices for our reporting units, the fair value of the 
Company’s reporting units were determined using a discounted present value technique utilizing each reporting unit’s forecasted after-tax 
cash flows. The “step 1” test determined that the carrying values of the CTS Training and the Chemical Light reporting units exceeded their 
fair values and therefore their goodwill needed to be tested further under what is commonly known as “step 2” of the goodwill impairment 
assessment.  

   
Under “step 2” of the goodwill impairment assessment, the implied fair value of Chemical Light’s and Training’s goodwill was compared 
with the carrying amount of that goodwill. If the carrying amount of the goodwill exceeds the implied fair value of that goodwill, that excess 
must be recognized as an impairment loss. The implied fair value of goodwill was determined in the same manner as the amount of goodwill 
recognized in a business combination is determined. The excess of the fair value of each reporting unit over the amounts assigned to its 
assets and liabilities is the implied amount of the reporting unit’s goodwill. The Company identified several intangible assets that were 
valued during this process, including technology, customer relationships, trade names, non-compete agreements, and our workforce. The 
allocation process was performed only for purposes of goodwill impairment. The Company determined the fair value of these assets using 
various discounted cash flow-based methods that utilize assumptions such as the ability of these assets to generate future cash flows, 
present-value factors, income tax rates and customer attrition rates. During the year ended December 31, 2012, the Company recorded 
approximately $47.1 million relating to the impairment of goodwill and approximately $281,000 relating to the impairment of intangible 
assets.  
   

   
Inventories, net consist of the following (all amounts in thousands):  

   

   

  

4. INVENTORIES 

    2013     2012   
Raw materials   $ 6,535     $ 6,255   
Work-in-process     2,185       1,530   
Finished goods     2,062       1,812   
    $ 10,782     $ 9,597   
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Prepaid expenses and other current assets consist of the following (all amounts in thousands):  

   

   

   
Property, plant and equipment consist of the following (all amounts in thousands):  

   

   
At December 31, 2013 and 2012, machinery and equipment includes approximately $77,000 of assets recorded under capital leases. 
Accumulated depreciation on those capital leases totaled approximately $20,000 and $9,000 as of December 31, 2013 and 2012, 
respectively. In 2013 and 2012, depreciation expense for those assets was $11,000 and $9,000, respectively.  

   

  

5. PREPAID EXPENSES AND OTHER CURRENT ASSETS 

    2013     2012   
Value added taxes receivable   $ 17     $ 53   
Franchise taxes receivable     0       32   
Prepaid expenses     312       322   
Debt issuance costs, current portion     53       136   
Other     81       15   
    $ 463     $ 558   

6. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 

    2013     2012   
Land   $ 1,285     $ 1,904   
Building and improvements     3,332       3,256   
Machinery and equipment     8,300       7,905   
Leasehold improvements     266       0   
Furniture and fixtures     122       69   
Software     59       0   
      13,364       13,134   
Less: accumulated depreciation and amortization     (5,363 )     (3,957 ) 
    $ 8,001     $ 9,177   
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Goodwill represents the excess of the cost of acquiring CTI and CTSAS in 2008 and CSP and CTS in 2011 over the net fair value assigned 
to the assets acquired and liabilities assumed in those acquisitions, net of adjustments and impairment losses. Changes in the carrying 
amount of goodwill consist of the following (all amounts in thousands):  
   

   
     

   

   
Intangible assets as of December 31, 2013 consist of the following (all amounts in thousands):  

   

   

   

  

7. GOODWILL 

    

CTI/CTSAS  
Chemical 

Light     
   

CTS Training     

   
   

CPS      

Total 
Consolidated  

Goodwill   
Balance on December 31, 2011   (1)   $ 51,244     $ 1,107     $ 2,978     $ 55,329   

Impairment loss  (see Notes 3 and 23)     (46,230 )     (858 )     0       (47,088 ) 
Adjustment to CTS goodwill due to the current period reduction of 
its deferred tax liability associated with the current period 
impairment of identified intangible assets     0       (183 )     0       (183 ) 
Finalization of the fair value determination of contingent 
consideration in the CTS acquisition (2)     0       166       0       166   
Finalization of the CTS acquisition-related deferred tax liability   
(2)     0       (64 )     0       (64 ) 

Balance on December 31, 2012 (3)     5,014       168     $ 2,978       8,160   
Impairment loss  (see Notes 3 and 23)     0       (168 )     0       (168 ) 

Balance on December 31, 2013 (4)   $ 5,014     $ 0     $ 2,978     $ 7,992   

(1) Gross amount of goodwill was approximately $67.8 million as of December 31, 2011. Accumulated impairment losses were $12.5 
million as of December 31, 2011. 

(2) On December 22, 2011, CTI entered into a Stock Purchase Agreement (“SPA”) with CTS and the sole stockholder of CTS. A portion of 
the consideration paid to the sellers of CTS is contingent upon the financial performance of the acquired business during the combined 
calendar years 2012 and 2013. The initial accounting for that contingent consideration liability was not complete as of December 31, 
2011 since the fair value determination of that liability had not yet been finalized. The finalization of this accounting during 2012 
resulted in a $166,000 increase in both CTS’ goodwill asset and contingent consideration liability. Additionally, the initial accounting 
for the CTS acquisition-related deferred tax liability had not yet been finalized as of December 31, 2011. The finalization of this 
accounting during 2012 resulted in a $64,000 decrease in both CTS’s goodwill asset and deferred tax liability. 

(3) Gross amount of goodwill was approximately $67.7 million as of December 31, 2012. Accumulated impairment losses were 
approximately $59.5 million as of December 31, 2012. 

(4) Gross amount of goodwill was approximately $67.7 million as of December 31, 2013. Accumulated impairment losses were 
approximately $59.7 million as of December 31, 2013. 

8. OTHER INTANGIBLE ASSETS 

    Cost     
Accumulated 
Amortization     Net Book Value   

Developed technologies, including patents (1)   $ 13,853     $ 5,720     $ 8,133   
Trademarks and trade names     5,365       119       5,246   
Purchased customer relationships (2)     8,812       4,336       4,476   
Non-compete agreements (3)     160       75       85   
Website development costs     8       0       8   
    $ 28,198     $ 10,250     $ 17,948   

(1) Includes a patent obtained in the acquisition of CSP with a cost of $50,000 that is expected to be fully amortized in August 2026. 
Patents obtained in the acquisition of CTS with an initial cost of $410,000 and a December 31, 2012 gross value of approximately 
$238,000 were impaired by approximately $221,000 during 2013 (see Note 3 Impairment Charges) and the $17,000 of CTS patents 
remaining after the impairment is expected to be fully amortized in December 2021. 

(2) Includes customer relationships obtained in the acquisition of CSP with a cost of $920,000 that is expected to be fully amortized in 
December 2019. Customer relationships obtained in the acquisition of CTS with a cost of $840,000 was impaired by approximately 
$780,000 (see Note 3 Impairment Charges) and the $60,000 of CTS customer relationships remaining after the impairment is expected 
to be fully amortized in December 2021. 

(3) Includes non-compete agreement obtained in the acquisition of CSP with a cost of $160,000 that is expected to be fully amortized in 
August 2016. Non-compete agreement obtained in the acquisition of CTS with an initial cost of $140,000 was determined to be fully 
impaired in 2013 (see Note 3 Impairment Charges). 
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In 2013 and 2012, some of these intangible assets were found to be impaired and their cost was reduced accordingly. See Note 3 and 24 for 
a discussion regarding these impairments.  
   
Intangible assets as of December 31, 2012 consist of the following (all amounts in thousands):  

   

   

   
Trademarks can be renewed without substantial cost. If trademark and trade names are not renewed, then expected future cash flows 
associated with trademarks and trade names could be adversely affected.  

   
Amortization of intangible assets was $1.8 million and $1.9 million for the years ended December 31, 2013 and 2012, respectively.  

   
During 2013, the Company capitalized $27,000 and $342,000 of costs paid to third parties to create or defend trademarks and patents, 
respectively. During 2012, the Company capitalized $3,000 and $292,000 of costs paid to third parties to create or defend trademarks and 
patents, respectively. The Company expects the patent-related costs to be amortized over approximately 20 years.  
   
The Company does not consider any intangible assets to have residual value.  

   
The future amortization expense relating to finite-lived intangible assets for the next five years and beyond is estimated at December 31, 
2013 to be (all amounts in thousands):  

   

   

  

    Cost     

Accumulated 
 

Amortization     Net Book Value   
Developed technologies, including patents (1)   $ 13,730     $ 4,755     $ 8,975   
Trademarks and trade names   (2)     5,401       37       5,364   
Purchased customer relationships (3)     9,507       3,811       5,696   
Non-compete agreements (4)     220       65       155   
    $ 28,858     $ 8,668     $ 20,190   

(1) Includes a patent obtained in the acquisition of CSP with a cost of $50,000 that is expected to be fully amortized in August 2026. Also 
includes patents obtained in the acquisition of CTS with an initial cost of $410,000 and a December 31, 2012 gross value of 
approximately $238,000 (see Note 3 Impairment Charges). 

(2) Includes a trade name obtained in the acquisition of CTS with an initial cost of $90,000 (see Note 3 Impairment Charges). 
(3) Includes customer relationships obtained in the acquisition of CSP with a cost of $920,000 that is expected to be fully amortized in 

December 2019. Also includes customer relationships obtained in the acquisition of CTS with a cost of $840,000 (see Note 3 
Impairment Charges). 

(4) Includes non-compete agreement obtained in the acquisition of CSP with a cost of $160,000 that is expected to be fully amortized in 
August 2016. Also includes non-compete agreement obtained in the acquisition of CTS with an initial cost of $140,000 (see Note 3 
Impairment Charges). 

Year Ending December 31,       
2014   $ 1,970   
2015     1,970   
2016     1,959   
2017     1,927   
2018     1,889   
Thereafter     7,011   
    $ 16,726   
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Debt issuance costs consist of unamortized costs paid to third parties to obtain senior debt, a line of credit, convertible notes and an amended 
related party note that will be amortized to interest expense using the effective interest method through 2015 and 2016. Amortization of 
capitalized debt issuance costs was approximately $113,000 and $119,000 for the years ended December 31, 2013 and 2012, respectively.  

   
The future amortization expense relating to current and noncurrent capitalized debt issuance costs is approximately $86,000 and will be 
amortized to interest expense using the effective interest method through 2016.  

   

   
Accrued expenses consist of the following (all amounts in thousands):  

   

   

   

   
The Company has a line of credit with a maximum borrowing capacity of $5.0 million with TD Bank N.A. (“TD Bank”). The amount which 
may be borrowed from this line of credit is dependent mainly on accounts receivable and inventory balances. Interest is payable monthly 
and is determined based on (i) the Prime Rate, plus 3%. The line of credit’s interest rate at December 31, 2013 was 6.25%. The line of credit 
expires on December 19, 2015. This line of credit is subject to (i) the same restrictive covenants and (ii) the same collateral and guarantees 
as the senior debt Term Loan and the senior debt Real Estate Loan (see Note 12). At December 31, 2013, $1.6 million was outstanding on 
this line of credit and borrowing availability was approximately $840,000 at December 31, 2013. At December 31, 2012, there were no 
outstanding borrowings on this line of credit.  

   
CTSAS has lines of credit with a combined maximum borrowing capacity of €800,000 ($1.1 million as of December 31, 2013), under which 
there were no outstanding borrowings at December 31, 2013 or 2012. The lines’ interest rates are variable, based on the Euro Overnight 
Index Average and the 3-month Euro Interbank Offered Rate. The lines are collateralized by primarily CTSAS accounts receivable. The 
lines have indefinite termination dates, but can be renegotiated periodically.  

   

   
Outstanding notes payable consist of (all amounts in thousands):  

   

   
Debt issuance costs are amortized to interest expense using the effective interest method over the life of the loan.  
   

  

9. DEBT ISSUANCE COSTS 

10. ACCRUED EXPENSES 

    2013     2012   
Payroll-related   (1)   $ 1,145     $ 1,817   
Interest     331       143   
Professional fees     26       178   
Related party payable – Selway Capital, LLC (2)     158       32   
Other     399       413   
    $ 2,059     $ 2,583   

(1) Accrued payroll-related costs as of December 31, 2013 include approximately $534,000 of accrued severance costs. Accrued payroll-
related costs as of December 31, 2012 include approximately $296,000 of accrued severance costs. 

(2) See Note 18 for a description of the agreement with Selway Capital, LLC. 

11. LINES OF CREDIT 

12. NOTES PAYABLE 

    2013     2012   
Senior Debt - Term Loan   $ 6,023     $ 8,519   
Senior Debt - Real Estate Loan     1,679       1,804   
Subordinated Term Loan     8,659       8,500   
Promissory Note Payable     1,075       0   
Total     17,436       18,823   
Less: Unamortized debt discount     (542 )     (695 ) 
Less: Current portion of notes payable, including current portion of unamortized debt discount     (1,925 )     (9,734 ) 
Notes payable, net of current portion   $ 14,969     $ 8,394   
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Senior Debt  

   
CTI has two loans payable to TD Bank, NA (“TD Bank”); a Term Loan and a Real Estate Loan, that were originally entered into on 
December 19, 2008, and which were amended twice during 2012 to modify certain financial and non-financial covenants required by these 
loans. The Fourth Amendment to the Amended and Restated Revolving Credit and Term Loan Agreement (the “Senior Amendment”) was 
entered into on November 19, 2013.  

   
The Term Loan is payable in monthly principal installments of $148,000 along with monthly interest payments as described below, plus a 
one-time principal payment of approximately $2.5 million due at maturity in December 2015.  
   
The Company compared the present value of the cash flows of the Term Loan and the Real Estate Loan, before the Senior Amendment on 
November 19, 2013, with the present value of the cash flows pursuant to the Senior Amendment. The Company determined that the cash 
flow effect on a present value basis was less than 10 percent on the date of the Senior Amendment. Therefore, for accounting purposes, the 
Senior Amendment was treated as a modification of the Term Loan and the Real Estate Loan and approximately $90,000 was expensed 
relating to debt modification costs.  

   
Interest payments on 60% of the Term Loan’s principal balance were previously hedged using a pay-fixed, receive-variable interest rate 
swap to reduce exposure to changes in cash payments caused by changes in interest rates on the Term Loan. See Note 16 for details on the 
interest rate swap. Interest on the 60% interest rate-swapped portion of the Term Loan was payable monthly and determined based on 1-
month LIBOR, plus a margin percentage that is based on financial performance. The total interest rate on the swapped portion of the Term 
Loan was changed from 6.53% to 6.25% on December 19, 2013 and was 6.53% at December 31, 2012. Interest on the remaining 40% of the 
Term Loan was also payable monthly and was determined based on 1-month LIBOR (subject to a 2% interest rate floor) plus a margin 
percentage that was based on financial performance. At December 31, 2013 and 2012, the total interest rate on the portion of the Term Loan 
that was not subject to an interest rate hedging relationship was at 6.25% and 6.0%, respectively. The Term Loan is collateralized by all of 
the assets of CTI (except CTI’s equity interests in CTSAS, of which only 65% is collateral of the Term Loan) and is guaranteed by 
Cyalume. The Term Loan requires various restrictive financial and nonfinancial covenants, such as a maximum leverage ratio, debt service 
coverage ratio and limitations on capital expenditures and dividends, with which we are in compliance as of December 31, 2013.  

   
The Real Estate Loan is payable in monthly principal installments of approximately $10,000, along with monthly interest payments as 
described below, plus a one-time principal payment of $1.4 million due at maturity in December 2015.  
   
Interest payments on the Real Estate Loan principal balance were hedged using a pay-fixed, receive-variable interest rate swap to reduce 
exposure to changes in cash payments caused by changes in interest rates on the Real Estate Loan. See Note 16 for details on the interest 
rate swap. Interest is payable monthly and is determined based on 1-month LIBOR plus a margin percentage that was based on financial 
performance. The Real Estate Loan’s total interest rate was changed from 6.42% to 6.25% on December 19, 2013 and was 6.42% at 
December 31, 2012. The Real Estate Loan is secured by a mortgage of the real property (land and building) located in West Springfield, 
MA, and is guaranteed by Cyalume. The Real Estate Loan requires various restrictive financial and nonfinancial covenants, such as a 
maximum leverage ratio, debt service coverage ratio and limitations on capital expenditures and dividends, with which the Company is in 
compliance with as of December 31, 2013.  

   
The TD Bank line of credit (see Note 11), the Term Loan and the Real Estate Loan are senior in payment priority to all other notes payable 
and lines of credit.  

   
Subordinated Term Loan  

   
On July 29, 2010 the Subordinated Term Loan of $8.5 million was issued to Granite Creek Partners Agent, LLC (“Granite Creek”) and on 
November 19, 2013, the Company entered into a Fourth Amendment to the Subordinated Term Loan (the “Subordinated Amendment”) 
which extended the maturity date to June 30, 2016. Pursuant to the Subordinated Amendment, interest is payable in kind through December 
19, 2015 and then payable monthly in cash through the June 30, 2016 maturity date. Interest is payable monthly at a rate of 11% per annum. 
No principal payments are required until maturity. The Company has the right to prepay the loan in whole or in part at any time without 
penalty in the event that the TD Bank Senior Debt is repaid. The Subordinated Term Loan ranks junior to all debt held by TD Bank, N.A. 
but senior to all other remaining long-term debt including existing and future subordinated debt. The Subordinated Term Loan is convertible 
at any time by Granite Creek into 2,666,667 shares of common stock at a conversion price of approximately $3.19 per share. No portion of 
the Subordinated Term Loan has been converted to our common stock. The Company’s common stock’s closing market price on December 
31, 2013 was $0.69 per share; therefore the loan’s if-converted value of approximately $1.8 million is less than the unpaid principal balance 
by $6.8 million as of December 31, 2013. The Company previously determined that the convertible notes’ conversion feature was not a 
beneficial conversion feature under U.S. GAAP.  
   
The Company compared the present value of the cash flows of the Subordinated Term Loan, before the Subordinated Amendment on 
November 19, 2013, with the present value of the cash flows pursuant to the Subordinated Amendment. The Company determined that the 
cash flow effect on a present value basis was less than 10 percent on the date of the Subordinated Amendment. Therefore, for accounting 
purposes, the Subordinated Amendment was treated as a modification of the Subordinated Term Loan.  
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Simultaneous with the issuance of the Subordinated Term Loan during 2010, the Company issued warrants to repay certain costs of 
obtaining the convertible notes. These warrants allowed the holder to purchase 160,000 shares of common stock at $1.50 per share through 
July 19, 2018. A portion of the $8.5 million gross proceeds from the issuance of the loan was allocated to the warrants based on the relative 
fair values of the debt instrument without the warrants and of the warrants themselves at time of issuance. The portion of the proceeds so 
allocated to the warrants ($207,000) was recorded as a debt discount and an increase to additional paid-in capital on our consolidated 
balance sheet. The warrant’s fair value was increased by $94,000 in 2012 due to (i) a decrease in the exercise price of the warrants and (ii) 
an extension of the term of the warrant. The warrants were amended again during 2013 in connection with the Senior Amendment described 
above. An additional amount of approximately $241,000 was added to debt discount and warrant liability during 2013 relating to (i) another 
decrease in the exercise price of the warrants to $0.01, (ii) an extension of the term of the warrants, and (iii) an increase to the number of 
shares of common stock that may be purchased upon exercise of the warrants to 455,514 shares of common stock that may be purchased. 
The debt discount is being amortized to interest expense using the effective interest method over the life of the convertible notes which have 
a maturity date of June 30, 2016. As a result of the amendment to the warrants, the warrants are no longer indexed to the Company’s stock, 
are considered a derivative and therefore, are being accounted for as a liability.  
   
The carrying value of the Subordinated Term Loan is as follows (all amounts in thousands):  

   

   
Interest costs for the Subordinated Term Loan are as follows (all amounts in thousands):  

   

   
The effective interest rate on the Subordinated Term loan was approximately 17% prior to the Subordinated Amendment, at which time the 
effective interest rate on the Subordinated Term loan became approximately 13%.  

   
Promissory Note Payable  

   
On November 19, 2013, the Company entered into a legal settlement agreement (see Note 18). The executed settlement agreement calls for 
the Company to make a series of payments over five years to Antonio Colon in the amount of $215,000 annually, for a total of $1,075,000 
pursuant to the Promissory Note executed on November 19, 2013 (the “Promissory Note”). This Promissory Note bears interest at a rate of 
2% annually and requires principal and interest payments each May and November. The Promissory Note has a maturity date of October 15, 
2018.  
   
Future Minimum Payments  

   
As of December 31, 2013, future minimum payments due for notes payable (excluding the related party Amended JFC Note as discussed in 
Note 13) for each of the five succeeding years and beyond are as follows (all amounts in thousands):  

   

   
Amortization of the debt discount was approximately $520,000 and $368,000 for the years ended December 31, 2013 and 2012, 
respectively.  
   

  

    2013     2012   
Principal amount of loan   $ 8,659     $ 8,500   
Less: unamortized debt discount     (424 )     (622 ) 
    $ 8,235     $ 7,878   

    2013     2012   
Contractual interest coupon rate   $ 949     $ 951   
Amortization of related debt discount and debt issuance costs     486       308   
 Total interest expense recognized   $ 1,435     $ 1,259   

Year Ending December 31,       
2014   $ 2,116   
2015     6,016   
2016     8,874   
2017     215   
2018     215   
Thereafter     0   
    $ 17,436   
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Financing Arrangements with Related Parties  

   
In December 2012, the Company entered into a $2,100,000 unsecured promissory note with JFC Technologies, LLC (“JFC”), an entity 
controlled by an employee of CSP who is an owner of a significant amount of the Company’s common shares and is a board member. On 
November 19, 2013, the unsecured promissory note was amended (the “Amended JFC Note”). Pursuant to the Amended JFC Note, interest 
accrues on the principal amount at the rate of 12% per annum, retroactive to the date of the original note. The entire principal amount and all 
accrued interest under the Amended JFC Note is due on the maturity date of December 31, 2016, or upon the refinancing of the Company’s 
existing indebtedness (subject to the availability of at least $5,000,000 in available credit after such repayment). Pursuant to the Amended 
JFC Note, up to $1.0 million of the principal amount is convertible, at the option of JFC, into the number of shares of Series A Preferred 
Stock equal to the portion of the principal amount being converted divided by the conversion price of $32.50 per share (subject to 
adjustment based on certain changes in capitalization affecting the Series A Preferred Stock). In addition, upon conversion of the first 
$499,980 of Amended JFC Note principal, JFC would receive: (1) warrants to purchase for each $6.50 of principal amount converted, ten 
shares of the Company’s common stock, and (2) warrants to purchase for each $32.50 of principal amount converted, one share of Series A 
Preferred Stock. For the avoidance of doubt, JFC shall not be entitled to receive any warrants upon conversion of any portion of the 
principal amount in excess of $499,980 in the aggregate.  
   
In connection with the Amended JFC Note, the Company recorded a loss on the extinguishment of the original JFC Note of approximately 
$2.1 million as included within “Loss on extinguishment of debt – related party” within the accompanying consolidated statements of 
comprehensive loss.  
   
On November 19, 2013, the Company also issued a warrant to JFC to purchase up to 73,009 shares of the Company’s common stock. These 
warrants have an exercise price of $0.01 and expire on November 19, 2023. The fair value of this warrant was calculated using the Black-
Scholes pricing model and approximately $54,000 is included within “Warrants liability” within the accompanying consolidated balance 
sheet as of December 31, 2013. Since the warrant is not indexed to the Company’s stock, it is considered a derivative and therefore, is being 
accounted for as a liability.  

   
Agreement with Board Member  

   
On October 1, 2009, the Company entered into an agreement with Selway Capital, LLC (“Selway”) that provides for services to be 
performed by Selway on our behalf. The agreement stipulates that these services would be performed by Yaron Eitan, an employee of 
Selway and a member of our Board of Directors, with assistance, as needed, from other employees of Selway. See Note 18, Commitments 
and Contingencies, for a description of the Selway agreement.  
   
Other Related Party Transactions  

   
CSP leases property in Bound Brook, New Jersey, from Brook Industrial Park, LLC, an entity that is controlled by an employee of CSP who 
is also an owner of a significant amount of our common shares and is one of our board members. See Note 18 for a description of this lease. 
This same related party and his wife collectively own 50% of China Development Group LLC. CSP previously engaged China Development 
Group LLC to source a pharmaceutical product sold by CSP, and paid commissions to China Development Group LLC during 2012 in 
compensation for such services. There were no commissions paid by CSP to China Development Group LLC in 2013. The amount of such 
commissions paid to China Development Group LLC in 2012 was approximately $310,000.  
   

  

13. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 
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Pursuant to an Amendment Agreement executed during December 2012, the Company is required to issue 350,000 shares of the Company’s 
common stock to JFC since the Company’s December 2013 common stock closing price was less than $1.75. The Company’s closing price 
on December 31, 2013 was $0.69 and therefore, the Company has recorded $242,000 within other current liabilities within the 
accompanying consolidated balance sheets as of December 31, 2013 and the shares were issued to JFC on January 31, 2014. The Company 
assessed the fair value as of December 31, 2012 of this potential obligation to issue additional shares at that time. The fair value was not 
material as of December 31, 2012 and therefore, no obligation was recorded at December 31, 2012.  

   

   
As of December 31, 2013, future minimum lease payments under capital leases together with the present value of the net minimum lease 
payments were as follows (all amounts in thousands):  

   

   

   
The components of income (loss) before income taxes are as follows:  

   

   
Benefit from income taxes consisted of the following (all amounts in thousands):  

   

   
Deferred income taxes reflect the net tax effects of temporary differences between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities for financial 
reporting purposes and the amounts used for income tax purposes. The primary sources of these differences relate to the carrying value of 
identified intangible assets, inventories, fixed assets, certain accruals and reserves.  

   

  

14. CAPITAL LEASE OBLIGATIONS 

Year Ending December 31,       
2014   $ 17   
2015     7   
2016     0   
2017     0   
2018     0   
Thereafter     0   
Total minimum lease payments     24   
Less: amount representing interest     (2 ) 
Present value of net minimum lease payments   $ 22   

15. INCOME TAXES 

    Year Ended December 31,   
    2013     2012   
Domestic   $ (18,866 )   $ (54,153 ) 
Foreign     175       966   
    $ (18,691 )   $ (53,187 ) 

    Year Ended December 31,   
    2013     2012   
Current:                 

Federal   $ 0     $ 0   
State     160       0   
Foreign     130       388   

Deferred:                 
Federal     (2,678 )     (2,556 ) 
State     (595 )     (738 ) 
Foreign     (55 )     (63 ) 

Benefit from income taxes   $ (3,038 )   $ (2,969 ) 
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Deferred income tax assets and liabilities consist of the following (all amounts in thousands):  

   

   
Principal components of our net asset representing deferred income tax balances are as follows (all amounts in thousands):  

   

   

   

   
Income taxes computed using the federal statutory income tax rate differs from our effective tax rate primarily due to the following (all 
amounts in thousands):  

   

   

  

    December 31, 2013     December 31, 2012   
    Current     Non-current     Current     Non-current   
Deferred tax assets:                                 

Federal   $ 6,329     $ 7,230     $ 1,390     $ 8,256   
State     886       868       563       786   
Foreign     34       20       36       16   
Less: valuation allowance     (2,747 )     (3,175 )     (689 )     (3,185 ) 

      4,502       4,943       1,300       5,873   
Deferred tax liabilities:                                 

Federal     (477 )     (6,615 )     (469 )     (7,311 ) 
State     (124 )     (1,697 )     (122 )     (1,886 ) 
Foreign     (54 )     (478 )     (57 )     (538 ) 

      (655 )     (8,790 )     (648 )     (9,735 ) 
Deferred tax assets (liabilities)   $ 3,847     $ (3,847 )   $ 652     $ (3,862 ) 

    Year Ended December 31,   
    2013     2012   
Intangible assets   $ (3,778 )   $ (3,408 ) 
Property, plant and equipment     (740 )     (752 ) 
U.S. loss carryforwards and tax credits, net (1)     8974       4,703   
Subsidiary income (2)     (1,671 )     (1,459 ) 
Stock-based compensation expense     968       725   
Reserves, accruals and other     1,292       805   
Change in warrants fair value     877       0   
Valuation allowance     (5,922 )     (3,874 ) 
Interest rate swaps     0       50   
    $ 0     $ (3,210 ) 

(1) The Company had federal net operating loss carryforwards amounting to approximately $13.3 million and $2.0 million at December 31, 
2013 and 2012, respectively. The net operating loss carryforward at December 31, 2013 expires in fiscal years 2025 through 2033. 
Internal Revenue Code Section 382 limits utilization of these losses to $3.2 million per year. It is possible that future changes in 
ownership could result in changes to the amounts allowed by IRC Section 382. State net operating loss carryforwards amounted to 
approximately $2.0 million and $1.0 million as of December 31, 2013 and 2012, respectively. 

(2) A deferred tax liability has been recorded for income taxes which may become payable upon distribution of earnings of CTSAS, our 
French subsidiary. The estimated amount of tax that might be payable with regard to any distribution for foreign subsidiary earnings is 
reported net of foreign taxes paid, which are creditable against our domestic tax liability. We do not permanently reinvest our foreign 
subsidiary’s earnings. The Company continually evaluates our assertion; if our foreign business needs change, so may our assertion. 

    Year Ended December 31,   
    2013     2012   
Provision for federal income taxes expected at 34% statutory rate   $ (6,355 )   $ (18,083 ) 
Increase (reduction) resulting from:                 

Tax on global activities     2       38   
State income taxes, less federal income tax benefit     (287 )     (518 ) 
Exempt interest     728       0   
Change in valuation allowance     3,507       0   
Goodwill impairment loss     57       15,615   
Prior year true up     (715 )     (33 ) 
Other     25       12   

Benefit from income taxes   $ (3,038 )   $ (2,969 ) 
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Derivatives held by us as of December 31, 2013 consist of the following (all amounts in thousands):  

   

   
Derivatives held by us as of December 31, 2012 consist of the following (all amounts in thousands):  

   

   
Currency Forward Contracts  

   
CTSAS’ functional currency is the Euro. Periodically, CTSAS purchases inventory from CTI, which requires payment in U.S. dollars. 
Beginning in 2009, and only under certain circumstances, the Company utilizes currency forward contracts to mitigate CTSAS’ exposure to 
changes in the Euro-to-U.S. dollar exchange rate upon payment of these inventory purchases. Such currency forward contracts typically 
have durations of less than six months. These currency forward contracts are reported at their fair value. This relationship has not been 
designated as a hedge and therefore all changes in these currency forward contracts’ fair value are recorded in other income, net within the 
accompanying consolidated statements of comprehensive loss. The Company held one such currency forward at December 31, 2012. See 
Note 23 for a description of how the Company estimates the fair value of these contracts.  

   
Interest Rate Swaps  

   
In December 2008, the Company entered into two pay-fixed, receive-variable, interest rate swaps to reduce exposure to changes in cash 
payments caused by changes in interest rates on the Term Loan and the Real Estate Loan. Both relationships are designated as cash flow 
hedges and meet the criteria for the shortcut method for assessing hedge effectiveness; therefore, the hedge is assumed to be 100% effective 
and all changes in the fair value of the interest rate swaps are recorded in comprehensive income (loss). See Note 20 for a description of 
changes in accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) due to derivatives and hedging activities. Such changes were due to unrealized 
gains and losses on the interest rate swaps. These unrealized gains and losses must be reclassified in whole or in part into earnings if, and 
when, a comparison of the swap(s) and the related hedged cash flows demonstrates that the shortcut method is no longer applicable. These 
hedges met the criteria of the shortcut method for the duration of the hedging relationship, which ended on December 19, 2013, and 
therefore, the Company will not reclassify any portion of these unrealized losses from accumulated other comprehensive loss to earnings in 
the future. See Note 23 for a description of how the fair value of these swaps was estimated.  
   
Effect of Derivatives on Statements of Comprehensive Loss  

   
The effect of derivative instruments (a) designated as cash flow hedges and (b) not designated as hedging instruments on our consolidated 
statement of comprehensive loss for year ended December 31, 2013 was as follows (all amounts in thousands):  

   

   

   

  

16. DERIVATIVE INSTRUMENTS AND HEDGING ACTIVITIES 

Derivative Instrument   Balance Sheet Location   Fair Value   
Currency forward contracts   Derivatives liability (current liabilities)   $ 0   
Interest rate swaps   Derivatives liability (current liabilities)     0   

Derivative Instrument   Balance Sheet Location   Fair Value   
Currency forward contracts   Prepaid expenses and other current assets   $ (14 ) 
Interest rate swaps   Derivatives liability (noncurrent liabilities)     (155 ) 

    Gain (Loss)     Gain (Loss)     Gain (Loss)   
    In AOCL (1)     Reclassified (2)     in Earnings (3)   
Derivatives designated as cash flow hedges:                         

Interest rate swaps, net of taxes of $(59)   $ 97     $ 0     $ 0   
Derivatives not designated as hedging instruments:                         

Currency forward contracts   $ 0     $ 0     $ 0   

(1) Amount recognized in accumulated other comprehensive loss (AOCL) (effective portion and net of taxes) during 2013. 
(2) Amount of gain (loss) originally recorded in AOCL but reclassified from AOCL into earnings during 2013. 
(3) Amount of gain (loss) recognized in earnings on the derivative (ineffective portion and amount excluded from effectiveness testing) 

reported in other income, net during 2013. 
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The effect of derivative instruments (a) designated as cash flow hedges and (b) not designated as hedging instruments on our consolidated 
statement of comprehensive loss for year ended December 31, 2012 was as follows (all amounts in thousands):  

   

   

   

   
The Company has an obligation to remediate certain known occurrences of asbestos at our manufacturing facility in West Springfield, 
Massachusetts. The significant assumptions used to estimate the obligation are:  

   

   
The following is a reconciliation of the beginning and ending aggregate carrying amounts of the asset retirement obligation for the years 
ended December 31, 2013 and 2012 (all amounts in thousands):  

   

   

   
Accretion expense on the asset retirement obligation is included in general and administrative expenses in the accompanying consolidated 
statements of comprehensive loss.  

   

  

    Gain (Loss)     Gain (Loss)     Gain (Loss)   
    In AOCL (1)     Reclassified (2)     in Earnings (3)   
Derivatives designated as cash flow hedges:                         

Interest rate swaps, net of taxes of $(45)   $ 73     $ 0     $ 0   
Derivatives not designated as hedging instruments:                         

Currency forward contracts   $ 0     $ 0     $ (18 ) 

(1) Amount recognized in accumulated other comprehensive loss (AOCL) (effective portion and net of taxes) during 2012. 
(2) Amount of gain (loss) originally recorded in AOCL but reclassified from AOCL into earnings during 2012. 
(3) Amount of gain (loss) recognized in earnings on the derivative (ineffective portion and amount excluded from effectiveness testing) 

reported in other income, net during 2012. 

17. ASSET RETIREMENT OBLIGATION 

Annual inflation rate     5.54 % 
Credit-adjusted risk-free rate     5.37 % 
Initial estimated remediation costs (undiscounted and not adjusted for inflation)     $200,000 ($41,000 paid in 2007)   
Estimated remediation completion date     December 19, 2038   
Estimated remediation cost on December 19, 2038   $ 720,000   

    Year Ended December 31,   
    2013     2012   
Balance, beginning   $ 184     $ 175   
Accretion expense     10       9   
Balance, ending   $ 194 (1)   $ 184   

(1) The difference between the $194,000 liability as of December 31, 2013 and the estimated undiscounted future payments of $720,000 is 
estimated inflation between December 31, 2013 and December 19, 2038. 
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Operating Leases  

   
The Company leases certain equipment, automobiles and other assets under cancelable and non-cancelable operating leases. Expenses 
associated with these leases totaled $638,000 and $439,000 in 2013 and 2012, respectively.  

   
Included in these leases is a market-based, related-party lease which CSP assumed in conjunction with the business combination. CSP 
entered into the lease with an entity controlled by one of our stockholders for industrial-use property located in Bound Brook, New Jersey, 
U.S.A. The lease ends on August 31, 2016, with extension options available, and requires lease payments of $24,000 per month from 
September 1, 2011 through August 31, 2013. The monthly lease payment was adjusted to $30,000 per month beginning September 1, 2013 
to reflect the changes of average cost per square foot as reported by Newmark Knight and Frank in their 2nd Quarter 2013 New Jersey 
Industrial Market Report, Average Asking Rate for Somerset County.  

   
Future minimum lease payments under non-cancelable lease obligations at December 31, 2013 are as follows (all amounts in thousands):  

   

   
Legal  

   
Civil Action No. 06-706 in Superior Court of the Commonwealth of Massachusetts  

   
On January 23, 2006, before the Company owned CTI, the former owners of CTI (from whom CTI was purchased) (the “Former Owners”) 
acquired all of the outstanding capital stock of Omniglow Corporation (the “Transaction”) and changed the name of the company to 
Cyalume Technologies, Inc. Prior to, or substantially simultaneously with, the Transaction, CTI sold certain assets and liabilities related to 
Omniglow Corporation’s novelty and retail business to certain former Omniglow Corporation stockholders and management (“the 
Omniglow Buyers”). This was done because CTI sought to retain only the Omniglow Corporation assets and current liabilities associated 
with its government, military and safety business. During 2006, CTI and the Omniglow Buyers commenced litigation and arbitration 
proceedings against one another. Claims include breaches of a lease and breaches of various other agreements between CTI and the 
Omniglow Buyers. These proceedings are known as Civil Action No. 06-706 in Superior Court of the Commonwealth of Massachusetts (the 
“Court”).  

   
On December 19, 2008, while Civil Action 06-706 was still unresolved, the Company acquired CTI (the “Acquisition”). According to the 
Stock Purchase Agreement between the Former Owners and the Company, the Former Owners retained the responsibility for paying for all 
costs and liabilities associated with Civil Action No. 06-706.  

   
On July 18, 2011, CTI received an Order for Entry of Final Judgment in Civil Action No. 06-706 in which the Court awarded approximately 
$2.6 million in damages to Omniglow, LLC. Prejudgment interest at the rate of twelve (12%) percent per annum since the filing of the 
complaint in 2006 accrues on approximately $1.3 million of the damages. The Court also awarded Omniglow, LLC reimbursement of 
attorney fees and costs of approximately $235,000, on which interest at the rate of twelve (12%) percent per annum accrues beginning with 
the date of the final ruling.  

   
On July 12, 2012, the Court issued an Amended Final Judgment and, on September 20, 2012, a Final Judgment. There were no changes to 
the previously described damage awards. In response, on October 17, 2012, the Company filed a Notice of Appeal and on August 2, 2013, 
the Company filed a Formal Appeal, which contains a number of bases for overturning the awards. Oral arguments were made by the parties 
before the Appellate Court during January of 2014. The Company can not determine when a decision will be rendered. The Company holds 
625,139 shares of the Company’s common stock in escrow which may be applied against any damages up to the value of the shares upon 
conversion to cash.  

   

  

18. COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES 

Year Ending December 31,       
2014   $ 687   
2015     628   
2016     483   
2017     238   
2018     59   
Thereafter     0   
    $ 2,095   
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The Company has appealed the final judgment and previously recorded a contingent legal obligation in the full amount of the final ruling 
(now approximately $4.0 million). Since the Former Owners (i) retained the responsibility for paying the costs and liabilities associated with 
Civil Action No. 06-706 and (ii) are related parties under U.S. GAAP due to their ownership interest in us and their membership on our 
board of directors, the Company previously recorded approximately $4.3 million, which includes the $3.6 million contingent legal 
obligation and other costs incurred while litigating Civil Action No. 06-706, within due from related party, net on the consolidated balance 
sheet as of September 30, 2013. The due from related party, net was offset by an allowance of approximately $3.7 million as of September 
30, 2013, which was recorded on the provision for uncollectible receivable – related party line item on the Company’s consolidated 
statement of comprehensive loss. On November 19, 2013, a Release and Escrow Agreement was executed whereby the Company released 
affiliates of the Former Owners from being obligated on the costs and liabilities associated with Civil Action No. 06-706 in exchange for 
625,139 shares of Cyalume stock placed in escrow (the “Escrowed Shares”). The Escrowed Shares provide the Company with a source of 
recovery with respect to any loss, liability or expenses incurred by the Company in connection with Civil Action No. 06-706. The Company 
reflected the value of the 625,139 Escrowed Shares at December 31, 2013 based upon the close price of Cyalume’s stock on December 31, 
2013. The December 31, 2013 value of the Escrowed Shares is included within the other assets line item and approximately $4.0 million is 
included within the contingent legal obligation line item on the Company’s consolidated balance sheet as of December 31, 2013.  
   
Demand for Arbitration by Former Employee  
   
On December 22, 2011, CTI entered into a Stock Purchase Agreement (“SPA”) with Combat Training Solutions, Inc. (“CTS”) and Antonio 
Colon, the sole stockholder of CTS. Pursuant to the SPA, CTI purchased all of the issued and outstanding capital stock of CTS in return for 
consideration that included contingent consideration ranging from $0 to $5.75 million , which is based on CTS’ financial performance 
during the period of December 22, 2011 through December 31, 2013 (the “Measurement Period”). The SPA also contains provisions that if 
Mr. Colon is terminated without cause during the Measurement Period, then the maximum potential contingent consideration amount of 
$5.75 million becomes payable to Mr. Colon on the first business day after January 1, 2014.  

   
On June 15, 2012, the Company received a copy of a demand for arbitration filed by Mr. Colon with the American Arbitration Association. 
The demand alleges, among other things, that CTI has constructively terminated Mr. Colon’s employment without cause and that Cyalume 
and CTI have breached certain provisions of the SPA. Mr. Colon seeks, among other things, payment of the maximum potential contingent 
consideration amount of $5.75 million, payment of salary, wages, bonuses and benefits pursuant to Mr. Colon’s employment agreement 
with CTI, and reimbursement of his attorneys’ fees and costs related to this matter. Management considered the allegations by Mr. Colon to 
be without merit and therefore no accrual was previously recorded for this matter.  

   
On August 17, 2012, Mr. Colon filed suit in Federal Court and on September 11, 2012, he filed to have the arbitration withdrawn. In 
addition, on September 11, 2012, Mr. Colon chose to cease working for the Company.  

   
CTI filed a Motion to Dismiss the Complaint in Federal Court and to compel the controversy to arbitration before the American Arbitration 
Association. The District Court for the District of Delaware held a hearing on January 23, 2013, at which it dismissed the Complaint in 
Federal Court without prejudice and indicated that the arbitration should proceed. On September 23, 2013, the parties entered into an 
agreement to resolve this matter, and a settlement agreement was signed on November 19, 2013. The executed settlement agreement calls 
for the Company to make a series of payments over five years to Mr. Colon in the amount of $215,000 annually, for a total of $1,075,000 
pursuant to the Promissory Note executed on November 19, 2013. The Company also made a settlement payment of $275,000 on November 
20, 2013 and transferred the land located in Colorado (this land was originally acquired by CTI in connection with the 2011 CTS 
acquisition) to JasperCo, LLC pursuant to the terms of the executed settlement agreement with Antonio Colon. The total legal settlement 
amount recorded in the Company’s accompanying consolidated statement of comprehensive loss for the twelve months ended December 31, 
2013 incurred in connection with settling the matter described above was approximately $2.0 million and is comprised of the following: 
approximately $631,000 relating to the Colorado land transfer, approximately $63,000 accrued in connection for the tax burden incurred by 
JasperCo, LLC for the transfer of the Colorado land, a Promissory Note for $1,075,000 payable over five years and approximately $275,000 
paid on November 20, 2013 in connection with the execution of the settlement agreement.  
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Agreement with Board Member  

   
On October 1, 2009, the Company entered into an agreement with Selway Capital, LLC (“Selway”) that provides for (but is not limited to) 
the following services to be performed by Selway on the Company’s behalf:  

   

   
The agreement stipulates that these services would be performed by Yaron Eitan, an employee of Selway and a member of the Company’s 
Board of Directors, with assistance, as needed, from other employees of Selway. The agreement, which expired on October 1, 2012, was 
extended through December 31, 2013 and will terminate on March 31, 2014. Per the amendment to extend the agreement, Selway’s 
compensation for these services was reduced from $21,000 per month to $11,000 per month effective January 1, 2014. Selway is reimbursed 
for costs incurred specifically on the Company’s behalf for these services. Included within accrued expenses at December 31, 2013 is 
approximately $158,000 relating to Selway fees which are expected to be settled in shares of the Company’s common stock during 2014.  
   

   
Convertible Preferred Stock  

   
The Company is authorized to issue 1,000,000 shares of preferred stock with such designations, voting and other rights and preferences as 
may be determined from time to time by our Board of Directors.  
   
On November 19, 2013, the Company entered into a Securities Purchase Agreement (the “Purchase Agreement”) with US VC Partners, L.P. 
(the “Investor”) for the purchase by the Investor of 123,077 units of securities of the Company for an aggregate purchase price of $4.0 
million (or $32.50 per unit). Each security issued is comprised of: 1) one share of Series A Convertible Preferred Stock of the Company, at a 
par value of $0.001 per share (the “Series A Preferred Stock”); 2) one common stock warrant ( the “Common Warrant”); and 3) one 
preferred stock warrant (the “Preferred Warrant”).  
   
Since the Common Warrant and the Preferred Warrant are not indexed to the Company’s stock, they are derivatives and therefore, are being 
accounted for as a liability.  
   
Upon voluntary or involuntary liquidation, dissolution or winding up of the Company, each holder of Series A Preferred Stock is entitled to 
a liquidation preference of $32.50 per share, plus any accrued but unpaid dividends, subject to customary adjustments as set forth in the 
Certificate of Designation (the “Liquidation Value”).  
   
Each share of Series A Preferred Stock may be converted at any time at the option of the holder into a number of shares of common stock 
initially equal to 50 shares of common stock, determined by dividing the Liquidation Value per share of Series A Preferred Stock by the 
applicable conversion price per share of Series A Preferred Stock. The initial conversion price shall equal $0.65, subject to customary 
adjustments, including for any accrued but unpaid dividends and pursuant to certain anti-dilution provisions. The Series A Preferred Stock is 
not subject to mandatory conversion at any time.  

   
Dividends on the Series A Preferred Stock accrue (payable in cash or in kind), whether or not declared by the Board and whether or not 
funds are available for the payment of dividends, at a rate of 12% per annum on the sum of the liquidation preference plus all accrued and 
accumulated dividends and will be payable quarterly in arrears in a) cash or b) newly issued shares of Series A Preferred Stock having an 
aggregate liquidation preference equal to the amount of such accrued dividends (“PIK Dividends”) at the option of the Company. All 
accrued and accumulated dividends on the convertible preferred stock shall be paid prior to and in preference to any other class of securities 
of the Company.  
   
Each share of Series A Preferred Stock will be entitled to a number of votes equal to the number of shares of common stock into which such 
share is convertible and shall be entitled to vote with holders of outstanding shares of common stock, voting together as a single class, with 
respect to any and all matters presented to the stockholders of the Company for their action or consideration.  
   
The requisite holders of the Series A Preferred Stock will have the right to cause the Company to redeem, out of funds legally available, all 
but not less than all of the then outstanding shares of Series A Preferred Stock, for a price per share equal to the Liquidation Value of such 
shares from and after the fifth anniversary of the closing date of the Purchase Agreement. Additionally, the Company will have the right to 
redeem all of the outstanding shares of Series A Preferred Stock from and after the eighth anniversary of the closing date of the Purchase 
Agreement at a redemption price equal to the Liquidation Value. As a result of the redemption provisions, the Series A Preferred Stock has 
been classified outside of permanent equity.  
   

  

• Strategic development and implementation as well as consultation to the chief executive officer on a regular basis as per his 
reasonable requests; 

• Identifying strategic partners with companies with which Selway has relationships and access. In this connection, Selway will 
focus on building partnerships with companies in Israel, Singapore, India and Europe. The focus will be on the expansion of our 
munitions business; 

• Advise and support the Company’s investor relations strategy; 
• Advise and support future fund raising, including identifying sources of capital in the United States; and 
• Support the Company’s mergers and acquisitions strategy and play an active role in due diligence and analysis. 

19. PREFERRED STOCK 
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Common and Preferred Warrants  

   
In connection with the Series A Preferred Stock issued on November 19, 2013, the Company also issued a Common Warrant for the 
purchase of up to 6,153,830 shares of common stock at an exercise price of $0.65 per share. The estimated fair value of the Common 
Warrants is determined at each balance sheet date and the change in the estimated fair value of the Common Warrant is reflected within the 
“Change in fair value of warrants liability” within the accompanying statements of comprehensive loss.  
   
The fair value as of December 31, 2013 of the Common Warrant is estimated using the Monte Carlo simulation method with the following 
inputs:  
   

   
   
In connection with the Series A Preferred Stock issued on November 19, 2013, the Company also issued a Preferred Warrant for the 
purchase of up to 123,077 shares of Series A Preferred Stock with an exercise price of $0.05 per share. The estimated fair value of the 
Preferred Warrant is determined at each balance sheet date and the change in the estimated fair value of the Preferred Warrant is reflected 
within the “Change in fair value of warrants liability” within the accompanying statements of comprehensive loss.  
   
The fair value as December 31, 2013 of the Preferred Warrant is estimated using the Black-Scholes pricing model with the following inputs: 
   

   
The change in the fair value of the warrants liability during the year ended December 31, 2013 is as follows (amounts in thousands):  

   

   

   
Common Stock  

   
The Company is authorized to issue 100,000,000 shares of common stock. Common stockholders are entitled to one vote for each share held 
of record on all matters to be voted on by stockholders. Common stockholders have no conversion, preemptive or other subscription rights 
and there are no sinking fund or redemption provisions applicable to the common stock.  

   
Common Stock Purchase Warrants  
   
Common stock purchase warrants accounted for within equity are recorded at their initial fair value and reported in stockholders’ equity as 
increases to additional paid-in capital. Warrants reported as equity, rather than liabilities (i) may not be net-cash settled, (ii) the warrant 
contract limits the number of shares to be delivered in a net-share settlement and (iii) the Company has sufficient unissued common shares 
available to settle outstanding warrants. Subsequent changes in fair value from the warrants’ initial fair value are not recognized as long as 
the warrants continue to merit classification as equity.   

  

    
Common 
Warrant   

Stock price of underlying equity   $ 0.69   
Exercise price   $ 0.65   
Expected volatility (standard deviation)     100 % 
Annual risk-free rate     3.04 % 
Expected term (time to expiration years)     9.9   
Number of periods     514   
Period interval     0.019   
Period risk-free rate     0.058 % 
Number of simulations     500,000   

    Preferred Warrant   
Stock price of underlying equity   $ 32.50   
Exercise price   $ 0.05   
Expected term (years)     1.7   
Risk-free interest rate     0.13 % 
Estimated dividend yield     None   
Volatility     70 % 

    
Common  
Warrant     

Preferred  
Warrant     

JFC 
Warrant  

(see Note 13)     

Subordinated 
Term Loan 
Warrants 

(see Note 12)     

Total 
Warrant  
Liability   

Warrant liability at December 31, 2012   $ 0     $ 0     $ 0     $ 0     $ 0   
Fair value recorded on the November 19, 2013 transaction date     3,556       1,997       54       241       5.848   
Change in fair value of warrants     525       0       0       0       525   
Warrant liability at December 31, 2013   $ 4,081     $ 1,997     $ 54     $ 241     $ 6,373   

20. STOCKHOLDERS’  EQUITY 
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At December 31, 2012, warrants to purchase 160,000 shares of the Company’s common stock issued in conjunction with the Subordinated 
Term Loan were outstanding (see Note 12). These warrants were amended again during 2013 in connection with the Senior Amendment 
described in Note 12. An additional amount of approximately $199,000 was added to debt discount and warrant liability during 2013 
relating to (i) another decrease in the exercise price of the warrants to $0.01, (ii) an extension of the term of the warrants, and (iii) an 
increase to the number of shares of common stock that may be purchased upon exercise of the warrants to 455,514 shares of common stock 
that may be purchased. As of December 31, 2013, warrants to purchase 455,514 shares of the Company’s common stock issued relating to 
the Subordinated Term Loan were outstanding.  
   
Warrants to purchase the Company’s common stock were outstanding as follows as of December 31, 2013:  

   

   
Share-Based Compensation  

   
On March 3, 2009, our Board of Directors adopted the Cyalume Technologies Holdings, Inc. 2009 Omnibus Securities and Incentive Plan 
(the “Plan”). The Plan was approved during our Annual Meeting of Stockholders on June 18, 2009. The purpose of the Plan is to benefit 
stockholders by assisting us in attracting, retaining and providing incentives to key management employees and non-employee directors of, 
and non-employee consultants to, Cyalume Technologies Holdings, Inc. and its subsidiaries, and to align the interests of such employees, 
non-employee directors and non-employee consultants with those of stockholders. Accordingly, the Plan provides for the granting of 
Distribution Equivalent Rights, Incentive Stock Options, Non-Qualified Stock Options, Performance Share Awards, Performance Unit 
Awards, Restricted Stock Awards, Stock Appreciation Rights, Tandem Stock Appreciation Rights, Unrestricted Stock Awards or any 
combination of the foregoing, as may be best suited to the circumstances of the particular employee, director or consultant as provided 
herein. Under the Plan, we are authorized to issue up to 2.0 million shares of common stock, increased by the Board of Directors to 2.65 
million in December 2012, which was approved by the stockholders at the 2013 Annual Meeting of Stockholders. As of December 31, 2013, 
848,666 shares were available for future awards under the Plan. Awards under the Plan can impose various service periods and other terms 
upon the awardee; however, the maximum term of options or similar instruments granted under the Plan is ten years.  

   
Share-based awards are also issued that are not under the Plan. In September 2012, the Company awarded options to purchase our common 
stock to our Chief Operating Officer as part of his employment compensation. These options were not awarded under the Plan. Also in 
September 2012, the Company awarded options to purchase our common stock to East Shore Ventures, LLC as part of compensation for 
Chief Executive Officer services provided by East Shore Ventures, LLC’s owner and employee. These options were also not awarded under 
the Plan. Because East Shore Ventures, LLC is not considered to be an employee under U.S. GAAP rules for accounting for share-based 
payments, the Company must estimate the fair value of these options every reporting period and adjust the related compensation cost 
accordingly. These two awards are included in the section titled “Stock Option and Warrant Awards” below.  

   
During the years ended December 31, 2013 and 2012, total expense recorded for share-based compensation was approximately $773,000 
and $503,000, respectively. The following presents how share-based expenses are included in our consolidated statements of comprehensive 
loss (in thousands):  

   

   
The Company does not currently possess any treasury shares; therefore any issuance of stock for any share-based compensation award is 
expected to be from new shares.  

   
Stock Option and Warrant Awards  

   
The Black-Scholes pricing model is used to value all stock options and warrants awarded as share-based compensation. The expected term 
of the options and warrants awarded under share-based compensation arrangements individually is estimated based on the estimated term of 
the award, the exercise price of the award, the estimated risk-free interest rate over the award’s estimated term, estimated annual dividend 
yield, and the estimated volatility of the price of our common stock over the award’s estimated term. Risk-free interest rate assumptions are 
based on U.S. Treasury securities issued with maturities similar to the expected terms of the awards. In September 2012, the Company 

  

Warrant Holder   

Number of  
Shares  

Exercisable  
Under Warrant     

Exercise  
Price     Expiration Date 

US VC Partners, L.P.     6,153,850     $ 0.65     November 19, 2023 
JFC Technologies LLC     73,009       0.01     November 19, 2023 
Granite Creek FlexCap I, L.P.     267,950       0.01     November 19, 2023 
Patriot Capital II, L.P.     187,564       0.01     November 19, 2023 

    Year Ended December 31,   
    2013     2012   

Cost of revenues   $ 9     $ 12   
Sales and marketing     44       (12 ) 
General and administrative     621       387   
Research and development     99       116   
    $ 773     $ 503   



began estimating the future volatility of the price of our common stock using historical daily prices of our common stock; before September 
2012, since our common stock had insufficient trading history to estimate future price volatility, volatility was using historical data of 
another public company operating in our industry.  
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The fair value of each award is estimated on the date of grant using the Black-Scholes pricing model with the following assumptions for 
awards to employees and non-employees:  

   

   
Stock options and warrants awarded as of December 31, 2012 will generally vest in zero to 5 years. Options awarded to executive officers 
and other management typically are earned based on meeting Board-determined or CEO-determined performance goals unique to each 
award recipient and require continued employment over the vesting period. Options awarded to members of the Board of Directors typically 
vest on the grant date. Options and warrants awarded typically expire 10 years after the grant date.  
   
Stock option and warrant activity related to share-based compensation is summarized as follows:  

   

   

   
The following table summarizes information about stock options and warrants related to stock-based compensation that (i) are not subject to 
performance conditions and (ii) are vested or are expected to vest as of December 31, 2013:  

   

   

   

  

    2013     2012   
Expected term (years)     5.0 – 6.5       5.0 – 6.5   
Risk-free interest rate     1.10 – 1.70 %     .73 – 1.43 % 
Estimated dividend yield     None       None   
Volatility     126.71 – 130.08 %     26.45 – 128.16 % 

    
Shares  

(in thousands)     
Weighted Average 

Exercise Price   
Outstanding at December 31, 2011     1,166       3.44   

Granted   (1)     1,708       1.60   
Exercised   (2)     (5 )     3.65   
Forfeited     (24 )     3.71   
Expired     (3 )     3.80   

Outstanding at December 31, 2012     2,842       2.33   
Granted   (3)     708       1.79   
Exercised     0       -  
Forfeited     (255 )     2.02   
Expired     (283 )     3.78   

Outstanding at December 31, 2013     3,012       2.09   
Exercisable at December 31, 2013     1,321     $ 2.76   

(1) The weighted-average grant-date fair value of awards granted was $1.33. 
(2) The intrinsic value of awards exercised was $1,000. These options were exercised on a cashless basis, therefore no cash was received at 

exercise. The tax benefit realized from this exercise was insignificant. 
(3) The weighted-average grant-date fair value of awards granted was $1.61. 

                  Options Outstanding     Options Exercisable   
                  Weighted                     
                  Average     Weighted           Weighted   
            Number     Remaining     Average     Number     Average   

Range of     Outstanding     Contractual     Exercise     Exercisable     Exercise   
Exercise Prices     (in thousands)     Term (Years)     Price     (in thousands)     Price   

$ 0.00     $ 2.00       2,212       8.30     $ 1.57       545     $ 1.69   
  2.01       4.00       675       6.18       3.34       668       3.33   
  4.01       6.00       125       6.94       4.61       108       4.61   
                  3,012 (1)     7.77     $ 2.09       1,321 (2)   $ 2.76   

(1) The aggregate intrinsic value of these stock options and warrants is $0 as of December 31, 2013. 
(2) The aggregate intrinsic value of these stock options and warrants is $0 as of December 31, 2013. The weighted-average remaining 

contractual term for these options is 6.45 years as of December 31, 2013. 
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As of December 31, 2013, there was approximately $1,773,000 of unrecognized compensation cost related to nonvested option awards 
which is expected to be recognized over a weighted-average period of 3.68 years.  
   
Restricted Stock  

   
The Company values stock awards at the closing market price of the underlying shares on the trading day previous to the grant date, 
adjusted for expected forfeitures.  
   
Nonvested restricted common stock related to stock-based compensation is summarized as follows:  

   

   

   
As of December 31, 2012, there was $52,000 of unrecognized compensation cost related to nonvested stock awards which was recognized 
in 2013.  

   
Accumulated Other Comprehensive Loss  

   
The ending accumulated balances for each item in accumulated other comprehensive loss are as follows (all amounts in thousands):  

   

   
Changes in accumulated other comprehensive loss due to derivative instruments and hedging activities are as follows (all amounts in 
thousands):  

   

   

  

    
Shares  

(in thousands)     

Weighted  
Average Grant 
Date Fair Value   

Outstanding at December 31, 2011     277       3.88   
Granted     29       2.66   
Vested (1)     (129 )     3.53   
Forfeited     (141 )     3.98   

Outstanding at December 31, 2012     36 (3)   $ 3.76   
Granted     0       -  
Vested (2)     (36 )     3.76   
Forfeited     0       -  

Outstanding at December 31, 2013     0     $ -  

(1) The total fair value of restricted common stock awards that vested during 2012 was $364,000. 
(2) The total fair value of restricted common stock awards that vested during 2013 was $45,000. 
(3) These stock awards vested upon fulfilling service conditions. 

    Year Ended December 31,   
    2013     2012   

Foreign currency translation loss   $ (218 )   $ (418 ) 
Unrealized gain on cash flow hedges, net of taxes     0       (97 ) 
    $ (218 )   $ (515 ) 

Balance, December 31, 2011   $ (170 ) 
Unrealized gain on interest rate swaps, net of taxes of $(45)     73   
Balance, December 31, 2012     (97 ) 
Unrealized gain on cash flow hedges, net of taxes of $(59)     97   
Balance, December 31, 2013   $ 0   
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Changes in accumulated other comprehensive loss due to currency translation adjustments (all amounts in thousands):  

   

   

   
The CTI Employee Savings and Retirement Plan (the “ESRP”), is intended to be qualified under Section 401(k) of the Internal Revenue 
Code. Employees of CTI, CTS and CSP who have reached the age of 18 are eligible for participation on the first entry date after three 
months of service. Entry dates are the first day of January, April, July and October. Employees may defer receiving compensation up to the 
maximum amount permitted under the Internal Revenue Code. Matching contributions to the ESRP equal (i) 3% of employee compensation 
plus (ii) 50% of the next 2% of employee compensation. For the years ended December 31, 2013 and 2012, employer matching 
contributions were $263,000 and $242,000, respectively.  

   
French law requires companies within France (such as CTSAS) to pay its workers a benefit, based on various factors, when an employee 
becomes 65 years old.  The Company estimated the present value of such a liability for employees at CTSAS and approximately $79,000 
has been recorded for this obligation as of December 31, 2013.  

   

   
Sales Concentrations  

   
In 2013, approximately 23% of the Company’s revenue was received from one customer. In 2012, approximately 40% of the Company 
revenue was received from two customers.   
   
Geographic Concentrations  

   
The Company sells to customers located in the United States of America and in international markets. Revenues to customers outside the 
United States represent 32% and 28% of net revenues for the years ended December 31, 2013 and 2012, respectively. Revenues from 
customers in the United Kingdom represented 5% and 9% of our 2013 and 2012 revenues, respectively.  

   
CTSAS’ operations are our only operations outside the United States of America. CTSAS’ net assets were approximately $5,245,000 and 
$6,278,000 as of December 31, 2013 and 2012, respectively.  

   
Concentrations of Credit Risk Arising from Financial Instruments  

   
As of December 31, 2013, three customers combined represented 47% of gross accounts receivable and no other customer owed more than 
10% of gross accounts receivable. All of these accounts receivable were collected in full in the first quarter of 2014. As of December 31, 
2012, three customers combined represented 39% of gross accounts receivable and no other customer owed more than 10% of gross 
accounts receivable.   
   
The Company maintains cash in several different financial institutions in amounts that typically exceed U.S. federally insured limits and in 
financial institutions in international jurisdictions where insurance is not provided. The Company has not experienced any losses in such 
accounts and the Company believes it is not exposed to significant credit risk. All cash maintained in U.S. non-interest bearing cash 
accounts were fully insured at December 31, 2012 due to a temporary federal program in effect from December 31, 2010 through December 
31, 2012. Under the program, there is no limit to the amount of insurance for eligible accounts. Beginning in 2013, insurance coverage 
reverted to $250,000 per depositor at each financial institution and the cash balances exceed federally-insured limits by approximately 
$90,000. As of December 31, 2013, cash in non-U.S. bank accounts that were not insured by a federal government totaled approximately 
$328,000.  

   

  

Balance, December 31, 2011   $ (526 ) 
Adjustments due to translation of CTSAS financial statements from Euros into U.S. Dollars     108   
Balance, December 31, 2012     (418 ) 
Adjustments due to translation of CTSAS financial statements from Euros into U.S. Dollars     200   
Balance, December 31, 2013   $ (218 ) 

21. EMPLOYEE BENEFIT PLANS 

22. CONCENTRATIONS 
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Assets and Liabilities Measured at Fair Value on a Recurring Basis  

   
Assets and liabilities itemized below were measured at fair value on a recurring basis at December 31, 2013:  

   

   

   

   

   
Assets and liabilities itemized below were measured at fair value on a recurring basis at December 31, 2012:  

   

   

   

   

  

23. FAIR VALUES OF ASSETS AND LIABILITIES 

    

Level 1  
Quoted  
Prices in  
Active  

Markets  
for  

Identical  
Assets     

Level 2  
Significant  

Other  
Observable  

Inputs     

Level 3  
Significant  

Unobservable  
Inputs     

Assets/  
(Liabilities)  

At Fair  
Value   

Interest rate swaps (see Note 16)   (1)   $ 0     $ 0       0     $ 0   
Currency forward contracts (see Note 16) (2)     0       0       0       0   
Warrants (see Note 19) (3)     0       0       (6,373 )     (6,373 ) 
    $ 0     $ (0 )   $ (6,373 )   $ (6,373 ) 

(1) The fair values of the swaps are determined by discounting the estimated cash flows to be received and paid due to the swaps over the 
swap’s contractual lives using an estimated risk-free interest rate for each swap settlement date (an income approach). 

(2) The fair value of these contracts is determined by multiplying the notional amount of the contract by the difference between (a) the U.S. 
dollar amount due on the contract at maturity and (b) the foreign exchange rate as of the date the contract is valued (the balance sheet 
date). Because the contracts typically have a short duration, the value is not discounted using a present value technique (an income 
approach). 

(3) The Company has classified its warrants liability which could be potentially settled in cash within Level 3 because the fair values are 
determined using significant unobservable inputs into the Black-Scholes pricing model. 

    

Level 1  
Quoted  
Prices in  
Active  

Markets  
for  

Identical  
Assets     

Level 2  
Significant  

Other  
Observable  

Inputs     

Level 3  
Significant  

Unobservable 
Inputs     

Assets/  
(Liabilities)  

At Fair  
Value   

Interest rate swaps (see Note 16)   (1)     0     $ (155 )     0     $ (155 ) 
Currency forward contracts (see Note 16) (2)     0       (14 )     0       (14 ) 
    $ 0     $ (169 )   $ 0     $ (169 ) 

(1) The fair values of the swaps are determined by discounting the estimated cash flows to be received and paid due to the swaps over the 
swap’s contractual lives using an estimated risk-free interest rate for each swap settlement date (an income approach). 

(2) The fair value of these contracts is determined by multiplying the notional amount of the contract by the difference between (a) the U.S. 
dollar amount due on the contract at maturity and (b) the foreign exchange rate as of the date the contract is valued (the balance sheet 
date). Because the contracts typically have a short duration, the value is not discounted using a present value technique (an income 
approach). 
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The tables below presents reconciliations for all assets and liabilities measured at fair value on a recurring basis using significant 
unobservable inputs (Level 3) for the years ended December 31, 2013 and 2012:  

   

   

   
The Company has other financial instruments, such as cash, accounts receivable, due from related party, accounts payable, notes payable 
and line of credit. The Company believes the carrying amounts of those assets and liabilities approximate their fair value since those 
carrying amounts have been estimated to approximate the exit price which would be received to sell these assets or pay to transfer these 
liabilities to a market participant. See Note 2 for a discussion of our accounting policy regarding fair value.  

   
Assets and Liabilities Measured at Fair Value on a Nonrecurring Basis  

   
During the year ended December 31, 2013, the following assets, all of which are Level 3 assets, were identified as impaired and were 
adjusted to their fair values (in thousands of dollars) (see also Note 3):  
   

   
During the year ended December 31, 2012, the following assets, all of which are Level 3 assets, were identified as impaired and were 
adjusted to their fair values (in thousands of dollars) (see also Note 3):  

   

   

   

   

  

    Year Ended December 31,   
    2013     2012   
Warrants liability:                 
Balance at the beginning of period   $ 0     $ 0   

Fair value recorded on the November 19, 2013 transaction date     5,848       0   
Change in fair value of warrants     525       0   

Balance at the end of period   $ 6,373     $ 0   

    Year Ended December 31,   
    2013     2012   
Contingent consideration:                 
Balance at the beginning of period   $ 0     $ (3,699 ) 

Initial recognition of the liabilities     0       0   
Unrealized gains (losses) in earnings     0       (3,380 ) 
Finalization of the fair value determination of contingent consideration in the CTS acquisition     0       (166 ) 
Payment of contingent consideration from the CSP acquisition     0       7,245   

Balance at the end of period   $ 0     $ 0   

    Cyalume Reporting Unit (1)   Loss Recognized     Fair Value   
Goodwill (2)   CTS Training   $ 168     $ 0   
Patents   (3)   CTS Training     174       17   
Trade name   (4)   CTS Training     17       0   
Non-compete agreements   (5)   CTS Training     34       0   
Customer Relationships   CTS Training     650       60   

    Cyalume Reporting Unit (1)   Loss Recognized     Fair Value   
Goodwill (2)   Chemical Light   $ 46,230     $ 5,014   
Goodwill (2)   Training     858       351   
Patents   (3)   Training     172       210   
Trade name   (4)   Training     29       30   
Non-compete agreements   (5)   Training     80       40   
Certain equipment   (6)   Chemical Light     273       0   

(1) The Company managed as one operating segment with four reporting units: Chemical Light (the operations of CTI and CTSAS), CTS 
Training (the operations of CTS), Specialty Products (the operations of CSP) and Other (the operations of CRI and the parent company 
Cyalume Technologies Holdings, Inc.). Specialty Products’ goodwill was not considered to be impaired and our Other reporting unit 
does not have a goodwill asset. 

(2) The fair value of the impaired goodwill asset was determined calculating the excess of the fair value of the reporting unit over the fair 
values assigned to its assets and liabilities and utilized present value techniques utilizing each reporting unit’s forecasted after-tax cash 
flows. 
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Cash Paid for Interest and Income Taxes (all amounts in thousands):  

   

   
Non-Cash Investing and Financing Activities (all amounts in thousands):  

   

   

  

(3) The fair value of the impaired patent asset was determined using the “relief from royalty” method, which calculates the present value of 
a stream of estimated future royalty payments that an entity would be willing to pay in order to utilize the patents, net of estimated 
income taxes (an income approach). 

(4) The fair value of the impaired trademarks and trade names asset was determined using the “relief from royalty” method, which 
calculates the present value of a stream of estimated future royalty payments that an entity would be willing to pay in order to utilize the 
trademarks and trade names, net of estimated income taxes (an income approach). 

(5) The fair value of the impaired non-compete agreement asset was determined using the “comparative business valuation” method, which 
compares the present value of two streams of the reporting unit’s estimated future cash flows; one stream assuming the non-compete 
agreements are in place and the other stream assuming the agreements are not in place (an income approach). 

(6) The fair value of the impaired equipment was determined estimating the present value of cash flows expected to result from the use and 
disposition of the equipment (an income approach). 

24. SUPPLEMENTAL DISCLOSURE OF CASH FLOW INFORMATION 

    Year Ended December 31,   
    2013     2012   
Interest   $ 1,693     $ 1,762   
Income taxes     133       554   

    Year Ended December 31,   
    2013     2012   
Series A Convertible Preferred stock in-kind dividend   $ 55     $ 0   
Series A Convertible Preferred stock deemed dividend     4,000       0   
Warrants liability recorded in connection with common and preferred warrants     5,607       0   
Amendment and adjustment to the fair value of warrants issued in conjunction with issuance of 
subordinated term loan recorded within warrant liability     241       94   
Adjustment to goodwill acquired and contingent consideration incurred in the acquisition of 
CTS due to the finalization of the fair value of the contingent consideration     0       166   
Adjustment to goodwill acquired and deferred tax liability incurred in the acquisition of CTS 
due to the finalization of the fair value of the business combination     0       64   
Adjustment to CTS goodwill due to the current period reduction of its deferred tax liability 
associated with the current period impairment of identified intangible assets     0       183   
Issuance of 2,450,000 shares of our common stock to repay the contingent consideration liability 
resulting from the acquisition of CSP     0       5,145   
Issuance of a $2,100,000 note payable to repay the contingent consideration liability resulting 
from the acquisition of CSP     0       2,100   
Issuance of 22,500 shares of our common stock to settle litigation claim     0       56   
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Cyalume Technologies Holdings, Inc.  

Consolidated Financial Statement Schedule  
Schedule II – Valuation and Qualifying Accounts  

(in thousands)  
   

   

   

  

          Additions               

Description   

Balance at  
Beginning  
of Period     

Charged  
to costs  

and  
expenses     

Charged to  
other  

accounts  
(Describe)     

Deductions  
(Describe)     

Balance  
at End of  
Period   

Year ended December 31, 2012                                         
Allowance for Doubtful Accounts     206       (1 )     —      (50 ) (1)     155   
Deferred Tax Asset Valuation Allowance     3,874       —      —      —      3,874   

Year ended December 31, 2013                                         
Allowance for Doubtful Accounts     155       2     —      (113 ) (2)     44   
Deferred Tax Asset Valuation Allowance     3,874       2,048       —      —      5,922   

  (1) Write-offs ($49,000) and recoveries of reserved receivables ($1,000) 
  (2) Write-offs and recoveries 
      

S- 1 



   
SIGNATURES  

   
Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this report to be 
signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.  

   

   
Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been signed below by the following persons on behalf of the 
registrant and in the capacities and on the dates indicated.  

   

   

  

  Cyalume Technologies Holdings, Inc. 
        
Date: April 15, 2014   By: /s/  Zivi Nedivi 
      Zivi Nedivi, President, Chief Executive Officer 
       (Principal Executive Officer) 

Name   Title   Date 
          
    President, Chief Executive Officer     

/s/  Zivi Nedivi   (Principal Executive Officer) and Director   April 15, 2014 
Zivi Nedivi         

          
    Chief Financial Officer     

/s/  Michael Bielonko 
  (Principal Financial Officer and Principal  

Accounting Officer) 
  

April 15, 2014 
Michael Bielonko         

          
/s/  Winston Churchill   Director and Chairman   April 15, 2014 

Winston Churchill         
          

/s/  Yaron Eitan   Director and Vice Chairman   April 15, 2014 
Yaron Eitan         

          
/s/  James Valentine   Director   April 15, 2014 

James Valentine         
          

/s/  Ji Ham   Director   April 15, 2014 
Ji Ham         

          
/s/  Jason Epstein   Director   April 15, 2014 

Jason Epstein         
          

/s/   John Meyer, Jr.   Director   April 15, 2014 
John Meyer, Jr.         
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Name   Title   Date 
          

/s/  Thomas G. Rebar   Director   April 15, 2014 
Thomas G. Rebar         

          
/s/  Andrew Intrater   Director   April 15, 2014 

Andrew Intrater         
          

/s/  James Schleck   Director   April 15, 2014 
James Schleck         
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Exhibit 10.42 

SEPARATION AND RELEASE AGREEMENT  
   
This SEPARATION AND RELEASE AGREEMENT (this “ Agreement ”) is entered into as of December 31, 2013 (the “ Execution 

Date ”), by and between Cyalume Specialty Products, Inc., a Delaware corporation (the “ Company ”), and James G. Schleck, an individual 
residing in the State of New Jersey (the “ Employee ”), each a “ Party ,” and collectively, the “ Parties .”  

   
RECITALS  

   
WHEREAS , the Company and the Employee were parties to that certain Employment Agreement effective September 1, 2011, as 

amended by that certain First Amendment dated December 27, 2012 (as amended, the “ Employment Agreement ”) pursuant to which Employee 
was employed by the Company as President;  

   
WHEREAS , pursuant to Section 8(b) of the Employment Agreement, the Employment Agreement was terminated by mutual 

agreement of the Company and the Employee effective December 31, 2013, provided however, that Sections 4 (Noncompetition by Employee), 
5 (Confidentiality), 6 (Non-Solicitation), Section 7 (Violation of the Agreement) and 12 (Inventions, Etc.) (collectively, the “ Restrictive 
Covenants ”) survived the termination of the Employment Agreement and remain in full force and effect as clarified and amended in the 
Consulting Agreement between Employee and Company dated December __, 2013 (the “ Consulting Agreement ”);  

   
WHEREAS , the Company and the Employee, in order to settle, compromise and fully and finally release any and all claims and 

potential claims between the Parties (and the Released Parties, as defined below in Section 4 ) arising out of Employee’s employment and the 
cessation thereof, have agreed to resolve these matters on the terms and conditions set forth herein; and  

   
WHEREAS , the Employee acknowledges he is waiving rights and claims described herein in exchange for consideration in addition to 

anything of value to which he is already entitled.  
   
NOW, THEREFORE , in consideration of the mutual covenants and agreements contained herein and for other good and valuable 

consideration, the receipt and sufficiency of which are hereby acknowledged, and intending to be legally bound, the parties agree as follows:  
   

AGREEMENT  
   

1.                   Recitals . The foregoing recitals are true and correct, and are material to and incorporated into this Agreement. The 
portion of this Agreement pertaining to the Employee’s general release of all claims (Section 4 herein) shall become effective on the eighth 
calendar day after the Execution Date (hereinafter referred to as the “Effective Release Date”), so long as the Employee has not revoked the 
provisions of Section 4 herein in accordance with the provisions set forth in Section 11 of this Agreement.  

   
2.                   End of Employment . The Employee’s employment with the Company shall end effective as of the end of business on 

December 31, 2013 (the “ End Date ”). Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Employee shall continue to be available by telephone for consultation 
with management of the Company during normal business hours to aid in the transition of management of the Company.  

   
3.                   Severance Payments . In accordance with Section 3(b) of the Employment Agreement and in full satisfaction of the 

Company’s obligations to the Employee under such Employment Agreement and for his services to the Company, and in consideration for the 
agreements of the Employee set forth herein (including, without limitation, the full and final release given by the Employee under Section 4 of 
this Agreement, the Covenant Not to Sue given by the Employee under Section 7 of this Agreement and the Restrictive Covenants), the 
Company shall provide the Employee with continued payment of the Employee’s base salary and 401k match for six (6) months following the 
End Date until June 30, 2014, such payments to be made monthly in arrears in accordance with the Company’s ordinary payroll practices, and 
subject to payroll deductions and tax withholdings in accordance with the Company’s usual practices and as required by law, provided, that the 
Employee continues to abide by this Agreement.  

   

  



   
4.                   General Release of All Claims By Employee . In consideration of, and as a condition to the Company’s agreement to 

pay the severance payments set forth in Section 3 of this Agreement, the Employee, for himself, his spouse (if any), their marital community (if 
any), and their respective heirs, estates, representatives, executors, successors and assigns, hereby fully, forever, irrevocably, and unconditionally 
release and discharge the Company, its subsidiaries, parent companies, employee benefit plans, any co-employers or joint employers, their 
officers, directors, employees, agents, attorneys, administrators, representatives, successors, heirs, assigns, and all persons acting by, through, 
under, or in concert with them (collectively referred to hereinafter as the “ Released Parties ”), from any and all claims which he or they may 
have against them, or any of them, which could have arisen out of any act or omission occurring from the beginning of time to the Effective 
Release Date of this Agreement, whether now known or unknown, asserted or unasserted relating solely to the Employee’s employment with the 
Company, subsidiaries and parent companies. This release includes, but is not limited to, any and all claims brought or that could be brought 
under any agreement between the Company and the Employee (except for this Agreement, the Amended and Restated Promissory Note dated 
November 19, 2013 (the “ Promissory Note ”), the Stock Option Agreement dated December 27, 2012 (the “ Option Agreement ”) and the 
Consulting Agreement by and between the Company and the Employee dated the date hereof (the “ Consulting Agreement ”)), as well as any 
and all claims brought or that could be brought to pursuant to or under the Americans with Disabilities Act; Title VII of the Civil Rights Act of 
1964; the Age Discrimination in Employment Act (ADEA); the Older Workers Benefit Protection Act; the Civil Rights Act of 1991; the Family 
and Medical Leave Act (FMLA); the National Labor Relations Act; the Fair Labor Standards Act (FLSA); the Employee Retirement and Income 
Security Act (ERISA); the Consolidated Omnibus Budget Reconciliation Act (COBRA); the Rehabilitation Act, the Labor Management 
Relations Act, the Equal Pay Act; the United States Constitution; any and all statutes, rules ordinances, rules or regulations under New Jersey 
law, each and all as amended, and any other statute set forth in the statutes or codes of any state, including but not limited to New Jersey, that 
pertain or relate to, or otherwise touches upon, the employment relationship between the Company and the Employee and the Released Parties; 
including (but not limited to) any and all actions for breach of contract, express or implied, breach of the covenant of good faith and fair dealing, 
express or implied, promissory estoppel, wrongful termination in violation of public policy, all other claims for wrongful termination and 
constructive discharge, and all other tort claims, including, but not limited to, assault, battery, false imprisonment, intentional interference with 
contractual relations, intentional or negligent infliction of emotional distress, invasion of privacy, negligence, negligent investigation, negligent 
hiring, supervision, or retention, defamation, intentional or negligent misrepresentation, fraud, and any and all other laws and regulations relating 
to employment, employment termination, employment discrimination, harassment, and/or retaliation, wages, hours, employee benefits, 
compensation, sexual harassment, and any and all claims for attorneys’ fees and costs, whether arising out of, under, or pursuant to any federal, 
state, or local statute, law, regulation, ordinance, or order. This release of claims expressly includes, but is not limited to, any and all claims 
arising out of and/or in any way related to the Employee’s employment with the Company or the circumstances of the termination of that 
employment, whether known by him at the time of execution of this Agreement or not, including any such claims that could be brought for 
breach of or otherwise relating to any agreements between the Company and the Employee, other than this Agreement, whether oral or written, 
including, but not limited to, the Employment Agreement. This release of claims further expressly includes, without limitation, any claim(s) for 
any unpaid wages, bonus amounts, or any other compensation from the Company. By signing this Agreement, however, the Employee does not 
waive any rights or claims that may arise under this Agreement, the Promissory Note, the Option Agreement or the Consulting Agreement, nor 
does he waive any vested rights he may have under the terms of any profit-sharing, retirement, or similar employee welfare benefit plan 
administered or sponsored by the Company or any rights to indemnification or insurance coverage available to the Employee from or through the 
Company.  
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5.                   Adequate Consideration . The Employee acknowledges and agrees that the Company’s agreement to make the severance 

payments set forth in Section 3 of this Agreement, provides substantial consideration to the Employee in addition to anything of value to which 
he is, as a matter of law, otherwise entitled as an Employee.  

   
6.                   No Pending Claims . The Employee represents and warrants that there are no claims, charges, lawsuits, or any similar 

matters of any kind filed by him or on his behalf or for his benefit presently pending against the Company or the Released Parties, or any of 
them, in any forum whatsoever, including, without limitation, in any state or federal court, or before any federal, state, or local administrative 
agency, board, or governing body. The Employee further represents and warrants that the Employee has not heretofore assigned or transferred, 
or purported to assign or transfer, to any person, firm, corporation or entity any claim, charge, lawsuit, or any similar matter of any kind herein 
released.  

   
7.                   Covenant Not to Sue . The Employee represents and warrants that he has not assigned or transferred or purported to 

assign or transfer any claim against the Released Parties, and is fully entitled to release the same, and he has not currently filed any lawsuits or 
actions with any federal, state, or local court or any federal, state, or local administrative agency, board, or governing body, against the Company 
or the Released Parties, or any of them. The Employee specifically covenants not to file any lawsuits, complaints, claims, or charges, either on 
his own behalf or in any representative capacity, in any federal, state or local court or before any federal, state, or local administrative agency, 
board, or governing body against the Company or the Released Parties, or any of them, on and/or for any and all of the claims released by this 
Agreement.  
   

8.                   Acknowledgment of Restrictive Covenants . Notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained herein, the Parties 
acknowledge and agree that the Restrictive Covenants shall remain in full force and effect in accordance with their respective terms as amended 
and modified in the Consulting Agreement . Employee acknowledges that the Restrictive Covenants are reasonable and necessary to protect the 
legitimate interests of the Company.  

   
9.                   Preclusive Effect of Agreement . The Employee acknowledges, understands, and agrees that this Agreement may be pled 

as a complete bar to any action or suit for any and all claims released by this Agreement before any court or administrative body with respect to 
any lawsuit, complaint, charge, or claim under federal, state, local, or other law relating to any possible claim that existed or may have existed 
against the Company or the Released Parties, or any of them, arising out of any event occurring from the beginning of time through the Effective 
Release Date of this Agreement.  

   
10.               Review . A copy of this Agreement was delivered to Employee on December 26, 2013. The Employee is advised that he 

has twenty-one (21) days from the date he is presented with this Agreement to consider the general release of all claims set forth in Section 4 of 
this Agreement. If the Employee executes this Agreement below with respect to the general release of all claims set forth herein before the 
expiration of twenty-one (21) days, he acknowledges that he has done so for the purpose of expediting the payment of the consideration provided 
for herein, and that he has expressly waived his right to take twenty-one (21) days to consider this Agreement.  
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11.               Revocation . Employee may revoke his agreement to the general release of all claims set forth in Section 4 of this 

Agreement for a period of seven (7) days after he signs it. The Employee agrees that if he elects to revoke Section 4 of this Agreement, he will 
notify the Company, in writing via certified mail, on or before the expiration of the revocation period. Receipt by the Company of proper and 
timely notice of revocation cancels and voids Section 4 of this Agreement.  

   
12.               Knowing and Voluntary; ADEA Waiver . The Employee represents and warrants that he was advised by the Company to 

consult with an attorney of his own choosing concerning the provisions set forth herein, and that he has thoroughly discussed all aspects of this 
Agreement with counsel of his choosing, or that he had the opportunity to do so. The Employee further represents and warrants that he has 
carefully read and fully understands all of the provisions of this Agreement, including the fact that he is releasing all claims and potential claims 
against the Company and the Released Parties, and that he is entering into this Agreement, without coercion, and with full knowledge of its 
significance and the legal consequences thereof. The Employee represents and warrants that as part of this Agreement, he is knowingly and 
voluntarily releasing and waiving any claims he believes he may have under the Age Discrimination in Employment Act.  

   
13.               Binding Effect . This Agreement shall be binding upon and inure to the benefit of the parties hereto, their heirs, personal 

representatives, successors or assigns.  
   
14.               Non-Admission . Execution of this Agreement and compliance with its terms shall not be considered or deemed an 

admission by the Company of any liability whatsoever, or as an admission by the Company of any violation of the Employee’s rights or the 
rights of any other person, a violation of any order, law, statute or duty, or breach of any duty owed to the Employee, or any other person. The 
Company specifically disclaims any and all such liability.  

   
15.               Cooperation . The Employee agrees, until December 31, 2014, to provide reasonable assistance to the Company (including 

assistance with litigation and arbitration matters, if any), upon the Company’s reasonable request, concerning the Employee’s previous 
employment-related responsibilities. Such assistance may include, but is not limited to, communicating and/or meeting with the Company’s 
attorneys, giving deposition testimony, attending depositions, reviewing pleadings, including discovery pleadings, executing documents, and 
attending and giving testimony in court and arbitration proceedings. The Employee will also perform all acts and execute and deliver any 
documents that may be reasonably necessary to carry out the provisions of this paragraph. If requested, the Employee agrees to provide the 
Company with reasonable assistance, including, without limitation, providing information, in connection with the transition of his employment 
duties and responsibilities to others and matters with which he was involved during his employment with the Company. The Company agrees to 
pay or promptly reimburse the Employee for all reasonable costs and expenses of the Employee incurred in connection with the provision of 
service or assistance by the Employee under this Section 15 , which the Employee agrees to submit in writing to the Company in advance, to the 
extent possible, for pre-approval by the Company.  

   
16.               Non-Disparagement . The Employee agrees that neither he nor anyone acting on his behalf will make, directly, indirectly, 

or anonymously, any derogatory or disparaging statement about the Company or the Released Parties, or any of them, to any individual or entity, 
including, but not limited to, the Company or the Released Parties actual or potential clients, customers, vendors, business partners, suppliers, 
employees, financial or credit institutions, or the media or general public, nor directly or indirectly take any action which is intended to 
embarrass the other Party. For purposes of this Section 16 , a derogatory or disparaging statement is any communication, oral or written, which 
would cause or to tend to cause the recipient of the communication to question the business condition, integrity, competence, fairness, or good 
character of the person to whom or entity to which the communication relates.  
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17.               Entire Agreement . This Agreement represents the entire understanding of the parties with respect to the matters set forth 

in this Agreement and supersedes any previous agreements entered into between the parties and may only be amended or altered by a writing 
executed by all parties hereto.  

   
18.               Governing Law . This Agreement shall be governed by and construed in accordance with the laws of the State of 

Delaware. Each of the Parties submits to the exclusive jurisdiction of any state or federal court sitting in Delaware, in any action or proceeding 
arising out of or relating to this Agreement and irrevocably waives any objection to proceeding before such courts based upon lack of personal 
jurisdiction or inconvenient forum. Each Party irrevocably consents to the service of process out of any of the aforementioned courts by the 
mailing of copies thereof by registered or certified mail, postage prepaid, to such Party at the address set forth in Section 19 below, such service 
to become effective three days after such mailing.  

   
19.               Notices . All notices and payments required or permitted hereunder shall be in writing and shall be deemed effectively 

given: (a) upon personal delivery to the party to be notified, (b) five (5) days after having been sent by registered or certified mail, return receipt 
requested, postage prepaid, or (c) one (1) day after deposit with a nationally recognized overnight courier, specifying next day delivery, with 
written verification of receipt. All communications shall be sent to the party to be notified at the following address:  

   
    If to the Company to:  
   

Cyalume Specialty Products, Inc.  
c/o Cyalume Technologies, Inc.  
96 Windsor Street  
West Springfield, MA 01089  
Attention: President  

   
    with a copy to (which shall not constitute notice):  

   
Greenberg Traurig, P.A.  
401 East Last Olas Blvd., Suite 2000  
Fort Lauderdale, Florida 33301  
Attention: Bruce I. March, Esq.  
   

    If to the Employee to:  
   

James G. Schleck  
15 Washington Place  
Metuchen, NJ 08840  

   
or to such other address as the person to whom notice is to be given may have specified in a notice duly given to the sender as provided herein.  
   

20.               Severability . If any provision of this Agreement is found to be invalid or unenforceable by a court of competent 
jurisdiction, then all remaining provisions shall be valid and enforceable to the fullest extent of the law, and the invalid or unenforceable 
provision shall be deemed not to be a part of this Agreement.  
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21.               Waiver . The failure of a Party to insist upon strict adherence to any obligation of this Agreement shall not be considered a 

waiver or deprive that Party of the right thereafter to insist upon strict adherence to that term or any other term of this Agreement. Any waiver of 
any provision of this Agreement must be in a written instrument signed and delivered by the Party waiving the provision.  

   
22.               Counterparts . This Agreement may be executed in any number of counterparts and by the different parties hereto on 

separate counterparts, each of which when so executed and delivered shall be an original, but all of which shall together constitute one and the 
same instrument.  

   
23.               Assignment . This Agreement may not be assigned by the Employee without the prior written consent of the Company. 

The rights and obligations of this Agreement shall bind and inure to the benefit of the parties hereto and their respective successors and assigns. 
Nothing expressed or implied herein shall be construed to give any other person any legal or equitable rights hereunder.  

   
24.               Amendment . This Agreement may not be modified, amended, supplemented, canceled or discharged, except by written 

instrument executed by all parties hereto. No failure to exercise, and no delay in exercising, any right, power or privilege under this Agreement 
shall operate as a waiver, nor shall any single or partial exercise of any right, power or privilege hereunder preclude the exercise of any other 
right, power or privilege. No waiver of any breach of any provision shall be deemed to be a waiver of any preceding or succeeding breach of the 
same or any other provision, nor shall any waiver be implied from any course of dealing between the parties hereto. No extension of time for 
performance of any obligations or other acts hereunder or under any other agreement shall be deemed to be an extension of the time for 
performance of any other obligations or any other acts. The rights and remedies of the parties under this Agreement are in addition to all other 
rights and remedies, at law or equity, that they may have against each other.  

   
25.               Confidentiality . The Employee agrees that he will not disclose, either directly or indirectly, this Agreement, the 

transactions to be performed in connection with this Agreement, or the terms and conditions of this Agreement, to any individual, corporation, 
partnership, limited liability company, association, trust, unincorporated organization, or other entity, including but not limited to current or 
former employees of the Company or the Released Parties, members of the press and media, and other members of the general public. 
Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Employee may permissibly disclose the existence and terms of this Agreement to his spouse, however, his 
spouse shall be bound to the confidentiality provisions set forth in this section. This section shall not prohibit the Employee and his attorney(s) 
from disclosing the terms of this Agreement to his tax advisor(s) to the extent necessary to prepare his income tax returns and to represent him in 
connection with any proceedings relating thereto, or from advising a governmental taxing authority of the consideration being paid to him, or of 
the existence of this Agreement in response to a question or questions posed by such taxing authority. The Parties agree that it shall not be a 
breach of this Agreement if the Employee’s disclosure of such information has been compelled through the issuance of compulsory legal 
process, provided, however, that in such case, Employee agrees to give Employer reasonable notice (care of Matthew W. Miller, Esq., Greenberg 
Traurig, LLP, 401 East Las Olas Boulevard, Fort Lauderdale, Florida, 33301) of the order or subpoena in question and an opportunity to 
challenge the disclosure of any such information before the appropriate court or agency. It shall not be a breach of this section for the Employee 
to disclose the terms of this Agreement in a suit to enforce the terms of this Agreement or defend a claim that this Agreement has been breached. 
The Employee understands and agrees that this confidentiality provision is a material term of this Agreement, and that his agreement to this 
provision concerning confidentiality is a material inducement to the Company’s willingness to enter into this Agreement.  
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26.               Further Assurances . The Parties shall execute and deliver any other instruments or documents and take any further 

actions after the execution of this Agreement, which may be reasonably required for the implementation of this Agreement and the transactions 
contemplated hereby.  

   
27.               Paragraph Titles . The paragraph titles in this Agreement are for convenience only; they form no part of this Agreement 

and shall not affect its interpretation.  
   
28.               Construction . The Parties hereto acknowledge and agree that each Party has participated in the drafting of this Agreement 

and has had the opportunity to have this document reviewed by the respective legal counsel for the Parties hereto and that the normal rule of 
construction to the effect that any ambiguities are to be resolved against the drafting Party shall not be applied to the interpretation of this 
Agreement. No inference in favor of, or against, any Party shall be drawn from the fact that one Party has drafted any portion hereof.  
   

29.               Attorneys’  Fees and Costs . The Parties agree that each Party will bear its own costs and attorneys’ fees in connection 
with all matters related to the subject matter of this Agreement and the resolution and settlement of those matters encompassed by this 
Agreement. Should any legal action be commenced arising out of or related to this Agreement, the prevailing Party in any such action shall be 
entitled to an award of reasonable attorneys’ fees and costs incurred therein.  

   
[REMAINDER OF PAGE INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK]  
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties have executed this Agreement as of the Execution Date set forth above.  

   

    

   

  

  COMPANY: 
      
  CYALUME SPECIALTY PRODUCTS, INC. 
      
  By: /s/ Zivi Nedivi 
  Name:   Zivi Nedivi 
  Title: Chief Executive Officer 
      
  EMPLOYEE: 
      
  By: /s/ James G. Schleck 
    James G. Schleck, individually 

  



   
Exhibit 10.43 

   
CONSULTING AGREEMENT  

   
This CONSULTING AGREEMENT (this “ Agreement ”) is made and entered into as of December 31, 2013 and effective on January 

1, 2014 (the “ Effective Date ”) by and between Cyalume Specialty Products, Inc., a Delaware corporation (the “ Company ”), and James G. 
Schleck (“ Consultant ”).  

   
RECITALS  

   
WHEREAS , Consultant has previously been employed by the Company; and  
   
WHEREAS , the Company desires to engage Consultant to perform certain advisory consulting services specified herein and 

Consultant desires to be engaged as an independent contractor in accordance with the terms and conditions set forth in this Agreement.  
   
NOW , THEREFORE , in consideration of the mutual covenants and agreements contained herein and other good and valuable 

consideration, the receipt and sufficiency of which are hereby acknowledged, and intending to be legally bound, the parties agree as follows:  
   
1.                   Scope of Services and Responsibilities of Consultant .  
   

(a)                 Consultant shall personally provide the Company with advisory consulting services relating to the operations of 
the Company and its affiliated operating entities (each an “ Affiliated Entity ”), and the business of the Company as it relates to such Affiliated 
Entities. Such services are referred to herein as the “ Consulting Services ” and will include executive, managerial, administrative, and 
professional duties as assigned by the President of Cyalume Technologies Holdings, Inc., or the Board of Directors of the Company and as are 
commensurate with such assigned duties. The Consultant may delegate duties to other employees of the Company as he reasonably determines is 
in the best interest of the Company, consistent with the general authority and power given to him hereunder.  

   
(b)                Consultant shall provide the Consulting Services on an as-needed basis, in person, by telephone or by e-mail, by 

working with the officers, directors, employees or representatives of the Company or the Affiliated Entities designated by the Company to 
receive or coordinate the Consulting Services. All Consulting Services will be provided at times reasonably scheduled by or otherwise 
satisfactory to the Company and the Consultant.  

   
(c)                 Consultant shall provide the Consulting Services on an exclusive basis, subject to the restrictions set forth herein 

including, without limitation, those set forth in Section 5 of this Agreement.  
   
(d)                In performing services under this Agreement, Consultant will: (i) use diligent efforts and professional skills and 

judgment; (ii) perform professional services in accordance with recognized standards of the applicable profession; and (iii) comply with the 
policies of the Company and any of the Affiliated Entities at which Consulting Services are provided, to the extent Consultant is made aware of 
any such policies.  

   
2.                   Compensation for the Consulting Services .  
   

(a) In consideration of the Consulting Services performed by Consultant, the Company agrees to pay to Consultant $1,000 per 
month, payable monthly in arrears.  

   

  



   
(b) The Company shall pay or reimburse Consultant for all reasonable and necessary expenses incurred by him in connection 

with the performance of his duties hereunder in accordance with the policies and procedures of the Company as in effect from time to time; 
provided that: (a) Consultant obtains the Company’s prior written consent for any expense in excess of $1,000; and (b) Consultant provides the 
Company with such documentary evidence as shall be reasonably required by the Company.  

   
3.                   Independent Contractor Status .  
   

It is understood and agreed that Consultant will act solely as an independent contractor, and nothing in this Agreement shall be 
construed to render Consultant an employee of the Company. Consultant represents and warrants that there are no agreements or other 
obligations that restrict Consultant’s ability to accept and/or perform his obligations to the Company under this Agreement. Consultant agrees 
that: (a) he will inform any future employer or contractor of Consultant of the existence of this Agreement; and (b) he will obtain their consent 
to, and cooperation with, Consultant’s performance of and compliance with the terms of this Agreement.  

   
4.                   Duration and Termination of Engagement .  
   

This Agreement shall take effect on the Effective Date and shall continue in effect until the one (1) year anniversary of the 
Effective Date unless earlier terminated by either party as provided for herein (the “ Expiration Date ”). The Company and/or Consultant may 
terminate this Agreement at any time upon thirty (30) days’ advance written notice to the other party.  

   
5.                   Confidential Information; Non -Competition and Non-Solicitation .  
   

(a)                 Confidential Information . Consultant acknowledges, understands and agrees that all trade secrets and 
information relating to the business of the Company and/or its affiliates, including without limitation, procedures, product information, 
manufacturing techniques or processes, expertise, records, customer or prospect lists and information, vendor lists and information, supplier lists 
and information, internal operating forms, financial information or accounting methods, systems, books, manuals, employee information, any 
confidential information concerning the business, the Company, its affiliates, or the business, policies or operations of the business, the 
Company or its affiliates which Consultant may have learned, possessed or controlled on or prior to the date hereof or which Consultant may 
learn, possess or control during the term of Consultant’s continued engagement by the Company or any of its affiliates (as an employee, 
consultant, agent or otherwise) (collectively, “ Trade Secrets ”) are confidential and shall remain the sole and exclusive property of the Company 
and its affiliates. Trade Secrets include both written information and information not reduced to writing. Except as may be required pursuant to 
any law or the order of a court, or except as may be public knowledge (which shall not have become public knowledge as a result of any action 
of Consultant), Consultant shall not, at any time, retain, duplicate, remove from the business premises of Company or any of its affiliates, make 
use of, other than in the ordinary course of fulfilling his duties as an employee of the Company, divulge or otherwise disclose, directly or 
indirectly, any Trade Secrets. Consultant shall not publish or disclose, and shall exercise his best efforts to prevent others from publishing or 
disclosing, any Trade Secrets and he shall not use or attempt to use any such knowledge or information which he may have or acquire in any 
manner which may injure or cause loss, whether directly or indirectly, to the Company or its affiliates or use his personal knowledge or influence 
over any customers, clients, suppliers or contractors of the Company or its affiliates so as to take advantage of the Company’s or its affiliate’s 
trade or business connections or utilize information confidentially obtained by him.  
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(b)                Non-Competition .  
   

(i)                  During the term of this Agreement and for a period of two (2) years after Consultant has ceased to be 
engaged by the Company for any reason, Consultant shall not, without the prior written consent of a duly authorized officer of the Company, 
directly or indirectly (A) engage in the business of, or (B) assist or have an interest in (whether as proprietor, partner, investor, stockholders, 
officer, director or any type of principal whatsoever), or (C) enter the employment of or act as an agent, advisor, or consultant to any person, 
firm, partnership, association, corporation, business organization, entity or enterprise that is, or is to become, directly or indirectly, engaged in 
any business actually or potentially competitive with that of the Company in any area or territory in which the Company offers its services or 
products.  

   
(ii)                During the term of this Agreement, and for a period of two (2) years after Consultant has ceased to be 

engaged by the Company for any reason, Consultant shall not, without the prior written consent of a duly authorized officer of the Company, 
solicit from any person, company, firm or organization, or any affiliate of the foregoing, which was or is a client or associated firm of the 
Company or which the Company was soliciting as a client or associated firm of the Company during any of the twelve (12) months immediately 
preceding the termination or expiration of the Agreement, any business substantially similar to that done by the Company, including but not 
limited to any business Consultant was soliciting or on which he worked while employed by the Company.  

   
(c)                 Non-Solicitation . Consultant hereby covenants and agrees that, at all times during his engagement with the 

Company and for a period of two (2) years immediately following his termination for any reason, Consultant shall not employ or seek to employ 
any person employed at the time by the Company or any of its affiliates, or otherwise engage or entice, either directly or indirectly, such person 
to leave such employment without the prior written consent of a duly authorized officer of the Company.  

   
(d)                Violation of Restrictive Covenants .  

   
(i)                  The restrictions set forth in Sections 5(a), 5(b) and 5(c) shall extend to any and all activities of the 

Consultant, whether alone or together with or on behalf of or through any other person or entity.  
   
(ii)                Consultant’s obligations under Sections 5(a), 5(b) and 5(c) shall survive termination of this Agreement 

and of Consultant’s engagement with the Company.  
   
(iii)              Consultant acknowledges that the restrictions contained in Sections 5(a), 5(b) and 5(c), in view of the 

nature of the business in which the Company is engaged, are reasonable and necessary to protect the legitimate interests of the Company. 
Consultant understands that the remedies at law for his violation of any of the covenants or provisions of Sections 5(a), 5(b) and 5(c) will be 
inadequate, that such violations will cause irreparable injury within a short period of time, and that the Company shall be entitled to preliminary 
injunctive relief and other injunctive relief against such violation. Such injunctive relief shall be in addition to, and in no way in limitation of, 
any and all other remedies that the Company shall have in law and equity for the enforcement of those covenants and provisions.  

   
(e)                 In the event Consultant requests in writing the prior written consent of a duly authorized officer of the Company 

in accordance with Sections 5(b) and 5(c), the Company shall respond to Consultant within thirty (30) days of such request.  
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(f)                 Notwithstanding anything herein to the contrary, it shall not be a violation of this Agreement for the Consultant to 

be engaged in consulting and business activities for the entities described in Section 2(b) of that certain Employment Agreement, dated 
September 1, 2011, by and between the Company and Consultant.  

   
6.                   Benefits.  
    

So long as the Consultant remains engaged by the Company and works at least 30 hours per week, Consultant shall be 
provided with health, life, and disability insurance coverages and other similar benefits substantially equivalent to those provided under your 
Employment Agreement.  

   
7.                   Stock Option Award .  
   

For so long as Consultant remains engaged as a consultant to the Company, the Company agrees to preserve your stock option 
award pursuant to the terms of that certain Stock Option Agreement dated December 27, 2012 and the Cyalume Technologies Holdings, Inc. 
2009 Omnibus Securities and Incentive Plan.  

   
8.                   Inventions .  
   

(a)                 It shall be part of the normal duties of Consultant all times to consider in what manner and by what new methods 
or devices the products, services, processes, equipment or systems of the Company or any of its affiliates with which he is concerned or for 
which he is responsible might be improved, and promptly to give to the President of the Company or Board of Directors full details of any 
invention or improvement which he may from time to time make or discover in the course of his duties, and to further the interests of the 
Company with regard thereto. Subject only to any contrary provisions of the laws of the United States or the Commonwealth of Massachusetts, 
all such materials, inventions, improvements, methods, products, services, equipment or systems shall be deemed to be “works made for hire”, 
and to the extent such items are not works made for hire, Consultant hereby irrevocably grants and assigns such materials, inventions, 
improvements, methods, products, services, equipment or systems to the Company which shall be entitled, free of charge, to the sole ownership 
of any such invention or improvement.  

   
(b)                Consultant shall, if and when required so to do by the Company, at the expense of the Company, apply or join 

with the Company in applying for patents or other protection in any part of the world for any such discovery, invention or process as aforesaid 
and shall at the expense of the Company, execute and do or cause to be done all instruments and things reasonably necessary for vesting the said 
patent or other protection when obtained and all right, title and interest to and in the same in the Company or in such other person as the 
Company may designate.  

   
(c)                 For the purpose of this clause Consultant hereby irrevocably authorizes the Company as his attorney in his name 

to execute any documents or take any actions which are required in, order to give effect to the provisions of this Section and the Company is 
hereby empowered to appoint and remove at its pleasure any person as agent and substitute for and on behalf of the Company in respect of all or 
any of the matters aforesaid.  
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9.                   Remedies for Breach .  
   

Consultant acknowledges that the restrictions contained in this Agreement are reasonable and necessary to protect the 
legitimate interests of the Company and the Affiliated Entities, and are not unduly burdensome to Consultant. Without limiting the Company’s 
rights to pursue any other legal and equitable remedies available to it for any breach or threatened breach by Consultant, Consultant 
acknowledges that a breach of the covenants stated herein would cause a loss to the Company and the Affiliated Entities that could not 
reasonably or adequately be compensated in damages in any action at law, and that remedies other than injunctive relief could not fully 
compensate the Company for a breach of said covenants. Therefore, Consultant agrees that the Company shall be entitled to injunctive relief 
without the posting of a bond to prevent any breach or continuing or threatened breach of Consultant’s covenants, agreements and warranties as 
set forth herein.  

   
It is the intention of the parties hereto that if, in any action before any court empowered to enforce this Agreement, any term, 

restriction, covenant, agreement or promise is found to be unenforceable, then such term, restriction, covenant, agreement or promise shall be 
deemed modified to the extent necessary to make it enforceable by such court.  

   
10.               Waiver .  
   

Waiver by the Company of a breach of any provision of this Agreement or failure to enforce any such provision shall not be 
construed as a waiver of any subsequent breach of any such provision or of the Company’s right to enforce any such provision. No act or 
omission of the Company shall constitute a waiver of any of its rights hereunder except for a written waiver signed by the Company.  

   
11.               Governing Law .  
   

This Agreement shall be governed in all respects by the laws of the State of Delaware, without giving effect to principles of 
conflicts or choice of laws of Delaware or of any other jurisdiction. Each of Consultant and the Company submits to the jurisdiction of the state 
courts of Delaware or any federal court sitting in the State of Delaware in any action or proceeding arising out of or relating to this Agreement 
and agrees that all claims in respect of the action or proceeding may be heard and determined in any such court. Each of Consultant and the 
Company also agrees not to bring any action or proceeding arising out of or relating to this Agreement in any other court and waives any defense 
of inconvenient forum to the maintenance of any action or proceeding so brought and waives any bond, surety, or other security that might be 
required of any other party with respect thereto.  

   
12.               Waiver of Jury Trial .  
   

EACH OF THE PARTIES KNOWINGLY, VOLUNTARILY AND INTE NTIONALLY WAIVES ANY RIGHTS IT 
MAY HAVE TO A TRIAL BY JURY IN RESPECT OF ANY LITIG ATION BASED HEREON, OR ARISING OUT OF, UNDER, OR 
IN CONNECTION WITH, THIS AGREEMENT, OR ANY COURSE O F CONDUCT, COURSE OF DEALING OR STATEMENTS 
(WHETHER VERBAL OR WRITTEN) RELATING TO THE FOREGOI NG. THIS PROVISION IS A MATERIAL INDUCEMENT 
FOR THE PARTIES TO ENTER INTO THIS AGREEMENT .  

   
13.               Notices .  
   

All notices required or permitted hereunder shall be in writing and shall be deemed effectively given: (a) upon personal 
delivery to the party to be notified; (b) when sent by confirmed electronic mail or facsimile if sent during normal business hours of the recipient; 
if not, then on the next business day; (c) three (3) days after having been sent by registered or certified mail, return receipt requested, postage 
prepaid; or (d) one (1) day after deposit with a nationally recognized overnight courier, specifying next day delivery, with written verification of 
receipt. All communications shall be sent to the party to be notified at the following address:  
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   If to the Company:  
   
   Cyalume Specialty Products, Inc.  
   96 Windsor Street  
   West Springfield, MA 01809  
   Attn: Zivi Nedivi  
   Facsimile: (413) 788-4817  
   
   With a copy to:  
   
   Greenberg Traurig, P.A.  
   401 East Las Olas Boulevard, Suite 2000  
   Fort Lauderdale, FL 33301  
   Attn: Bruce I. March, Esq.  
   Facsimile: (954) 765-1477  
   
   If to Consultant:  
   
   James G. Schleck  
   15 Washington Place  
   Metuchen, NJ 08840  

   
14.               Miscellaneous .  
   

(a)                 This Agreement sets forth the entire agreement and understanding between the parties with respect to the subject 
matter thereof. This Agreement may not be modified or discharged, in whole or part, except by an agreement in writing signed by both parties.  

   
(b)                This Agreement will be binding upon and inure to the benefit of the parties hereto and each party’s respective 

successors, assigns and heirs, as applicable. The parties understand and agree that the Company shall have the right, at any time, to assign to any 
successor-in-interest all of its rights and benefits under this Agreement. For purposes of this Agreement, the term “ successor-in-interest ” means 
and includes any person or entity that succeeds to: (i) all or a substantial portion of the business of the Company; or (ii) any interest in any 
Affiliated Entity, regardless of whether this succession occurs by sale, merger, change-in-control, or otherwise and regardless of whether the 
assignment of the Company’s rights hereunder occurs by contract or by operation of law. Notwithstanding the foregoing, Consultant’s 
obligations under this Agreement are personal in nature and may not be assigned or otherwise transferred by him without the prior written 
consent of the Company.  

   
(c)                 Should any party breach this Agreement, in addition to all other remedies available at law or in equity, such party 

shall pay all of the other party’s costs and expenses resulting therefrom and/or incurred in enforcing this Agreement, including reasonable legal 
fees and reasonable expenses of investigation.  

   
(d)                Each party hereto represents and warrants that it or he has the full power and authority to enter into and perform 

this Agreement, and each party knows of no law, rule, regulations, order, agreement, promise, undertaking or other fact or circumstance which 
would prevent its or his full execution and performance of this Agreement.  
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(e)                 The parties hereto acknowledge and agree that this Agreement and related terms of engagement were the subject 

of negotiation between them and, as such, that: (i) the general rule of construction to the effect that ambiguities are resolved against the drafting 
party shall not apply to this Agreement; and (ii) the terms and provisions of this Agreement shall be construed fairly as to all parties hereto and 
not in favor of or against a party, regardless of which party was generally responsible for the preparation of this Agreement.  

   
(f)                 Section and other headings contained in this Agreement are for reference purposes only and are in no way 

intended to define, interpret, describe or otherwise limit the scope, extent or intent of this Agreement or any of its provisions each of which shall 
be deemed an original, but all of which together shall constitute one and the same document.  

   
(g)                 This Agreement may be executed in one or more counterparts each of which will be deemed an original, but all 

of which together shall constitute one and the same instrument.  
   

[signatures appear on following page]  
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF , the parties hereto have caused this Consulting Agreement to be executed as of the date first set forth 

above.  
   

   

   

  

  CYALUME SPECIALTY PRODUCTS, INC. 
      
  By:   /s/ Zivi Nedivi 
    Name: Zivi Nedivi 
    Title: Chief Executive Officer 
      
    /s/ James G. Schleck 
  JAMES G. SCHLECK 
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Exhibit 21.1 

   
Subsidiaries of the Registrant  

   

   

Name of Subsidiary   Place of Incorporation 
Cyalume Technologies, Inc.   Delaware, U.S.A. 
Cyalume Technologies, S.A.S.   France 
Combat Training Solutions, Inc.   Colorado, U.S.A. 
Cyalume Specialty Products, Inc.   Delaware, U.S.A. 
Cyalume Realty, Inc.   Delaware, U.S.A. 

  



  
Exhibit 23.1 

   
   

CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING  FIRM  
   
   
   

Cyalume Technologies Holdings, Inc.   
Fort Lauderdale, Florida   
   
We hereby consent to the incorporation by reference in the Registration Statement on Form S-8 (No. 33-161569) of Cyalume Technologies 
Holdings, Inc. of our report dated April 14, 2014, relating to the consolidated financial statements and schedule, which appears in this Form 10-
K. Our report contains an explanatory paragraph regarding the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern.  
   
   
/s/ BDO USA, LLP  
Boston, Massachusetts  
April 15, 2014  
   

   
   

  



   
Exhibit 31.1 

   
CERTIFICATION  

   
I, Zivi Nedivi, certify that:  

   

   

   

   

   

   

   

   

   

   

   

   

   

1. I have reviewed this Annual Report on Form 10-K of Cyalume Technologies Holdings, Inc.; 

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to 
make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period 
covered by this report; 

3 Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material 
respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report; 

4. The registrant's other certifying officer(s) and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as 
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act 
Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have: 

(a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our 
supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by 
others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared; 

(b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our 
supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements 
for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles; 

(c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant's disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the 
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and 

(d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant's internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant's most 
recent fiscal quarter (the registrant's fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably 
likely to materially affect, the registrant's internal control over financial reporting; and 

5. The registrant's other certifying officer(s) and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial 
reporting, to the registrant's auditors and the audit committee of the registrant's Board of Directors (or persons performing the equivalent 
functions): 

(a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are 
reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant's ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and 

(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant's internal 
control over financial reporting. 

Date: April 15, 2014   
  /s/  ZIVI NEDIVI 
  Zivi Nedivi, Chief Executive Officer 

  



  
Exhibit 31.2 

  
CERTIFICATION  

   
I, Michael Bielonko, certify that:  

   

   

   

   

   

   

   

   

   

   

   

   

   

1. I have reviewed this Annual Report on Form 10-K of Cyalume Technologies Holdings, Inc.; 

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to 
make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period 
covered by this report; 

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material 
respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report; 

4. The registrant's other certifying officer(s) and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as 
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act 
Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have: 

(a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our 
supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by 
others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared; 

(b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our 
supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements 
for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles; 

(c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant's disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the 
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and 

(d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant's internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant's most 
recent fiscal quarter (the registrant's fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably 
likely to materially affect, the registrant's internal control over financial reporting; and 

5. The registrant's other certifying officer(s) and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial 
reporting, to the registrant's auditors and the audit committee of the registrant's Board of Directors (or persons performing the equivalent 
functions): 

(a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are 
reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant's ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and 

(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant's internal 
control over financial reporting. 

Date: April 15, 2014 /s/  MICHAEL BIELONKO 
  Michael Bielonko, Chief Financial Officer 

  



   
Exhibit 32.1 

  
CERTIFICATION  

   
Each of the undersigned officers of Cyalume Technologies Holdings, Inc. (the "Company") hereby certifies that, to his knowledge, the 
Company's Annual Report on Form 10-K to which this certification is attached (the "Report"), as filed with the Securities and Exchange 
Commission on the date hereof, fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d), as applicable, of the Securities Exchange Act of 
1934, as amended (the "Exchange Act"), and that the information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial 
condition and results of operations of the Company.  

   

   

   
This certification is being furnished and not filed, and shall not be incorporated into any document for any purpose, under the Securities 
Exchange Act of 1934 or the Securities Act.  
   

   

Date: April 15, 2014   /s/  ZIVI NEDIVI   
    Zivi Nedivi, Chief Executive Officer   
    (the Principal Executive Officer)   

Date: April 15, 2014   /s/  MICHAEL BIELONKO   
    Michael Bielonko, Chief Financial Officer   
    (the Principal Financial Officer)   

  


